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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

 
Certain matters discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are “forward-looking statements.” The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 has

established that these statements qualify for safe harbors from liability. Forward-looking statements may include words like we “believe,” “anticipate,” “target,”
“expect,” “pro forma,” “estimate,” “intend” or words of similar meaning. Forward-looking statements describe our future plans, objectives, expectations or goals.
Such statements address future events and conditions concerning: capital expenditures; earnings; liquidity and capital resources; litigation; accounting matters;
possible corporate restructurings, mergers, acquisitions and dispositions; the sale of assets proposed in our Debt Reduction and Restructuring Plan filed with the
Kansas Corporation Commission on February 6, 2003; compliance with debt and other restrictive covenants; interest and dividends; Protection One, Inc.’s
financial condition and its impact on our consolidated results; possible future impairment charges; environmental matters; nuclear operations; events in foreign
markets in which investments have been made; and the overall economy of our service area.
 

What happens in each case could vary materially from what we expect because of such things as electric utility deregulation or re-regulation; regulated and
competitive markets; ongoing municipal, state and federal activities; economic conditions; changes in accounting requirements and other accounting matters;
changing weather; rate and other regulatory matters, including the impact of the November 8, 2002 and December 23, 2002 orders issued by the Kansas
Corporation Commission requiring debt reduction; amendments or revisions to our Debt Reduction and Restructuring Plan filed with the Kansas Corporation
Commission; the impact of changes and downturns in the energy industry and the market for trading wholesale electricity; the sale of our interests in ONEOK,
Inc., Protection One, Inc., and Protection One Europe; the federal grand jury subpoena by the United States Attorney’s Office requesting certain information; the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s review of our consolidated financial statements; the subpoena received from the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
seeking information on power trades with Cleco Corporation and its affiliates and on other power marketing transactions; political, legislative and regulatory
developments; regulatory, legislative and judicial actions; the impact of the purported shareholder and employee class action lawsuits filed against us; the impact
of changes in interest rates generally and, specifically, changes in the London Interbank offer rate (LIBOR) on the fair value of our swap transactions; changes in
the 10-year United States treasury rates and the corresponding impact on the fair value of our call option; homeland security considerations; ongoing impairment
tests; coal, natural gas and oil prices; and other circumstances affecting anticipated operations, sales and costs.
 

These lists are not all-inclusive because it is not possible to predict all possible factors. This report should be read in its entirety. No one section of the
report deals with all aspects of the subject matter. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date such statement was made, and we do not undertake
any obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such statement was made except as required by
applicable laws or regulations.
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PART I

 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
 GENERAL
 Westar Energy, Inc., a Kansas corporation incorporated in 1924, operates the largest electric utility in Kansas and owns interests in monitored security
businesses and other investments. Unless the context otherwise indicates, all references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to “the company,” “we,” “us,” “our”
or similar words are to Westar Energy, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. The term “Westar Energy” refers to Westar Energy, Inc. alone and not together with
its consolidated subsidiaries. We provide electric generation, transmission and distribution services to approximately 647,000 customers in Kansas. We also
provide monitored security services to over 1.1 million customers in the United States and Europe. ONEOK, Inc. (ONEOK), in which we presently own an
approximate 27.5% interest (we owned an approximate 45% interest at December 31, 2002; see “— Changes in ONEOK Ownership” below), provides natural
gas transmission and distribution services to approximately 1.9 million customers in Kansas, Oklahoma and Texas. Our corporate headquarters are located at 818
South Kansas Avenue, Topeka, Kansas 66612.
 

Westar Energy and Kansas Gas and Electric Company (KGE), a wholly owned subsidiary, provide rate regulated electric service. KGE owns 47% of Wolf
Creek Nuclear Operating Corporation (WCNOC), the operating company for Wolf Creek Generating Station (Wolf Creek), our nuclear powered generating
facility.
 

Westar Industries, Inc. (Westar Industries), our wholly owned subsidiary, owns our interests in Protection One, Inc. (Protection One), Protection One
Europe, ONEOK and our other non-utility businesses. Protection One, a publicly traded, approximately 88%-owned subsidiary, and Protection One Europe
provide monitored security services. Protection One Europe refers collectively to Protection One International, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Westar
Industries, and its subsidiaries, including a French subsidiary in which it owns an approximate 99.8% interest.
 
SIGNIFICANT BUSINESS DEVELOPMENTS
 Overview
 A number of significant developments have impacted us and our business operations since January 2002.
 
 •  We hired a new chief executive officer and senior management team.
 
 

•  We filed a new Debt Reduction and Restructuring Plan (the Debt Reduction Plan) with the Kansas Corporation Commission (KCC) that reflects our
decision to return to being exclusively a Kansas electric utility, replacing an earlier plan that contemplated the separation of Westar Industries.

 

 
•  We began implementing the Debt Reduction Plan by (a) selling a portion of our ONEOK preferred stock, exchanging the remaining preferred stock for

a new class of ONEOK preferred stock and modifying our related agreements with ONEOK, (b) reducing our first quarter 2003 dividend 37% to $0.19
per share, and (c) exploring alternatives for the disposition of our interests in Protection One and Protection One Europe.

 
 •  In May and June 2002, we refinanced approximately $1.3 billion of outstanding debt.
 
 

•  A Special Committee of our board of directors, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC)
and a federal grand jury initiated investigations into various matters.

 
 

•  We recorded impairment charges related to our monitored security businesses of approximately $864.9 million, net of tax benefit and minority
interests, of which $671.0 million was related to goodwill and $193.9 million was related to customer accounts.
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•  We repurchased a portion of our 6.25% senior unsecured notes that have a final maturity of August 15, 2018 and are putable and callable on August 15,

2003 (the putable/callable notes). As a result, we recognized a loss related to the fair value of a call option associated with the putable/callable notes for
2002 of $23.7 million, net of a $15.7 million tax benefit.

 
 •  We reduced our utility work force by approximately 400 employees through a voluntary separation program.
 
 •  We restored service from a severe ice storm in late January 2002 and incurred $19.3 million for restoration costs, a portion of which was capitalized.
 

 
•  ONEOK gave us notice of termination effective December 2003 of a shared services agreement pursuant to which we provide customer service

functions to each other, including meter reading, customer billing and call center operations. We expect termination of this agreement will increase our
annual costs to provide these services by approximately $11 million to $13 million.

 
New Chief Executive Officer and Senior Management Team
 James S. Haines, Jr., joined us in December 2002 as our chief executive officer and president and a member of the board of directors. He replaced David C.
Wittig, who resigned on November 22, 2002 from all of his positions with us and our affiliates. Mr. Wittig had been on administrative leave without pay since
November 7, 2002 as a result of his indictment by a federal grand jury in Topeka, Kansas, for actions arising from his personal dealings.
 

Mr. Haines added new members to our senior management team, including William B. Moore as executive vice president and chief operating officer, and
Mark A. Ruelle as executive vice president and chief financial officer. All of these officers were previously employed with us and have a strong background in the
electric utility business. Douglas T. Lake, our executive vice president and chief strategic officer, resigned as a member of the board of directors and was placed
on unpaid leave from all of his other positions with us and our affiliates on December 6, 2002.
 

See Note 35 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Potential Liabilities to David C. Wittig and Douglas T. Lake,” for information about our
potential liabilities to Mr. Wittig and Mr. Lake.
 
KCC Orders and Debt Reduction and Restructuring Plan
 On February 6, 2003, we filed the Debt Reduction Plan with the KCC outlining our plans for paying down debt and restructuring the company. The Debt
Reduction Plan calls for the sale of our non-utility assets, including our interests in Protection One, Protection One Europe and ONEOK. As part of the Debt
Reduction Plan, the first quarter 2003 dividend on our common stock was reduced 37% to $0.19 per share. In addition, the Debt Reduction Plan contemplates the
potential issuance of additional Westar Energy equity, if needed to further reduce debt following the disposition of all material non-utility assets. On February 10,
2003, the KCC issued an order in which it stated that the Debt Reduction Plan appears to make a good-faith effort to address the concerns expressed in the KCC’s
prior orders and that the KCC needed additional time to review the Debt Reduction Plan prior to addressing other issues. The KCC also stayed the requirement of
a December 23, 2002 order that we form a utility-only subsidiary for our former KPL electric utility division (KPL) no later than August 1, 2003.
 

The Debt Reduction Plan replaced a previous financial plan to which we devoted extensive efforts throughout 2002 to obtain KCC approval. This plan
contemplated the sale of Westar Industries common stock in a rights offering. We refer you to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001 and subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for further information on this financial plan and related KCC orders. The KCC rejected this plan on
November 8, 2002 and issued an order that directed us to file a new financial plan, to reverse specified intercompany transactions, to reduce debt by $100 million
annually in each of the next two years from internally generated cash flow, and to restructure our organizational structure so that KPL would be placed in a
separate subsidiary with the amount of debt held by the utility not exceeding $1.47 billion. The order further established standstill protections requiring that we
seek KCC approval before we enter into certain transactions with a non-utility affiliate. Following our filing of a motion for reconsideration and clarification of
this order, the KCC
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issued an order on December 23, 2002 directing that no later than August 1, 2003, KPL be held within a separate utility-only subsidiary and that the consolidated
debt for all of our utility businesses not exceed $1.67 billion.
 

The standstill provisions of the December 23, 2002 KCC order potentially could have had a material adverse impact on Protection One. These standstill
provisions are described in Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Rate Matters and Regulation.” On March 11, 2003, the KCC issued an
order permitting us to make the payment due to Protection One in 2003 under a tax sharing agreement and to continue making loans to Protection One under a
revolving credit facility. In addition, the order permitted us to reimburse Protection One approximately $4.4 million for information technology and aviation
services, subject to certain conditions.
 

The KCC staff and other parties to the KCC docket considering the Debt Reduction Plan have filed comments on the Debt Reduction Plan. The KCC has
not yet established a procedural schedule for considering the Debt Reduction Plan and the related comments. We are unable to predict what action the KCC will
take with respect to the Debt Reduction Plan.
 

The KCC Orders dated November 8, 2002, December 23, 2002, February 10, 2003 and March 11, 2003 and the Debt Reduction Plan are exhibits to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. All of such exhibits are incorporated by reference herein. All of the documents concerning these matters, including the KCC
Orders, can also be reviewed at the website of the KCC at www.kcc.state.ks.us (the website information is not incorporated herein or otherwise made a part of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K). We refer you to these documents for further information concerning these matters.
 
Changes in ONEOK Ownership
 On February 5, 2003, ONEOK repurchased from Westar Industries 9,038,755 shares of its Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, which were convertible
into 18,077,511 shares of common stock. We received $300 million as a result of this sale, which was previously approved by the KCC. We anticipate using all or
a portion of the net proceeds to repurchase or provide for the repayment of all of the putable/callable notes and a portion of our 6.875% senior unsecured notes.
 

Westar Industries also exchanged its remaining shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for 21,815,386 new shares of ONEOK’s Series D
Convertible Preferred Stock. ONEOK has agreed to file a shelf registration statement covering the Series D Convertible Preferred and common stock held by
Westar Industries. Future sales will be subject to various conditions including the effectiveness of such registration, the required waiver or expiration of a 180-day
lock-up period ending on July 22, 2003, and future market conditions. As of March 14, 2003, Westar Industries holds an approximate 27.5% ownership interest in
ONEOK, assuming conversion of the Series D Convertible Preferred Stock.
 

In 2002 and prior periods, we accounted for our ONEOK common stock investment under the equity method of accounting. During 2003, we will account
for our ONEOK common stock investment as an available-for-sale security under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 115, “Accounting for
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” and mark to market its fair value through other comprehensive income. We will begin accounting for our
ONEOK Series D Convertible Preferred Stock investment under this method if and when a public market for these securities develops.
 
Sale of Protection One and Protection One Europe
 On January 13, 2003, we announced that our board of directors authorized management to explore alternatives for disposing of our investments in
Protection One and Protection One Europe. The Debt Reduction Plan provides for the sale of our interests in Protection One Europe with a targeted closing of
mid-2003 and the sale of our interest in Protection One with a targeted closing by late 2003 or early 2004. As a result, these operations were classified as
discontinued operations during the first quarter of 2003 pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment and Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets.”
 

As discontinued operations, we will be required to determine the fair value of our investment, which will be the net amount we expect to realize from the
sale of the investment. The investment must be reported at the lesser of our recorded basis or the estimated fair value. If the fair value is less than our recorded
basis, we will be required to record an expense equal to the amount, which could be material, by which our basis exceeds the estimated fair value.
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We solicited and received indications of value for Protection One Europe from potential buyers. These indications of value are within a range we would be

willing to accept. They indicated the recorded goodwill for Protection One Europe had no value. Accordingly, we recorded a $36 million impairment charge in
the fourth quarter of 2002 to reflect the impairment of all remaining goodwill at Protection One Europe. We are willing to accept offers in the indicated range due
to our ability to use the tax loss on this sale to offset the taxes that would otherwise be due from our sale of other investments. We will recognize a $58 million tax
benefit in the first quarter of 2003 when Protection One Europe is classified as a discontinued operation.
 
Ongoing Investigations
 Grand Jury Subpoena
 On September 17, 2002, we were served with a federal grand jury subpoena by the United States Attorney’s Office in Topeka, Kansas, requesting
information concerning the use of aircraft and our annual shareholder meetings. Since that date, the United States Attorney’s Office has served additional
subpoenas on us and certain of our employees requesting further information concerning the use of aircraft; executive compensation arrangements with Mr.
Wittig, Mr. Lake and other former and present officers; the proposed rights offering of Westar Industries stock; and the company in general. We are providing
information in response to these requests and are fully cooperating in the investigation. We have not been informed that we are a target of the investigation. We
are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of the investigation or its impact on us.
 

Securities and Exchange Commission Inquiry
 On November 1, 2002, the SEC notified us that it would be conducting an inquiry into the matters involved in the restatement of our first and second
quarter 2002 financial statements. Our counsel has communicated with the SEC about these matters and other matters within the scope of the grand jury
investigation. We are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of the inquiry or its impact on us.
 

Special Committee Investigation
 Our board of directors appointed a Special Committee of directors to investigate management matters and matters that are the subject of the grand jury
investigation and SEC inquiry. The Special Committee retained counsel and other advisors. The Special Committee investigation has been completed and has not
resulted in adjustments to our consolidated financial statements.
 

FERC Subpoena
 On December 16, 2002, we received a subpoena from FERC seeking details on power trades with Cleco Corporation (Cleco) and its affiliates, documents
concerning power transactions between our system and our marketing operations and information on power trades in which we or other trading companies acted
as intermediaries.
 

We have provided information to FERC in response to the subpoena. We believe that our participation in these transactions did not violate FERC rules and
regulations. However, we are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of the investigation. See Note 19 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
“Ongoing Investigations — FERC Subpoena,” for additional information.
 
Call Option
 In August 1998, we entered into a call option with an investment bank related to the issuance of $400 million of our putable/callable notes. This call option
is required to be settled by August 2003 through either a cash payment or a remarketing or refinancing of the putable/callable notes. The ultimate value of the call
option will be based on the difference between the 10-year United States treasury rate on August 12, 2003 and 5.44%. If the 10-year United States treasury rate on
August 12, 2003 is less than 5.44%, we will have a liability to the investment bank at that time. At December 31, 2002, our potential liability under the call option
was $62.2 million. Based on the 10-year forward treasury rate on March 14, 2003 of 3.91%, we would be obligated to make a cash payment of approximately
$69.1 million to settle the call option if we did not remarket or refinance the notes. The amount of
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our liability will increase or decrease approximately $5 million for every 10-basis point change in the 10-year forward treasury rate. If settled through a
remarketing or refinancing, any liability related to the call option will be amortized as a credit to interest expense over the term of the new debt. The investment
bank will price the notes to yield a market premium adequate to allow the investment bank to retain proceeds equal to the fair value of the call option at
settlement.
 

At the time of issuance of the notes in 1998, we were not required by generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) to account separately for the call
option. However, when we began retiring these notes as a part of our overall debt reduction strategy, the portion of the call option associated with the retired notes
became a free-standing option required to be treated as a derivative instrument under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities,” as amended by SFAS Nos. 137 and 138 (collectively, SFAS No. 133). In addition, under SFAS No. 133, we are required to mark to market changes in
the anticipated amount of the liability related to the portion of the $400 million in notes that have been retired so that our balance sheet reflects the current fair
value of the free standing portion of the call option. For 2002, we recognized a loss of $10.1 million, net of $6.7 million tax benefit, related to the fair value of the
call option associated with the putable/callable notes at the time the notes were retired. This loss is included in our consolidated statements of income as part of
the gain on extinguishment of debt line item of other income. For 2002, we also recorded an additional non-cash charge of $13.6 million, net of $9.0 million tax
benefit, to reflect mark to market changes in the fair value of the call option associated with the retired notes. This charge is reflected in the other line item of
other income in our consolidated statements of income. In total, the loss recorded related to the fair value of the call option for the year ended December 31, 2002
was $23.7 million, net of $15.7 million tax benefit.
 

We intend to repurchase or provide for the repayment of the putable/callable notes on or prior to June 15, 2003. Any repurchase of these notes will require
us to mark to market additional amounts of the call option. From January 1, 2003 through March 14, 2003, we purchased $35.3 million face value of our
putable/callable notes. We cannot predict changes in the market value of the call option and therefore cannot estimate amounts of future mark-to-market non-cash
charges associated with the call option or the impact on our earnings.
 
Impairment Charges
 Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142, “Accounting for Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” and SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment and Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” As a result of implementing the new standards, we recorded a charge for the first quarter of 2002 of
approximately $749.3 million (net of tax benefit and minority interests), of which $555.4 million was related to goodwill and $193.9 million was related to
customer accounts.
 

In addition, in the fourth quarter of 2002 we recorded a $79.7 million impairment charge, net of tax benefit and minority interests, to reflect the additional
impairment of all remaining goodwill of Protection One’s North America segment. We also recorded a $36 million impairment charge to reflect the impairment of
all remaining goodwill at Protection One Europe. These accounting standards, the related charges and other related information are discussed in Note 23 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Impairment Charges.”
 
Work Force Reductions
 During 2002, we reduced our utility work force by approximately 400 employees through a voluntary separation program. We recorded a net charge of
approximately $21.7 million in 2002 related to this program. We have replaced and may continue to replace some of these employees. For additional information,
see Note 29 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Work Force Reductions.”
 
Ice Storm
 In late January 2002, a severe ice storm swept through our utility service area causing extensive damage and loss of power to numerous customers.
Through December 31, 2002, we incurred $19.3 million for restoration costs, a portion of which was capitalized. We have deferred and recorded as a regulatory
asset on our December 31, 2002 consolidated balance sheet restoration costs of approximately $15.0 million. We have received an accounting authority order
from the KCC that allows us to accumulate and defer for potential future recovery all operating and carrying costs related to storm restoration.
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ELECTRIC UTILITY OPERATIONS
 General
 We supply electric energy at retail to approximately 647,000 customers in Kansas including the communities of Wichita, Topeka, Lawrence, Manhattan,
Salina and Hutchinson. We classify our customers as residential, commercial and industrial as defined in our tariffs. We also supply electric energy at wholesale
to the electric distribution systems of 62 Kansas cities and four rural electric cooperatives. We have contracts for the sale, purchase or exchange of wholesale
electricity with other utilities. In addition, we have power marketing operations that purchase and sell electricity in areas outside our historical service territory.
 

Our electric sales for the three years ended December 31 were as follows:
 

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

   (In Thousands)
Residential   $ 442,106  $ 419,492  $ 452,674
Commercial    385,375   380,277   367,367
Industrial    242,847   244,392   252,243
       

Total    1,070,328   1,044,161   1,072,284

Network Integration (a)    60,132   —     —  
Other (b)    46,693   50,669   49,629
       

Total retail    1,177,153   1,094,830   1,121,913

Power Marketing/Wholesale and Interchange    245,746   212,347   237,609
       

Total   $ 1,422,899  $ 1,307,177  $ 1,359,522
       

            

(a)  Network Integration: Reflects a new network transmission tariff that requires us to pay to the Southwest Power
Pool (SPP) all expenses associated with transporting power from our generating stations. The SPP then pays us for
transmitting power to the point of delivery into our retail distribution system. These receipts from the SPP are
reflected in revenues under the network integration classification. For further information see “— Network
Integration Transmission Service” below.

(b)  Other: Includes public street and highway lighting and miscellaneous electric revenues.
 

The following tables show changes in electric sales volumes, as measured by thousands of megawatt hours (MWh) of electricity we generate, for the three
years ended December 31. No sales volumes are shown for network integration or power marketing because these activities are not related to electricity we
generate.
 

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

% Change

   (Thousands of MWh)
Residential   6,170  5,755    7.2
Commercial   6,817  6,742    1.1
Industrial   5,451  5,617    (3.0)
Other   106  107    (0.9)
        

Total retail   18,544  18,221    1.8

Wholesale and Interchange   9,115  7,547  20.8
        

Total   27,659  25,768    7.3
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2001

  

2000

    

% Change

   (Thousands of MWh)
Residential   5,755  6,222    (7.5)
Commercial   6,742  6,485    4.0
Industrial   5,617  5,820    (3.5)
Other   107  108    (0.9)
          

Total retail   18,221  18,635    (2.2)

Wholesale and Interchange   7,547  6,892    9.5
          

Total   25,768  25,527    0.9
          

 
Generation Capacity
 We have 5,929 megawatts (MW) of generating capacity. See “Item 2. Properties” for additional information on our generating units. The capacity by fuel
type is summarized below.
 

Fuel Type

  

Capacity
(MW)

    

Percent of
Total Capacity

Coal   3,331      56.2
Nuclear   548        9.2
Natural gas or oil   1,966      33.2
Diesel fuel   83        1.4
Wind   1        —  
       

Total   5,929    100.0
       

 
Our aggregate 2002 peak system net load of 4,469 MW occurred on July 26, 2002. Our net generating capacity combined with firm capacity purchases and

sales provided a capacity margin of approximately 24% above system peak responsibility at the time of the peak. Our all-time peak system net load of 4,528 MW
occurred on September 11, 2000. We do not anticipate needing additional generating capacity through 2005.
 

We have agreed to provide generating capacity to other utilities for certain periods as set forth below:
 

Utility

    

Capacity (MW)

  

Period Ending

Oklahoma Municipal Power Authority       60   December 2013
Midwest Energy, Inc.       60   May 2008
Midwest Energy, Inc.     125   May 2010
Empire District Electric Company     162   May 2010
McPherson Board of Public Utilities (McPherson)         (a)   May 2027

        

(a)  We provide base capacity to McPherson. McPherson provides peaking capacity to us. During 2002, we provided
approximately 75 MW to and received approximately 181 MW from McPherson. The amount of base capacity
provided to McPherson is based on a fixed percentage of McPherson’s annual peak system load.

 
Fossil Fuel Generation
 Fuel Mix
 Based on the quantity of heat produced during the generation of electricity (MMBtu), the 2002 actual fuel mix was 81% coal, 14% nuclear and 5% gas, oil
or diesel fuel. We expect a similar fuel mix in 2003. Our fuel mix fluctuates with the operation of the nuclear-powered Wolf Creek as discussed below under “—
Nuclear Generation,” fuel costs, plant availability, customer demand and the cost and availability of wholesale market power.
 

Coal
 Jeffrey Energy Center: The three coal-fired units at Jeffrey Energy Center (JEC) have an aggregate capacity of 1,855 MW (our 84% share). We have a
long-term coal supply contract with Amax Coal West, Inc., a
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subsidiary of RAG America Coal Company, to supply coal to JEC from mines located in the Powder River Basin in Wyoming. The contract expires December
31, 2020. The contract contains a schedule of minimum annual MMBtu delivery quantities. The contract also contains a mechanism for repricing quantities
received above the minimum annual delivery quantity. The price for these additional quantities is recalculated every five years, with 2003 being the first year
affected, to provide a fixed price at current market prices. Current market prices are higher than those that have been in effect since inception of the contract,
which will increase the cost of coal we receive during 2003 over the cost of coal received in 2002. Based on our 2003 budget of JEC coal we plan to burn during
2003, we anticipate our delivered cost of coal will increase approximately $4.0 million.
 

The coal supplied during 2002 was surface mined and had an average Btu content of approximately 8,423 Btu per pound and an average sulfur content of
0.46 lbs/MMBtu (see “— Environmental Matters”). The average delivered cost of coal burned at JEC during 2002 was approximately $1.12 per MMBtu, or
$18.87 per ton.
 

Coal is transported from Wyoming under a long-term rail transportation contract with the Burlington Northern Santa Fe (BNSF) and Union Pacific
railroads, with a term continuing through December 31, 2013.
 

LaCygne Generating Station: The two coal-fired units at LaCygne Generating Station (LaCygne) have an aggregate generating capacity of 681 MW
(KGE’s 50% share). LaCygne 1 uses a blended fuel mix containing approximately 85% Powder River Basin coal and 15% Kansas/Missouri coal. LaCygne 2 uses
Powder River Basin coal. The operator of LaCygne, Kansas City Power and Light Company (KCPL), administers the coal and coal transportation contracts. A
portion of the LaCygne 1 and LaCygne 2 Powder River Basin coal is supplied through fixed price contracts through 2005 and is transported under KCPL’s
Omnibus Rail Transportation Agreement with the BNSF and Kansas City Southern Railroad through December 31, 2010. During 2003, any coal not supplied
under the terms of these contracts will be obtained through spot market purchases. The LaCygne 1 Kansas/Missouri coal is purchased from time to time from
local Kansas and Missouri producers.
 

The Powder River Basin coal supplied during 2002 had an average Btu content of approximately 8,584 Btu per pound and an average sulfur content of 0.78
lbs/MMBtu. During 2002, the average delivered cost of all coal burned at LaCygne 1 was approximately $0.91 per MMBtu, or $16.06 per ton. The average
delivered cost of coal burned at LaCygne 2 was approximately $0.77 per MMBtu, or $13.18 per ton.
 

Lawrence and Tecumseh Energy Centers: The coal-fired units located at the Lawrence and Tecumseh Energy Centers have an aggregate generating
capacity of 795 MW. In 2002, we obtained coal from Wyoming, which had an average Btu content of approximately 8,777 Btu per pound and an average sulfur
content of 0.41 lbs/MMBtu. During 2002, the average delivered cost of all coal burned in the Lawrence units was approximately $1.09 per MMBtu, or $19.11 per
ton. The average delivered cost of all coal burned in the Tecumseh units was approximately $1.10 per MMBtu, or $19.28 per ton.
 

The coal is transported from Wyoming by the BNSF railroad under a contract ending in December 2004. We have Wyoming coal under contract to support
the anticipated operation of these units through the end of 2004. We may also purchase coal on the spot market.
 

General: We have entered into all of our coal contracts in the ordinary course of business and do not believe we are substantially dependent upon these
contracts. We believe there are other suppliers with plentiful sources of coal available at spot market prices to replace, if necessary, fuel supplied pursuant to these
contracts and that we would be able to make transportation arrangements for such coal. In the event that we were required to replace our coal agreements, we
would not anticipate a substantial disruption of our business, although the cost of purchasing coal could increase. Since the majority of our coal needs are met
through long-term contracts as discussed above, we do not anticipate being materially impacted by price changes in the coal spot market.
 

We have entered into all of our coal transportation contracts in the ordinary course of business. Several rail carriers are capable of serving the coal mines
from where our coal originates, but several of our generating stations can be served by only one rail carrier. In the event the rail carrier to one of our generating
stations fails to provide reliable service, we could experience a short-term disruption of our business. However, due to the obligation of the rail carriers to provide
service under the Interstate Commerce Act, we do not anticipate any substantial long-term disruption of our business, although the cost of transporting coal could
increase.
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Natural Gas

 We use natural gas as a primary fuel in our Gordon Evans, Murray Gill, Neosho, Abilene and Hutchinson Energy Centers, in the gas turbine units at our
Tecumseh generating station and in the combined cycle units at the State Line facility. Natural gas is also used as a supplemental fuel in the coal-fired units at the
Lawrence and Tecumseh generating stations. Natural gas for all facilities is purchased in the short-term spot market, which supplies the system with a flexible
natural gas supply as necessary to meet operational needs. During 2002, we purchased 8,885,567 MMBtu of natural gas on the spot market for a total cost of
$34.2 million. Natural gas accounted for approximately 3% of our total fuel burned during 2002.
 

During the third quarter of 2001, we entered into hedging relationships to manage commodity price risk associated with future natural gas purchases in
order to protect us and our customers from adverse price fluctuations in the natural gas market. The hedged period ends in July 2004. Thereafter, if gas prices are
higher than the amount we are able to recover through our retail rates, we may be exposed to the increased gas cost and our exposure could be material. We may
be able to reduce our exposure due to our ability to use other fuel types. To recover increased gas costs in excess of the cost included in retail rates, we would
have to make a rate filing with the KCC or request a recovery mechanism through the KCC, which could be denied in whole or in part. For additional information
on our exposure to commodity price risks, see “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.”
 

Natural gas transportation for Abilene and Hutchinson Energy Centers is maintained with Kansas Gas Service Company, a division of ONEOK, under a
contract that expires April 30, 2004, which we anticipate renewing in the future. We meet a portion of our natural gas transportation requirements for Gordon
Evans, Murray Gill, Neosho, Lawrence and Tecumseh Energy Centers through firm natural gas transportation capacity agreements with Southern Star Central
Pipeline. All of the natural gas transportation requirements for the State Line facility are met through a firm natural gas transportation agreement with Southern
Star Central Pipeline. The firm transportation agreements that serve Gordon Evans, Murray Gill, Lawrence and Tecumseh Energy Centers extend through April 1,
2010. The agreement for the Neosho and State Line facilities extends through June 1, 2016.
 

Oil
 Most of our natural gas generating facilities have the capability to switch to oil once the facilities have been started with gas. We use oil as an alternate fuel
when economical or when interruptions to natural gas supply make it necessary. Over the past few years, we have been able to sell more power at wholesale
during the winter months when oil is typically more economical than natural gas. Oil accounted for approximately 2% of our total fuel burned during 2002.
 

Oil is also used as a start-up fuel at some of our generating stations and as a primary fuel in the Hutchinson No. 4 combustion turbine and in the diesel
generators. Oil is obtained by spot market purchases and year-long contracts. We maintain quantities in inventory to meet fuel switching needs to facilitate
economic dispatch of power, for emergency requirements and to protect against reduced availability of natural gas for limited periods or when the primary fuel
becomes uneconomical to burn.
 

Other Fuel Matters
 Our contracts to supply fuel for our coal-fired and natural gas-fired generating units, with the exception of JEC, do not provide full fuel requirements at the
various stations. Supplemental fuel is procured on the spot market to provide operational flexibility and to take advantage of economic opportunities when the
price is favorable. We use financial instruments to hedge a portion of our anticipated fossil fuel needs in an attempt to offset the volatility of the spot market. Due
to the volatility of these markets, we are unable to determine what the value of these financial instruments will be when the agreements are actually settled. See
“Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” for further information.
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The table below provides information relating to the weighted average cost of fuel that we have used, which includes the commodity cost, transportation

cost to our facilities and any other associated costs.
 

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

Per Million Btu:             

Nuclear   $ 0.40  $ 0.44  $ 0.44
Coal    1.05   1.08   1.05
Gas    3.84   3.79   3.44
Oil    2.58   3.65   3.23

Per MWh Generation   $ 11.88  $ 12.42  $ 12.37
 

Purchased Power
 At times, we purchase power to meet the energy needs of our wholesale customers and to meet the requirements of our retail native load customers (end-
use customers within our service territory). Factors that could cause us to purchase power for retail native load customers include generating plant outages,
extreme weather conditions, growth, and other factors associated with supplying full requirements electricity. If we were unable to generate an adequate supply of
electricity for our native load customers, we would purchase power in the wholesale market to the extent it is available or economically feasible to do so and/or
implement curtailment or interruption procedures as allowed for in our tariffs and terms and conditions of service.
 
Nuclear Generation
 Fuel Supply
 The owners of Wolf Creek have on hand or under contract 100% of their uranium and uranium conversion needs for 2003 and 76% of the uranium and
uranium conversion required for operation of Wolf Creek through March 2008. The balance is expected to be obtained through spot market and contract
purchases.
 

The owners have under contract 100% of Wolf Creek’s uranium enrichment needs for 2003 and 80% of the uranium enrichment required to operate Wolf
Creek through March 2008. The balance of Wolf Creek’s enrichment needs is expected to be obtained through spot market and contract purchases.
 

All uranium, uranium conversion and uranium enrichment arrangements have been entered into in the ordinary course of business, and Wolf Creek is not
substantially dependent upon these agreements. Despite contraction and consolidation in the supply sector for these commodities and services, Wolf Creek’s
management believes there are other supplies available to replace, if necessary, these contracts. In the event these contracts were required to be replaced, Wolf
Creek’s management does not anticipate a substantial disruption of Wolf Creek’s operations.
 

Nuclear fuel is amortized to cost of sales based on the quantity of heat produced for the generation of electricity.
 

Radioactive Waste Disposal
 Under the Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982, the Department of Energy (DOE) is responsible for the permanent disposal of spent nuclear fuel. Wolf Creek
pays the DOE a quarterly fee of one-tenth of a cent for each kilowatt-hour of net nuclear generation produced for the future disposal of spent nuclear fuel. These
disposal costs are charged to cost of sales.
 

A permanent disposal site will not be available for the nuclear industry until 2010 or later. Under current DOE policy, once a permanent site is available,
the DOE will accept spent nuclear fuel on a priority basis. The owners of the oldest spent fuel will be given the highest priority. As a result, disposal services for
Wolf Creek will not be available prior to 2016. Wolf Creek has on-site temporary storage for spent nuclear fuel. In early 2000, Wolf
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Creek completed replacement of spent fuel storage racks to increase its on-site storage capacity for all spent fuel expected to be generated by Wolf Creek through
the end of its licensed life in 2025.
 

On February 14, 2002, the Secretary of Energy submitted to the President a recommendation for approval of the Yucca Mountain site in Nevada for the
development of a nuclear waste repository for the disposal of spent nuclear fuel and high level nuclear waste from the nation’s defense activities. In July 2002, the
President signed a resolution approving the Yucca Mountain site after receiving the approval of this site from the U.S. Senate and House of Representatives. This
action allows the DOE to apply to the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) to license the project. The DOE expects that this facility will open in 2010.
However, the opening of the Yucca Mountain site could be delayed due to litigation and other issues related to the site as a permanent repository for spent nuclear
fuel.
 

The Low-Level Radioactive Waste Policy Amendments Act of 1985 mandated that the various states, individually or through interstate compacts, develop
alternative low-level radioactive waste disposal facilities. The states of Kansas, Nebraska, Arkansas, Louisiana and Oklahoma formed the Central Interstate Low-
Level Radioactive Waste Compact (Compact) and selected a site in Nebraska to locate a disposal facility. WCNOC and the owners of the other five nuclear units
in the Compact have provided most of the preconstruction financing for this project. Our net investment in the Compact is approximately $7.4 million. This
amount constitutes about 7.6% of all preconstruction financing provided to the Compact.
 

On December 18, 1998, the Nebraska agencies responsible for considering the developer’s license application denied the application. The license applicant
has sought a hearing on the license denial, but a U.S. District Court has indefinitely delayed proceedings related to the hearing. In December 1998, most of the
utilities that had provided the project’s preconstruction financing (including WCNOC) filed a federal court lawsuit contending Nebraska officials acted in bad
faith while handling the license application. Shortly thereafter, the Central Interstate Low-Level Radioactive Waste Commission (Commission), which is
responsible for causing a new disposal facility to be developed within the Compact region, and US Ecology, the license applicant, filed similar claims against
Nebraska. The U.S. District Court has since dismissed the utilities’ and US Ecology’s claims against Nebraska and its officials, but on September 30, 2002, the
court entered a $151.4 million judgment, about one-third of which constitutes prejudgment interest, in favor of the Commission and against Nebraska, finding that
Nebraska had acted in bad faith in handling the license application. In late 2002, Nebraska appealed that decision to the 8th Circuit U.S. Court of Appeals, where
the case is pending.
 

In May 1999, the Nebraska Legislature passed a bill withdrawing Nebraska from the Compact. In August 1999, the Nebraska Governor gave official notice
of the withdrawal to the other member states. Withdrawal will not be effective for five years and will not, of itself, nullify the site license proceeding.
 

Wolf Creek disposes of all classes of its low-level radioactive waste at existing third-party repositories. Should disposal capability become unavailable,
Wolf Creek is able to store its low-level radioactive waste in an on-site facility. Wolf Creek believes that a temporary loss of low-level radioactive waste disposal
capability will not affect continued operation of the power plant.
 

Outages
 Wolf Creek has an 18-month refueling and maintenance schedule that permits operations during every third calendar year without interruption for a
refueling outage. Wolf Creek was shut down for 36 days for its 12th scheduled refueling and maintenance outage, which began on March 23, 2002 and ended on
April 27, 2002. During the outage, electric demand was met primarily by our fossil-fueled generating units and by purchased power. Wolf Creek operated the
entire year of 2001 without any refueling outages. Wolf Creek is scheduled to be taken off-line in October 2003 for its 13th refueling and maintenance outage.
 

An extended shutdown of Wolf Creek could have a substantial adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations because of
higher replacement power and other costs. Although not expected, the NRC could impose an unscheduled plant shutdown due to security or other concerns.
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Security
 We have increased the level of security measures at our generation facility sites and various offices, due in part to nationwide concerns about homeland
security. These measures include, but are not limited to, increased security personnel, use of armed guard services, patrolling of company property, restricting
access to our properties and implementing emergency training and response procedures.
 

Wolf Creek’s management has increased both voluntary and federally mandated security measures at Wolf Creek. The NRC has required nuclear power
plants to be operated at the highest level of security since September 11, 2001. The measures implemented at Wolf Creek include, but are not limited to, increased
guard service, no unscheduled public visits and emergency training and response procedures.
 

The NRC has issued orders to all nuclear plants that make our current voluntary security measures mandatory. The orders also impose new security
requirements at U.S. nuclear power plants. Wolf Creek has complied with and intends to continue to comply with these requirements.
 
Competition and Deregulation
 Electric utilities have historically operated in a rate-regulated environment. FERC, the Federal regulatory agency having jurisdiction over our wholesale
rates and transmission services, and other utilities have initiated steps that are expected to result in a more competitive environment for utility services in the
wholesale market. The Kansas Legislature and the KCC took no action on deregulation in 2002 or 2001 and no action is expected to be taken in the near future.
 

Increased competition for retail electricity sales may in the future reduce our earnings, which could impact our ability to pay dividends and could have a
material adverse impact on our operations and our financial condition. Our rates range from approximately 19% to 25% below the national average for retail
customers based on a comparison to a U.S. average obtained from Edison Electric Institute for Winter 2002. Because of these rates, we expect to retain a
substantial part of our current volume of sales in a competitive environment. However, a material non-cash charge to earnings may be required should we
discontinue accounting under SFAS No. 71, “Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation.” See Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” for additional information.
 

The 1992 Energy Policy Act began deregulating the electricity market for generation. The Energy Policy Act permitted FERC to order electric utilities to
allow third parties to use their transmission systems to sell electric power to wholesale customers. In 1992, we agreed to open access of our transmission system
for wholesale transactions. FERC also requires us to provide transmission services to others under terms comparable to those we provide ourselves. In December
1999, FERC issued an order (FERC Order No. 2000) encouraging formation of regional transmission organizations (RTOs). RTOs are designed to control the
wholesale transmission services of the utilities in their regions, thereby facilitating open and more competitive markets in bulk power.
 

We and all other electric utilities with intrastate transmission facilities operate under FERC regulated open access tariffs that offer all wholesale buyers and
sellers of electricity the same transmission services, at the same rates, that the utilities provide themselves. We are a member of the Southwest Power Pool (SPP),
a regional division of the North American Electric Reliability Council. After FERC rejected several attempts by the SPP to gain RTO status, the SPP and the
Midwest Independent System Operator (MISO) agreed in October 2001 to consolidate and form an RTO. On May 30, 2002, FERC approved the planned merger.
On November 4, 2002, MISO and SPP filed a revised consolidated open-access transmission tariff as required by the merger agreement. On March 19, 2003, the
SPP’s board of directors voted to terminate the proposed merger with MISO, although both organizations have not precluded a future consolidation. We anticipate
that FERC Order No. 2000 and our continued participation in the SPP will not have a material effect on our operations.
 
Network Integration Transmission Service
 Effective January 1, 2002, we began taking Network Integration Transmission Service under the SPP’s Open Access Transmission Tariff. This provides a
cost-effective way for us to participate in a broader market of generation resources with the possibility of lower transmission costs. This tariff provides for a zonal
rate structure, whereby transmission customers pay a pro rata share, in the form of a reservation charge, for the use of the facilities
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for each transmission owner that serves them. As a result, the SPP has operational control over our transmission system, although we still own our transmission
assets and maintain responsibility for dispatching, maintenance and storm restoration.
 

Currently, all revenues collected within a zone are allocated back to the transmission owner serving the zone. Since we are a transmission provider for our
zone and are currently the only transmission customer taking service from that zone, we are currently being assessed 100% of the zonal costs and receiving all of
the costs back as revenue, less servicing fees. In 2002, these network integration transmission costs were approximately $65.9 million, and the associated
revenues were approximately $60.1 million, for a net expense of approximately $5.8 million. The revenues received are reflected in electric operating revenues,
and the related charges are expensed.
 
Regulation and Rates
 As a Kansas electric utility, we are subject to the jurisdiction of the KCC, which has general regulatory authority over our rates, extensions and
abandonments of service and facilities, valuation of property, the classification of accounts, the issuance of some securities and various other matters. We are also
subject to the jurisdiction of FERC, which has authority over wholesale sales of electricity, the transmission of electric power and the issuance of some securities.
We are subject to the jurisdiction of the NRC for nuclear plant operations and safety. We are exempt as a public utility holding company pursuant to the Public
Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 from all provisions of that Act, except Section 9(a)(2), which relates to the acquisition of the securities of other utilities.
 

Fuel and purchased power costs are recovered in retail rates at a fixed level. Therefore, to recover fuel and purchased power costs in excess of the costs
included in retail rates, we would have to make a rate filing with the KCC, which could be denied in whole or in part. Any increase in fuel and purchased power
costs over the costs recovered through rates would reduce our earnings if not offset by sales or other cost reductions. For additional information regarding
commodity price risks, see “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.”
 

On November 27, 2000, Westar Energy and KGE filed applications with the KCC for an increase in retail rates. On July 25, 2001, the KCC ordered an
annual reduction in our combined electric rates of $22.7 million, consisting of a $41.2 million reduction in KGE’s rates and an $18.5 million increase in Westar
Energy’s rates.
 

On August 9, 2001, Westar Energy and KGE filed petitions with the KCC requesting reconsideration of the July 25, 2001 order. The petitions specifically
asked for reconsideration of changes in depreciation, reductions in rate base related to deferred income taxes associated with the KGE acquisition premium and a
deferred gain on the sale and leaseback of LaCygne 2, wholesale revenue imputation and several other issues. On September 5, 2001, the KCC issued an order in
response to our motions for reconsideration that increased Westar Energy’s rates by an additional $7.0 million. The $41.2 million rate reduction in KGE’s rates
remained unchanged. On November 9, 2001, we filed an appeal of the KCC decisions with the Kansas Court of Appeals in an action captioned “Western
Resources, Inc. and Kansas Gas and Electric Company vs. The State Corporation Commission of the State of Kansas.” On March 8, 2002, the Court of Appeals
upheld the KCC orders. On April 8, 2002, we filed a petition for review of the decision of the Court of Appeals with the Kansas Supreme Court. Our petition for
review was denied on June 12, 2002.
 

Additional information with respect to rate matters and regulation is set forth in Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Rate Matters
and Regulation.”
 
Environmental Matters
 General
 We currently hold all federal and state environmental approvals required for the operation of all of our generating units. We believe we are currently in
substantial compliance with all air quality regulations (including those pertaining to particulate matter, sulfur dioxide (SO2) and nitrogen oxide (NOx))
promulgated by the State of Kansas and the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA).
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The JEC and LaCygne 2 units have met: (1) the federal SO2 standards through the use of low-sulfur coal; (2) the federal particulate matter standards

through the use of electrostatic precipitators; and (3) the federal NOx standards through boiler design and operating procedures. The JEC units are also equipped
with flue gas scrubbers providing additional SO2 and particulate matter emission reduction capability when needed to meet permit limits.
 

The Kansas Department of Health and Environment regulations applicable to our other generating facilities prohibit the emission of more than 3.0 pounds
of SO2 per MMBtu of heat input. We meet these standards through the use of low-sulfur coal and by all coal-burning facilities being equipped with flue gas
scrubbers and/or electrostatic precipitators.
 

Because of the strong demand for generation in 2002, we consumed more SO2 allowances than were allocated to us by the EPA. We made up the shortfall
by utilizing allowances we had previously procured in the open market. In anticipation of another strong year in generation, we will be actively pursuing the
purchase of additional SO2 allowances for 2003, which could approximate $3.0 million in additional costs.
 

We must comply, and are currently in compliance, with the provisions of The Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 that require a two-phase reduction in
some emissions. We have installed continuous monitoring and reporting equipment to meet the acid rain requirements. We have not had to make any material
capital expenditures to meet Phase II SO2 and NOx requirements.
 

All of our generating facilities are in substantial compliance with the Best Practicable Technology and Best Available Technology regulations issued by the
EPA pursuant to the Clean Water Act of 1977.
 

EPA New Source Review
 The EPA is conducting an enforcement initiative at a number of coal-fired power plants in an effort to determine whether modifications at those facilities
were subject to New Source Review requirements or New Source Performance Standards under the Clean Air Act. The EPA has requested information from us
under Section 114(a) of the Clean Air Act (Section 114). A Section 114 information request requires us to provide responses to specific EPA questions regarding
certain projects and maintenance activities that the EPA believes may have violated the New Source Performance Standard and New Source Review requirements
of the Clean Air Act. The EPA contends that power plants are required to update emission controls at the time of major maintenance or capital activity. We
believe that maintenance and capital activities performed at our power plants are generally routine in nature and are typical for the industry. We are complying
with this information request, but cannot predict the outcome of this investigation at this time. Should the EPA determine to take action, the resulting additional
costs to comply could be material. We would expect to seek recovery through rates of any settlement amounts.
 

The EPA has initiated civil enforcement actions against other unaffiliated utilities as part of its initiative. Settlement agreements entered into in connection
with some of these actions have provided for expenditures to be made over extended time periods.
 

Additional information with respect to Environmental Matters is discussed in Note 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Commitments
and Contingencies,” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
 
MONITORED SERVICES OPERATIONS
 General
 We provide property monitoring services through Protection One and Protection One Europe to approximately 1.1 million customers in the United States
and approximately 55,000 customers in continental Europe. Revenues are generated primarily from recurring monthly payments for monitoring and maintaining
the alarm systems that are installed in customers’ homes and businesses. Services are provided to residential (both single-family and multifamily residences),
commercial and wholesale customers. Currently, the United States customers are primarily in the residential market and the European customers are primarily in
the commercial market.
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Proposed Dispositions
 The Debt Reduction Plan contemplates the sale of our interests in Protection One Europe with a targeted closing of mid-2003 and the sale of our interest in
Protection One with a targeted closing by late 2003 or early 2004. Consistent with the Debt Reduction Plan, our board of directors has authorized management to
explore alternatives for disposing of our investments in Protection One and Protection One Europe and we have retained financial advisors to assist with the
possible sales. A special committee comprosed of independent directors of Protection One’s board of directors has been formed and the committee has also
retained a financial advisor. As a result of these decisions, these operations were classified as discontinued operations during the first quarter of 2003 under the
provisions of SFAS No. 144.
 

As discontinued operations, we will be required to determine the fair value of our investment, which will be the net amount we expect to realize from the
sale of the investment. The investment must be reported at the lesser of our recorded basis or the estimated fair value. If the fair value is less than our recorded
basis, we will be required to record an expense equal to the amount, which could be material, by which our basis exceeds the estimated fair value.
 

We solicited and received indications of value for Protection One Europe from potential buyers. These indications of value are within a range we would be
willing to accept. They indicated the recorded goodwill for Protection One Europe had no value. Accordingly, we recorded a $36 million impairment charge in
the fourth quarter of 2002 to reflect the impairment of all remaining goodwill at Protection One Europe. We are willing to accept offers in the indicated range due
to our ability to use the tax loss on this sale to offset the taxes that would otherwise be due from our sale of other investments. We will recognize a $58 million tax
benefit in the first quarter of 2003 when Protection One Europe is classified as a discontinued operation.
 
Operations
 Monitored services operations consist principally of alarm monitoring, customer service functions and branch operations. Security alarm systems include
many different types of devices installed at customers’ premises designed to detect or react to various occurrences or conditions, such as intrusion or the presence
of fire or smoke. Existing alarm monitoring customer contracts generally have initial terms ranging from two to 10 years in duration and provide for automatic
renewals for a fixed period (typically one year) unless one of the parties elects to cancel the contract at the end of its term. Since 2002, most new single family
residential customers have been entering into contracts with initial terms of three years, and, for most new commercial customers, the initial term is five years.
 

Protection One provides monitoring services from four monitoring facilities in the United States. Protection One Europe provides monitoring services from
facilities in Paris and Vitrolles, France. See “Item 2. Properties” for further information.
 

In 2001 and 2002, Protection One completed the installation of a common technology platform referred to as MAS®, or Monitored Automation Systems,
that combines the customer service, monitoring, billing and collection functions into a single system. The conversion to MAS® has enabled Protection One to
consolidate monitoring facilities, resulting in operational efficiencies and cost savings. Approximately 98.5% of Protection One’s North America residential and
commercial customer base is served by MAS®.
 
Branch Operations
 Protection One maintains approximately 60 service branches in the United States from which it provides field repair, customer care, alarm response and
sales services and seven satellite locations from which it provides field repair services. Protection One Europe maintains approximately 31 sales branch offices in
continental Europe, primarily in France.
 
Customer Acquisition Strategy
 Protection One’s current customer acquisition strategy for the United States relies primarily on internally generated sales and a strategic alliance with
BellSouth Telecommunications. The internal sales program generated 45,642 accounts in 2002 and 41,856 accounts in 2001. Protection One’s multifamily
business markets its services and products primarily to developers, owners and managers of apartment complexes and other multifamily dwellings.
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Protection One Europe’s customer acquisition strategy relies primarily on internally generated sales. Protection One Europe uses an internal sales force of

approximately 300 employees, who operate out of 31 branch locations in France, Germany and Belgium. Protection One Europe’s salary structure for its internal
sales force is heavily reliant on commissions but contains a portion of fixed salaries. In addition, Protection One Europe owns a telemarketing company, known as
Eurocontact, which provides qualified leads to the sales network.
 
Competition
 The security alarm industry is highly competitive. In North America, only four alarm companies offer services across the United States, with the remainder
being either large regional or small, privately held alarm companies. Based on total annual revenues in 2001, Protection One believes the top four alarm
companies in North America are:
 
 •  ADT Security Services (ADT), a subsidiary of Tyco International, Ltd.,
 
 •  Protection One,
 
 •  Brink’s Home Security Inc., a subsidiary of The Pittston Company, and
 
 •  Honeywell Security, a division of Honeywell, Inc.
 

In continental Europe, a large number of small competitors and a few large regional competitors have recently been taking steps toward establishing a
continental presence. The large regional competitors include the following companies:
 
 •  CIPE, a subsidiary of ADT Security Services and Tyco International, Ltd., which is the largest security company in France,
 
 •  Chubb, a United Kingdom-based company that is also a leading security company in France,
 
 •  Securitas, based in Sweden, which has its principal operations in the guarding industry, but is expanding operations in monitored security,
 
 

•  Group 4 Falck, a Danish security company that has significant operations in Scandinavia and has recently expanded into Germany and the Netherlands,
and

 
 •  Rentokil Initial, based in the Netherlands, which has operations in France and the United Kingdom.
 

Competition in the security alarm industry is based primarily on market visibility, price, reputation for quality of services and systems, services offered and
the ability to identify and solicit prospective customers as they move into homes and businesses. Protection One and Protection One Europe believe that they
compete effectively with other national, regional and local security alarm companies due to their ability to offer integrated alarm system installation, monitoring,
repair and enhanced services; their reputation for reliable equipment and services; and their prominent presence in the areas surrounding their branch offices.
 

Competitors exist in the market that have greater financial resources than Protection One or Protection One Europe, giving competitors the ability to offer
higher prices to purchase customer accounts than Protection One or Protection One Europe might be able or willing to offer. The effect of such competition may
be to reduce the purchase opportunities available.
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Regulatory Matters
 A number of local governmental authorities have adopted or are considering various measures aimed at reducing the number of false alarms. Such
measures include:
 
 •  permitting of individual alarm systems and the revocation of such permits following a specified number of false alarms,
 
 •  imposing fines on alarm customers for false alarms,
 
 •  imposing limitations on the number of times the police will respond to alarms at a particular location after a specified number of false alarms,
 
 •  requiring further verification of an alarm signal before the police will respond, and
 
 •  subjecting alarm monitoring companies to fines or penalties for transmitting false alarms.
 

Monitored services operations are subject to a variety of other laws, regulations and licensing requirements of both domestic and foreign federal, state and
local authorities. In certain jurisdictions, Protection One and Protection One Europe are required to obtain licenses or permits to comply with standards governing
employee selection and training and to meet certain standards in the conduct of their business.
 

The alarm industry is also subject to requirements imposed by various insurance, approval, listing and standards organizations. Depending upon the type of
customer served, the type of security service provided and the requirements of the applicable local governmental jurisdiction, adherence to the requirements and
standards of such organizations is mandatory in some instances and voluntary in others.
 

Protection One’s advertising and sales practices are regulated in the United States by both the Federal Trade Commission and state consumer protection
laws. In addition, certain administrative requirements and laws of the jurisdictions in which Protection One and Protection One Europe operate also regulate such
practices. Such laws and regulations include restrictions on the manner in which the sale of security alarm systems is promoted and the obligation to provide
purchasers of its alarm systems with certain rescission rights.
 

The alarm monitoring business utilizes wired and wireless telephones and radio frequencies to transmit alarm signals. The cost of telephone lines and the
type of equipment, which may be used in telephone line transmission, are currently regulated by both federal and state governments. The Federal
Communications Commission and state public utilities commissions regulate the operation and utilization of radio frequencies. In addition, the laws of certain
foreign jurisdictions in which Protection One Europe operates regulate the telephone communications with the local authorities.
 
Risk Management
 The nature of providing monitored services potentially exposes Protection One and Protection One Europe to greater risks of liability for employee acts or
omissions, or system failure, than may be inherent in other businesses. Substantially all alarm monitoring agreements, and other agreements, pursuant to which
products and services are sold, contain provisions limiting liability to customers in an attempt to reduce this risk.
 

Protection One and Protection One Europe carry insurance of various types, including general liability and errors and omissions insurance in amounts
considered adequate and customary for the industry and business. Loss experience, and the loss experiences at other security services companies, may affect the
availability and cost of such insurance. Some insurance policies, and the laws of some states and countries, may limit or prohibit insurance coverage for punitive
or certain other types of damages or liability arising from gross negligence.
 
SEGMENT INFORMATION
 Financial information with respect to business segments is set forth in Note 32 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Segments of Business.”
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GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
 Geographic information is set forth in Note 32 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Segments of Business.”
 
EMPLOYEES
 As of February 28, 2003, we had approximately 5,500 employees, including 1,900 utility employees and 3,600 employees of Protection One and Protection
One Europe. Our current contract with the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers extends through June 30, 2003. The contract covered approximately
1,100 utility employees as of February 28, 2003. We are currently discussing modifications to our existing contract with union representatives and expect these
discussions to result in an agreement. We anticipate that formal bargaining will begin in April 2003 if these discussions are unsuccessful.
 
ACCESS TO COMPANY INFORMATION
 We electronically file our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K with the SEC. The public
may read and copy any of the reports that are filed with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20549. The
public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site at
www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically.
 

We make available, free of charge, through our website and by responding to requests addressed to our investor relations department, our Annual Reports
on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K. These reports are available as soon as reasonably practicable after such
material is electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. Our website address is www.wr.com. The information contained on our website is not part of this
document.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
 ELECTRIC UTILITY FACILITIES
 
Name

    

Location

    

Unit No.

    

Year Installed

    

Principal
Fuel

    

Unit Capacity
(MW)

Abilene Energy Center:
Combustion Turbine     

Abilene, Kansas
    1     1973     Gas     71.0

Gordon Evans Energy Center:
Steam Turbines

 
Combustion Turbines

 
 

Diesel Generator
    

Colwich, Kansas

    

 
1
2
1
2
3
1     

1961
1967
2000
2000
2001
1969     

Gas—Oil Gas
—Oil Gas—
Oil Gas—Oil

Gas—Oil
Diesel     

151.0
383.0

80.0
80.0

154.0
3.0

Hutchinson Energy Center:
Steam Turbines

 
 
 

Combustion Turbines
 
 
 
 

Diesel Generator
    

Hutchinson, Kansas

    

 
1
2
3
4
1
2
3
4
1     

1950
1950
1951
1965
1974
1974
1974
1975
1983     

Gas
Gas
Gas
Gas
Gas
Gas
Gas

Diesel
Diesel     

17.0
18.0
31.0

175.0
52.0
54.0
54.0
77.0

3.0
Jeffrey Energy Center (84%):

Steam Turbines
 
 

Wind Turbines

    

St. Marys, Kansas

    

 
    1(a)
    2(a)
    3(a)
    1(a)
    2(a)     

1978
1980
1983
1999
1999     

Coal
Coal
Coal
—
—     

617.0
613.0
625.0

0.6
0.6

LaCygne Station (50%):
Steam Turbines

    

LaCygne, Kansas

    

 
    1(a)
    2(b)     

1973
1977     

Coal
Coal     

344.0
337.0

Lawrence Energy Center:
Steam Turbines

    

Lawrence, Kansas

    

 
3
4
5     

1954
1960
1971     

Coal
Coal
Coal     

57.0
122.0
388.0

Murray Gill Energy Center:
Steam Turbines

    

Wichita, Kansas

    

 
1
2
3
4     

1952
1954
1956
1959     

Gas—Oil Gas
—Oil Gas—
Oil Gas—Oil     

43.0
74.0

112.0
107.0

Neosho Energy Center:
Steam Turbine     

Parsons, Kansas
    3     1954     Gas—Oil     69.0

State Line (40%):
Combined Cycle

    

Joplin, Missouri

    

 
2-1(a)
2-2(a)
2-3(a)     

2001
2001
2001     

Gas
Gas
Gas     

60.0
60.0
80.0

Tecumseh Energy Center:
Steam Turbines

 
Combustion Turbines

    

Tecumseh, Kansas

    

 
7
8
1
2     

1957
1962
1972
1972     

Coal
Coal
Gas
Gas     

85.0
143.0

20.0
21.0

Wolf Creek Generating Station (47%):
Nuclear     

Burlington, Kansas
        1(a)     1985     Uranium     548.0

                         
Total                         5,929.2

                         

(a)  We jointly own Jeffrey Energy Center (84%), LaCygne 1 generating unit (50%), Wolf Creek Generating Station (47%) and State Line (40%). Unit capacity
amounts reflect Westar Energy’s ownership only.

(b)  In 1987, KGE entered into a sale-leaseback transaction involving its 50% interest in the LaCygne 2 generating unit.
 

We own approximately 6,600 miles of transmission lines, approximately 27,000 miles of overhead distribution lines and approximately 3,000 miles of
underground distribution lines.
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Substantially all of our utility properties are encumbered by first priority mortgages pursuant to which bonds have been issued and are outstanding.

 
MONITORED SERVICES FACILITIES
 

Location

  

Size
(Sq. ft.)

    

Lease/Own

  

Principal Purpose

Protection One:            

United States:            

Irving, Texas   53,750    Lease   Multifamily monitoring facility/administrative headquarters
Longwood, Florida   11,020    Lease   Monitoring facility/administrative functions
Portland, Maine   9,000    Lease   Monitoring facility/local branch
Topeka, Kansas   17,703    Lease   Financial/administrative headquarters
Wichita, Kansas   50,000    Own   Monitoring facility/administrative functions
Wichita, Kansas   140,000    Own   Backup monitoring center/administrative functions

Protection One Europe:            

Europe:            

Paris, France   3,498    Lease   Financial/administrative offices/monitoring facility
Vitrolles, France   27,000    Lease   Administrative/monitoring facility
Dusseldorf, Germany   7,800    Lease   Administrative/warehouse
Brussels, Belgium   14,400    Lease   Administrative/warehouse

 
Protection One maintains its executive offices at 818 South Kansas Avenue, Topeka, Kansas, 66612. Protection One and Protection One Europe operate

primarily from the above facilities, although Protection One also leases office space for approximately 60 service branch offices and seven satellite branches in
the United States and Protection One Europe leases offices for approximately 31 sales branch offices in continental Europe.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 Information on our legal proceedings is set forth in Notes 3, 18, 19 and 35 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Rate Matters and
Regulation,” “Legal Proceedings,” “Ongoing Investigations,” and “Potential Liabilities to David C. Wittig and Douglas T. Lake,” respectively, which are
incorporated herein by reference.
 
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
 No matter was submitted to a vote of our security holders through the solicitation of proxies or otherwise during the fourth quarter of 2002.
 

PART II
 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
                STOCK TRADING
 Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and traded under the ticker symbol WR. As of March 14, 2003, there were 33,334 common
shareholders of record. For information regarding quarterly common stock price ranges for 2002 and 2001, see Note 33 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, “Quarterly Results (Unaudited).”
 
DIVIDENDS
 Holders of our common stock are entitled to dividends when and as declared by our board of directors. However, prior to the payment of common
dividends, dividends must first be paid to the holders of preferred stock based on the fixed dividend rate for each series, and our obligations with respect to
mandatorily redeemable preferred securities issued by subsidiary trusts must be met.
 

Quarterly dividends on common stock and preferred stock normally are paid on or about the first business day of January, April, July and October to
shareholders of record as of or about the ninth day of the preceding month. Our board of directors reviews our common stock dividend policy from time to time.
Among the factors the board of directors considers in determining our dividend policy are earnings, cash flows, capitalization ratios, regulation, including the
KCC’s order requiring us to reduce our outstanding debt, competition and financial loan covenants. In February 2003, we declared a first-quarter 2003 dividend
of $0.19 per share. Our Articles of Incorporation restrict the payment of dividends or the making of other distributions on our common stock while any preferred
shares remain outstanding unless certain capitalization ratios and other conditions are met. We provide further information on these restrictions in Note 20 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Common Stock, Preferred Stock and Other Mandatorily Redeemable Securities.” We do not expect these
restrictions to have an impact on our ability to pay dividends on our common stock at the current rate.
 

See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Future Cash
Requirements,” Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Rate Matters and Regulation” and Note 20, “Common Stock, Preferred Stock and
Other Mandatorily Redeemable Securities,” included herein for additional information on dividends.
 
SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS
 The information called for by the item relating to “Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans” will be set forth under that
heading in the Proxy Statement relating to the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held June 16, 2003, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission no later than April 30, 2003, and which is incorporated herein by reference. See also “Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management.”
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
 
 

  

For the Year Ended December 31,

 
  

2002 (a)

   

2001

   

2000

  

1999 (b)

  

1998 (c)

   (In Thousands)
Income Statement Data:                       

Sales   $1,771,118   $1,716,866   $1,890,590  $1,856,540  $1,654,979
Net income (loss) from continuing operations before accounting change    (166,042)   (38,532)   141,027   14,296   35,649
Earnings (loss) available for common stock    (793,400)   (21,771)   135,352   13,167   32,058

 
  

As of December 31,

 
  

2002 (a)

   

2001

   

2000

  

1999 (b)

  

1998 (c)

   (In Thousands)
Balance Sheet Data:                       

Total assets   $6,443,099   $7,633,152   $7,801,720  $7,964,827  $7,929,776
Long-term debt, net, and other mandatorily redeemable securities    3,272,828    3,219,188    3,458,422   3,103,066   3,283,064

 
  

For the Year Ended December 31,

 
  

2002 (a)

   

2001

   

2000

  

1999 (b)

  

1998 (c)

Common Stock Data:                       

Basic and diluted earnings (losses) per share available for common stock
from continuing operations before accounting changes   $ (2.32)  $ (0.56)  $ 2.03  $ 0.20  $ 0.48

Basic and diluted earnings (losses) per share available for common stock   $ (11.06)  $ (0.31)  $ 1.96  $ 0.20  $ 0.48
Dividends per share   $ 1.20   $ 1.20   $ 1.44  $ 2.14  $ 2.14
Book value per share   $ 13.33   $ 25.60   $ 27.20  $ 27.66  $ 29.21

Average shares outstanding (in thousands)    71,732    70,650    68,962   67,080   65,634

(a)  See Note 23 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Impairment Charges.”
(b)  Information reflects the impairment of marketable securities and the change to an accelerated amortization method for the monitored services segment’s

customer accounts.
(c)  Information reflects exit costs associated with international power development activities.
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ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 INTRODUCTION
 In Management’s Discussion and Analysis, we discuss the general financial condition, significant annual changes and the operating results for us and our
subsidiaries. We explain:
 
 •  what factors impact our business,
 •  what our earnings and costs were in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
 •  why these earnings and costs differ from year to year,
 •  how our earnings and costs affect our overall financial condition,
 •  what our capital expenditures were for 2002,
 •  what we expect our capital expenditures to be for the years 2003 through 2005,
 •  how we plan to pay for these future capital expenditures,
 •  critical accounting policies, and
 •  any other items that particularly affect our financial condition or earnings.
 

As you read Management’s Discussion and Analysis, please refer to our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes, which show our
operating results.
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ITEMS
 Overview
 A number of significant developments have impacted us and our business operations since January 2002.
 
 •  We hired a new chief executive officer and senior management team.
 

 
•  We filed a new Debt Reduction and Restructuring Plan (the Debt Reduction Plan) with the Kansas Corporation Commission (KCC) that reflects our

decision to return to being exclusively a Kansas electric utility, replacing an earlier plan that contemplated the separation of Westar Industries, Inc.
(Westar Industries).

 

 

•  We began implementing the Debt Reduction Plan by (a) selling a portion of our ONEOK, Inc. (ONEOK) preferred stock, exchanging the remaining
preferred stock for a new class of ONEOK preferred stock and modifying our related agreements with ONEOK, (b) reducing our first quarter 2003
dividend 37% to $0.19 per share, and (c) exploring alternatives for the disposition of our interests in Protection One, Inc. (Protection One) and
Protection One Europe.

 
 •  In May and June 2002, we refinanced approximately $1.3 billion of outstanding debt.
 
 

•  A Special Committee of our board of directors, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC)
and a federal grand jury initiated investigations into various matters.

 
 

•  We recorded impairment charges related to our monitored security businesses of approximately $864.9 million, net of tax benefit and minority
interests, of which $671.0 million was related to goodwill and $193.9 million was related to customer accounts.

 

 
•  We repurchased a portion of our 6.25% senior unsecured notes that have a final maturity of August 15, 2018 and are putable and callable on August 15,

2003 (the putable/callable notes). As a result, we recognized a loss related to the fair value of a call option associated with the putable/callable notes for
2002 of $23.7 million, net of a $15.7 million tax benefit.

 
26



Table of Contents

 
 •  We reduced our utility work force by approximately 400 employees through a voluntary separation program.
 
 •  We restored service from a severe ice storm in late January 2002 and incurred $19.3 million for restoration costs, a portion of which was capitalized.
 

 
•  ONEOK gave us notice of termination effective December 2003 of a shared services agreement pursuant to which we provide customer service

functions to each other, including meter reading, customer billing and call center operations. We expect termination of this agreement will increase our
annual costs to provide these services by approximately $11 million to $13 million.

 
New Chief Executive Officer and Senior Management Team
 James S. Haines, Jr., joined us in December 2002 as our chief executive officer and president and a member of the board of directors. He replaced David C.
Wittig, who resigned on November 22, 2002 from all of his positions with us and our affiliates. Mr. Wittig had been on administrative leave without pay since
November 7, 2002 as a result of his indictment by a federal grand jury in Topeka, Kansas, for actions arising from his personal dealings.
 

Mr. Haines added new members to our senior management team, including William B. Moore as executive vice president and chief operating officer, and
Mark A. Ruelle as executive vice president and chief financial officer. All of these officers were previously employed with us and have a strong background in the
electric utility business. Douglas T. Lake, our executive vice president and chief strategic officer, resigned as a member of the board of directors and was placed
on unpaid leave from all of his other positions with us and our affiliates on December 6, 2002.
 

See Note 35 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Potential Liabilities to David C. Wittig and Douglas T. Lake,” for information about our
potential liabilities to Mr. Wittig and Mr. Lake.
 
KCC Orders and Debt Reduction and Restructuring Plan
 On February 6, 2003, we filed the Debt Reduction Plan with the KCC outlining our plans for paying down debt and restructuring the company. The Debt
Reduction Plan calls for the sale of our non-utility assets, including our interests in Protection One, Protection One Europe and ONEOK. As part of the Debt
Reduction Plan, the first quarter 2003 dividend on our common stock was reduced 37% to $0.19 per share. In addition, the Debt Reduction Plan contemplates the
potential issuance of additional Westar Energy equity, if needed to further reduce debt following the disposition of all material non-utility assets. On February 10,
2003, the KCC issued an order in which it stated that the Debt Reduction Plan appears to make a good-faith effort to address the concerns expressed in the KCC’s
prior orders and that the KCC needed additional time to review the Debt Reduction Plan prior to addressing other issues. The KCC also stayed the requirement of
a December 23, 2002 order that we form a utility-only subsidiary for our former KPL electric utility division (KPL) no later than August 1, 2003.
 

The Debt Reduction Plan replaced a previous financial plan to which we devoted extensive efforts throughout 2002 to obtain KCC approval. This plan
contemplated the sale of Westar Industries common stock in a rights offering. We refer you to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001 and subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for further information on this financial plan and related KCC orders. The KCC rejected this plan on
November 8, 2002 and issued an order that directed us to file a new financial plan, to reverse specified intercompany transactions, to reduce debt by $100 million
annually in each of the next two years from internally generated cash flow, and to restructure our organizational structure so that KPL would be placed in a
separate subsidiary with the amount of debt held by the utility not exceeding $1.47 billion. The order further established standstill protections requiring that we
seek KCC approval before we enter into certain transactions with a non-utility affiliate. Following our filing of a motion for reconsideration and clarification of
this order, the KCC issued an order on December 23, 2002 directing that no later than August 1, 2003, KPL be held within a separate utility-only subsidiary and
that the consolidated debt for all of our utility businesses not exceed $1.67 billion.
 

The standstill provisions of the December 23, 2002 KCC order potentially could have had a material adverse impact on Protection One. These standstill
provisions are described in Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Rate Matters and Regulation.” On March 11, 2003, the KCC issued an
order permitting us to
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make the payment due to Protection One in 2003 under a tax sharing agreement and to continue making loans to Protection One under a revolving credit facility.
In addition, the order permitted us to reimburse Protection One approximately $4.4 million for information technology and aviation services, subject to certain
conditions.
 

The KCC staff and other parties to the KCC docket considering the Debt Reduction Plan have filed comments on the Debt Reduction Plan. The KCC has
not yet established a procedural schedule for considering the Debt Reduction Plan and the related comments. We are unable to predict what action the KCC will
take with respect to the Debt Reduction Plan.
 

The KCC Orders dated November 8, 2002, December 23, 2002, February 10, 2003 and March 11, 2003 and the Debt Reduction Plan are exhibits to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. All of such exhibits are incorporated by reference herein. All of the documents concerning these matters, including the KCC
Orders, can also be reviewed at the website of the KCC at www.kcc.state.ks.us (the website information is not incorporated herein or otherwise made a part of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K). We refer you to these documents for further information concerning these matters.
 
Changes in ONEOK Ownership
 On February 5, 2003, ONEOK repurchased from Westar Industries 9,038,755 shares of its Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, which were convertible
into 18,077,511 shares of common stock. We received $300 million as a result of this sale, which was previously approved by the KCC. We anticipate using all or
a portion of the net proceeds to repurchase or provide for the repayment of all of the putable/callable notes and a portion of our 6.875% senior unsecured notes.
 

Westar Industries also exchanged its remaining shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for 21,815,386 new shares of ONEOK’s Series D
Convertible Preferred Stock. ONEOK has agreed to file a shelf registration statement covering the Series D Convertible Preferred and common stock held by
Westar Industries. Future sales will be subject to various conditions including the effectiveness of such registration, the required waiver or expiration of a 180-day
lock-up period ending on July 22, 2003, and future market conditions. As of March 14, 2003, Westar Industries holds an approximate 27.5% ownership interest in
ONEOK, assuming conversion of the Series D Convertible Preferred Stock.
 

In 2002 and prior periods, we accounted for our ONEOK common stock investment under the equity method of accounting. During 2003, we will account
for our ONEOK common stock investment as an available-for-sale security under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 115, “Accounting for
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” and mark to market its fair value through other comprehensive income. We will begin accounting for our
ONEOK Series D Convertible Preferred Stock investment under this method if and when a public market for these securities develops.
 
Sale of Protection One and Protection One Europe
 On January 13, 2003, we announced that our board of directors authorized management to explore alternatives for disposing of our investments in
Protection One and Protection One Europe. The Debt Reduction Plan provides for the sale of our interests in Protection One Europe with a targeted closing of
mid-2003 and the sale of our interest in Protection One with a targeted closing by late 2003 or early 2004. As a result, these operations were classified as
discontinued operations during the first quarter of 2003 pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment and Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets.”
 

As discontinued operations, we will be required to determine the fair value of our investment, which will be the net amount we expect to realize from the
sale of the investment. The investment must be reported at the lesser of our recorded basis or the estimated fair value. If the fair value is less than our recorded
basis, we will be required to record an expense equal to the amount, which could be material, by which our basis exceeds the estimated fair value.
 

We solicited and received indications of value for Protection One Europe from potential buyers. These indications of value are within a range we would be
willing to accept. They indicated the recorded goodwill for Protection One Europe had no value. Accordingly, we recorded a $36 million impairment charge in
the fourth quarter of 2002 to reflect the impairment of all remaining goodwill at Protection One Europe. We are willing to accept offers in the indicated range due
to our ability to use the tax loss on this sale to offset the taxes that would otherwise be
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due from our sale of other investments. We will recognize a $58 million tax benefit in the first quarter of 2003 when Protection One Europe is classified as a
discontinued operation.
 
Ongoing Investigations
 Grand Jury Subpoena
 On September 17, 2002, we were served with a federal grand jury subpoena by the United States Attorney’s Office in Topeka, Kansas, requesting
information concerning the use of aircraft and our annual shareholder meetings. Since that date, the United States Attorney’s Office has served additional
subpoenas on us and certain of our employees requesting further information concerning the use of aircraft; executive compensation arrangements with Mr.
Wittig, Mr. Lake and other former and present officers; the proposed rights offering of Westar Industries stock; and the company in general. We are providing
information in response to these requests and are fully cooperating in the investigation. We have not been informed that we are a target of the investigation. We
are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of the investigation or its impact on us.
 

Securities and Exchange Commission Inquiry
 On November 1, 2002, the SEC notified us that it would be conducting an inquiry into the matters involved in the restatement of our first and second
quarter 2002 financial statements. Our counsel has communicated with the SEC about these matters and other matters within the scope of the grand jury
investigation. We are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of the inquiry or its impact on us.
 

Special Committee Investigation
 Our board of directors appointed a Special Committee of directors to investigate management matters and matters that are the subject of the grand jury
investigation and SEC inquiry. The Special Committee retained counsel and other advisors. The Special Committee investigation has been completed and has not
resulted in adjustments to our consolidated financial statements.
 

FERC Subpoena
 On December 16, 2002, we received a subpoena from FERC seeking details on power trades with Cleco Corporation (Cleco) and its affiliates, documents
concerning power transactions between our system and our marketing operations and information on power trades in which we or other trading companies acted
as intermediaries.
 

We have provided information to FERC in response to the subpoena. We believe that our participation in these transactions did not violate FERC rules and
regulations. However, we are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of the investigation. See Note 19 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
“Ongoing Investigations — FERC Subpoena,” for additional information.
 
Call Option
 In August 1998, we entered into a call option with an investment bank related to the issuance of $400 million of our putable/callable notes. This call option
is required to be settled by August 2003 through either a cash payment or a remarketing or refinancing of the putable/callable notes. The ultimate value of the call
option will be based on the difference between the 10-year United States treasury rate on August 12, 2003 and 5.44%. If the 10-year United States treasury rate on
August 12, 2003 is less than 5.44%, we will have a liability to the investment bank at that time. At December 31, 2002, our potential liability under the call option
was $62.2 million. Based on the 10-year forward treasury rate on March 14, 2003 of 3.91%, we would be obligated to make a cash payment of approximately
$69.1 million to settle the call option if we did not remarket or refinance the notes. The amount of our liability will increase or decrease approximately $5 million
for every 10-basis point change in the 10-year forward treasury rate. If settled through a remarketing or refinancing, any liability related to the call option will be
amortized as a credit to interest expense over the term of the new debt. The investment bank will price the notes to yield a market premium adequate to allow the
investment bank to retain proceeds equal to the fair value of the call option at settlement.
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At the time of issuance of the notes in 1998, we were not required by generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) to account separately for the call

option. However, when we began retiring these notes as a part of our overall debt reduction strategy, the portion of the call option associated with the retired notes
became a free-standing option required to be treated as a derivative instrument under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities,” as amended by SFAS Nos. 137 and 138 (collectively, SFAS No. 133). In addition, under SFAS No. 133, we are required to mark to market changes in
the anticipated amount of the liability related to the portion of the $400 million in notes that have been retired so that our balance sheet reflects the current fair
value of the free standing portion of the call option. For 2002, we recognized a loss of $10.1 million, net of $6.7 million tax benefit, related to the fair value of the
call option associated with the putable/callable notes at the time the notes were retired. This loss is included in our consolidated statements of income as part of
the gain on extinguishment of debt line item of other income. For 2002, we also recorded an additional non-cash charge of $13.6 million, net of $9.0 million tax
benefit, to reflect mark to market changes in the fair value of the call option associated with the retired notes. This charge is reflected in the other line item of
other income in our consolidated statements of income. In total, the loss recorded related to the fair value of the call option for the year ended December 31, 2002
was $23.7 million, net of $15.7 million tax benefit.
 

We intend to repurchase or provide for the repayment of the putable/callable notes on or prior to June 15, 2003. Any repurchase of these notes will require
us to mark to market additional amounts of the call option. From January 1, 2003 through March 14, 2003, we purchased $35.3 million face value of our
putable/callable notes. We cannot predict changes in the market value of the call option and therefore cannot estimate amounts of future mark-to-market non-cash
charges associated with the call option or the impact on our earnings.
 
Impairment Charges
 Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142, “Accounting for Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” and SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment and Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” As a result of implementing the new standards, we recorded a charge for the first quarter of 2002 of
approximately $749.3 million (net of tax benefit and minority interests), of which $555.4 million was related to goodwill and $193.9 million was related to
customer accounts.
 

In addition, in the fourth quarter of 2002 we recorded a $79.7 million impairment charge, net of tax benefit and minority interests, to reflect the additional
impairment of all remaining goodwill of Protection One’s North America segment. We also recorded a $36 million impairment charge to reflect the impairment of
all remaining goodwill at Protection One Europe. These accounting standards, the related charges and other related information are discussed in Note 23 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Impairment Charges.”
 
Work Force Reductions
 During 2002, we reduced our utility work force by approximately 400 employees through a voluntary separation program. We recorded a net charge of
approximately $21.7 million in 2002 related to this program. We have replaced and may continue to replace some of these employees. For additional information,
see Note 29 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Work Force Reductions.”
 
Ice Storm
 In late January 2002, a severe ice storm swept through our utility service area causing extensive damage and loss of power to numerous customers.
Through December 31, 2002, we incurred $19.3 million for restoration costs, a portion of which was capitalized. We have deferred and recorded as a regulatory
asset on our December 31, 2002 consolidated balance sheet restoration costs of approximately $15.0 million. We have received an accounting authority order
from the KCC that allows us to accumulate and defer for potential future recovery all operating and carrying costs related to storm restoration.
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 Our discussion and analysis of results of operations and financial condition are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared
in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities,
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revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We evaluate our estimates on an on-going basis, including those related to bad
debts, inventories, depreciation, revenue recognition, investments, customer accounts, goodwill, intangible assets, income taxes, pensions, post-retirement and
post-employment benefits, decommissioning of Wolf Creek Generating Station (Wolf Creek), environmental issues, contingencies and litigation. We base our
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis
for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
 

Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” provides a summary of the significant
accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. The following is a brief description of the more significant
accounting policies and methods used by us.
 
Regulatory Accounting
 We currently apply accounting standards for our regulated utility operations that recognize the economic effects of rate regulation in accordance with SFAS
No. 71, “Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation,” and, accordingly, have recorded regulatory assets and liabilities when required by a
regulatory order or based on regulatory precedent.
 

Regulatory assets represent incurred costs that have been deferred because they are probable of future recovery in customer rates. Regulatory liabilities
represent obligations to make refunds to customers for previous collections for costs that are not likely to be incurred in the future. We have recorded these
regulatory assets and liabilities in accordance with SFAS No. 71. If we were required to terminate application of SFAS No. 71 for all of our regulated operations,
we would have to record the amounts of all regulatory assets and liabilities in our consolidated statements of income at that time. As of December 31, 2002, this
would reduce our earnings by approximately $351.9 million, net of applicable income taxes.
 

SFAS No. 71 applies to our electric utility business segment. We do not anticipate the discontinuation of SFAS No. 71 in the foreseeable future. See “—
Other Information — Electric Utility — Stranded Costs” for additional discussion of the application of SFAS No. 71.
 
Depreciation
 Utility plant is depreciated on the straight-line method at the lesser of rates set by the KCC or rates based on the estimated remaining useful lives of the
assets, which are based on an average annual composite basis using group rates that approximated 2.66% during 2002, 3.03% during 2001 and 2.99% during
2000.
 

In its rate order of July 25, 2001, the KCC extended the estimated service life for certain of our generating assets, including Wolf Creek and the LaCygne 2
generating station, for regulatory rate making purposes. The estimated retirement date for Wolf Creek was extended from 2025 to 2045, although our operating
license for Wolf Creek expires in 2025, and the estimated retirement date for LaCygne 2 was extended to 2032, although the term of our lease for LaCygne 2
expires in 2016. On April 1, 2002, we adopted the new depreciation rates as prescribed in the KCC order. We continue to depreciate Wolf Creek over the term of
our operating license, and we continue to depreciate LaCygne 2 over the term of our lease. We have created a regulatory asset for the amount that our depreciation
expense exceeds our regulatory depreciation expense.
 

On an annual basis, our depreciation expense will be reduced by approximately $30.0 million as a result of these extensions. If our generating license for
Wolf Creek is not renewed or the term of our lease for LaCygne 2 is not extended, we will need to seek relief from the KCC to recover the remaining cost of these
assets.
 
Pension Benefit Plans
 The reported costs of our pension benefit plans, which include our portion of Wolf Creek Nuclear Operating Corporation’s costs, are impacted by the
factors listed below.
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•  Pension costs are impacted by earnings on plan assets, plan amendments, contributions made to the plan and employee demographics (including age,
compensation levels and employment periods).

 
 

•  Pension costs may be significantly affected by changes in actuarial assumptions, including anticipated rates of return on plan assets and discount rates
used in determining the projected benefit obligation and pension costs.

 
 

•  Our 2002 discount rate assumption ranged from 6.50% to 6.75%. Our discount rate was 7.25% in 2001 and ranged from 7.25% to 7.75% in 2000.
When our discount rate assumption decreases, our expense increases.

 
 

•  Our expected rate of return assumption ranged from 9.0% to 9.25%, which is consistent with long-term results of the plans. The return assumption was
the same for 2002, 2001 and 2000.

 
The following chart reflects the annual impact of a 0.5 % decrease in certain assumptions. If the discount rate increased by 0.5%, the impact would be a

similar amount in the opposite direction.
 

 

  

Change in
Assumption

  

Annual
Impact on
Projected

Benefit
Obligation

    

Annual
Impact on

Pension
Liability

  

Annual
Impact on
Projected
Pension
Expense

           (In Millions)    
Discount rate   0.5% decrease  $ 22.8    $ 16.9  $ 1.5
Rate of return on plan assets   0.5% decrease   —       —     2.4

 
We recorded pension expense of $5.8 million in 2002 and pension income of $4.0 million in 2001. The $9.8 million increase is due primarily to lower

returns on plan assets and an early retirement window that was offered in 2001 and 2002. In 2003 we expect to record approximately $1.8 million of pension
income.
 

Pension plan assets are primarily made up of equity and fixed income investments. The market value of the plan assets has been affected by declines in
equity markets. At December 31, 2002, the fair value of pension plan assets was $382.3 million. Actual return on plan assets declined by approximately $2.1
million during 2001 and by approximately $58.5 million during 2002. Absent a substantial recovery in the equity markets, pension costs, cash funding
requirements and the additional pension liability could substantially increase in future years.
 

See Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financials Statements, “Employee Benefit Plans,” for additional information.
 
Revenue Recognition
 Energy Sales
 Energy sales are recognized as delivered and include an estimate for energy delivered but unbilled at the end of each year. Power marketing activities are
accounted for under the mark-to-market method of accounting. Under this method, changes in the portfolio value are recognized as gains or losses in the period of
change. The net mark-to-market change is included in energy sales in our consolidated statements of income. The resulting unrealized gains and losses are
recorded as energy trading assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets.
 

We primarily use quoted market prices to value our power marketing and energy trading contracts. When market prices are not readily available or
determinable, we use alternative approaches, such as model pricing. The market prices used to value these transactions reflect our best estimate of fair values
considering various factors, including closing exchange and over-the-counter quotations, time value and volatility factors underlying the commitments. Results
actually achieved from these activities could vary materially from intended results and could unfavorably affect our financial results.
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Monitored Services Revenues

 Monitored services revenues are recognized when security services are provided. System installation revenues, sales revenues on equipment upgrades and
direct and incremental costs of installations and sales are deferred for residential customers with monitoring service contracts. For commercial customers, revenue
recognition is dependent upon each specific customer contract. In instances when the company passes title to a system unaccompanied by a service agreement or
the company passes title at a price that it believes is unaffected by an accompanying but undelivered service, the company recognizes revenues and costs in the
period incurred. In cases where the company retains title to the system or it prices the system lower than it otherwise would because of an accompanying service
agreement, the company defers and amortizes revenues and direct costs.
 

Deferred system and upgrade installation revenues are recognized over the expected life of the customer utilizing an accelerated method for residential and
commercial customers and a straight-line method for Protection One’s Multifamily customers. Deferred costs in excess of deferred revenue are recognized over
the initial contract term, utilizing a straight-line method, typically two to three years for residential systems, five years for commercial systems and five to ten
years for Multifamily systems. To the extent deferred costs are less than deferred revenues, such costs are recognized over the estimated life of the customer
relationship.
 

Deferred revenues also result from customers who are billed for monitoring and extended service protection in advance of the period in which such services
are provided, on a monthly, quarterly or annual basis. Revenues from monitoring activities are recognized in the period such services are provided.
 
Cumulative Effects of Accounting Changes
 Accounting for Goodwill and for the Impairment and Disposal of Long-Lived Assets
 Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142 and SFAS No. 144. SFAS No. 142 established new standards for accounting for goodwill. SFAS No.
142 continues to require the recognition of goodwill as an asset, but discontinued amortization of goodwill. In addition, annual impairment tests must be
performed using a fair-value based approach as opposed to an undiscounted cash flow approach required under prior standards.
 

SFAS No. 144 established a new approach to determining whether our customer account asset is impaired. The approach no longer permits us to evaluate
our customer account asset for impairment based on the net undiscounted cash flow stream obtained over the remaining life of goodwill associated with the
customer accounts being evaluated. Rather, the cash flow stream used under SFAS No. 144 is limited to future estimated undiscounted cash flows from assets in
the asset group, which include customer accounts, the primary asset of the reporting unit, plus an estimated amount for the sale of the remaining assets within the
asset group (including goodwill). If the undiscounted cash flow stream from the asset group is less than the combined book value of the asset group, then we are
required to mark the customer account asset down to fair value, by way of recording an impairment, to the extent fair value is less than our book value. To the
extent net book value is less than fair value, no impairment would be recorded.
 

To implement the new standards, an independent appraisal firm was engaged to help management estimate the fair values of Protection One’s and
Protection One Europe’s goodwill and customer accounts. Based on this analysis, we recorded a charge in the first quarter of 2002 of approximately $749.3
million (net of tax benefit and minority interests), of which $555.6 million was related to goodwill and $193.9 million was related to customer accounts.
 

Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
 Effective January 1, 2001, we adopted SFAS No. 133. We use derivative instruments (primarily swaps, options and futures) to manage interest rate
exposure and the commodity price risk inherent in some of our fossil fuel and electricity purchases and sales. Under SFAS No. 133, all derivative instruments,
including our energy trading contracts, are recorded on our consolidated balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at fair value. Changes in a
derivative’s fair value must be recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met, in which case changes are reflected in other
comprehensive income. Cash flows from derivative instruments are presented in net cash flows from operating activities.
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Derivative instruments used to manage commodity price risk inherent in fossil fuel and electricity purchases and sales are classified as energy trading

contracts on our consolidated balance sheets. Energy trading contracts representing unrealized gain positions are reported as assets; energy trading contracts
representing unrealized loss positions are reported as liabilities.
 

Prior to January 1, 2001, gains and losses on our derivatives used for managing commodity price risk were deferred until settlement. These derivatives
were not designated as hedges under SFAS No. 133. Accordingly, on January 1, 2001, we recognized an unrealized gain of $18.7 million, net of $12.3 million of
tax. This gain is presented on our consolidated statement of income in 2001 as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.
 

After January 1, 2001, changes in fair value of all derivative instruments used for managing commodity price risk that are not designated as hedges are
recognized in revenue as discussed above under “— Revenue Recognition — Energy Sales.” Accounting for derivatives under SFAS No. 133 will increase
volatility of our future earnings.
 

Revenue Recognition
 In the fourth quarter of 2000, we adopted Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 101, “Revenue Recognition,” which had a retroactive effective date of
January 1, 2000. The impact of this accounting change generally required deferral of certain monitored security services sales for installation revenues and direct
sales-related expenses. Deferral of these revenues and costs is generally necessary when installation revenues have been received and a monitoring contract to
provide future service is obtained.
 

The cumulative effect of this change in accounting principle was a charge to income in 2000 of approximately $3.8 million, net of $1.1 million tax benefit,
and is related to changes in revenue recognition at Protection One Europe. Prior to the adoption of SAB No. 101, Protection One Europe recognized installation
revenues and related expenses upon completion of the installation.
 
Accounting Changes
 Accounting for Energy Trading Contracts
 In October 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), through the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF), issued Issue No. 02-03, which
rescinded Issue No. 98-10, “Accounting for Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk Management Activities.” As a result, all new contracts that would
otherwise have been accounted for under Issue No. 98-10 and that do not fall within the scope of SFAS No. 133 can no longer be marked-to-market and recorded
in earnings as of October 25, 2002. We are not affected by this change in accounting principle and are not required to reclassify any of our contracts. EITF Issue
No. 02-03 also requires that energy trading contracts and derivatives, whether settled financially or physically, be reported in the income statement on a net basis
effective January 1, 2003. We began to classify our energy trading contracts on a net basis during the third quarter of 2002.
 

On July 1, 2002, we began reporting mark-to-market gains and losses on energy trading contracts on a net basis, whether realized or unrealized, in our
consolidated income statements. Prior to July 1, 2002, we reported gains on these contracts in sales and losses in cost of sales in our consolidated income
statements. The changes are reflected in our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002. Prior periods shown in our consolidated
financial statements have been reclassified to reflect the effect of this change and to be comparable as required by GAAP. As a result of the net presentation, we
expect significant reductions in our energy revenues and expenses from those reported in prior periods, which will not affect gross profit or net income. A
summary of the effects of this change for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 is as follows:
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Changes to Income Statements
 
 

  

Year Ended December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

 

  

Prior to
Reclassifications

for Net
Presentation

  

After
Reclassifications

for Net
Presentation

  

Prior to
Reclassifications

for Net
Presentation

  

After
Reclassifications

for Net
Presentation

  

Prior to
Reclassifications

for Net
Presentation

  

After
Reclassifications

for Net
Presentation

   (In Thousands)
Energy sales   $ 1,798,971  $ 1,422,899  $ 1,706,311  $ 1,307,177  $ 1,829,133  $ 1,359,522
Energy cost of sales    754,700   378,628   793,210   394,076   850,018   380,407
             
Energy gross profit   $ 1,044,271  $ 1,044,271  $ 913,101  $ 913,101  $ 979,115  $ 979,115
             
 
OPERATING RESULTS
 Westar Energy Consolidated
 2002 compared to 2001
 We reported a loss of $11.06 per share in 2002 compared to a loss of $0.31 per share in 2001. This greater loss per share was due primarily to the 2002
impairment charges related to monitored services goodwill and customer accounts. A decline in monitored services revenues also contributed to the loss.
Improved results from utility operations and declines in cost of sales and operating expenses and increases in other income from monitored services partially
offset these items. For additional information, see the segment discussions below.
 

2001 compared to 2000
 We reported a loss of $0.31 per share in 2001 compared to earnings of $1.96 per share in 2000. This decrease resulted from decreased electricity sales
caused by milder weather, the decrease in electric rates in accordance with the July 25, 2001 KCC rate order, higher operating losses in our monitored services
segment, and the fourth quarter charge related to a work force reduction. Additionally, investment earnings and extraordinary gains on the retirement of debt were
lower in 2001 than in 2000.
 
Segments of Business
 Our business is segmented based on differences in products and services, production processes and management responsibility. We have identified three
reportable segments: Electric Utility, Monitored Services and Other.
 
 

•  Electric Utility consists of our integrated electric utility operations, including the generation, transmission and distribution of power to our retail
customers in Kansas and to wholesale customers, and our power marketing activities.

 
 

•  Monitored Services, including the net effect of minority interests, is comprosed of our security alarm monitoring businesses in the United States and
Europe.

 
 

•  Other includes our approximate 45% ownership interest in ONEOK at December 31, 2002, (which was reduced to a 27.5% interest on February 5,
2003) and other investments in the aggregate not material to our business or results of operations.

 
We manage our business segments’ performance based on their earnings (losses) before interest and taxes (EBIT) because EBIT is the primary

measurement used by our management to evaluate segment performance. Our business managers have direct control over the items that affect the EBIT of their
segments and we therefore believe EBIT is an appropriate measure of segment performance. EBIT does not represent cash flow from operations as defined by
GAAP, should not be construed as an alternative to operating income and is indicative neither of operating performance nor cash flows available to fund our cash
needs. Items excluded from EBIT are significant components in understanding and assessing our financial performance. Interest expense, income taxes,
discontinued operations, cumulative effects of accounting changes and preferred dividends are items that are excluded from the calculation of EBIT. Our
computation of EBIT may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other
 

35



Table of Contents

companies. We provide a reconciliation of EBIT to GAAP income measurements in Note 32 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Segments of
Business.”
 

Electric Utility
 We supply electric energy at retail to approximately 647,000 customers in Kansas including the communities of Wichita, Topeka, Lawrence, Manhattan,
Salina and Hutchinson. We classify our customers as residential, commercial and industrial as defined in our tariffs. We also supply electric energy at wholesale
to the electric distribution systems of 62 Kansas cities and four rural electric cooperatives. We have contracts for the sale, purchase or exchange of wholesale
electricity with other utilities. In addition, we have power marketing operations that purchase and sell electricity in areas outside our historical service territory.
 

Regulated electric utility sales are significantly impacted by such things as regulation (including rate regulation), customer conservation efforts, wholesale
demand, the overall economy of our service area, the weather and competitive forces. Our wholesale sales are impacted by demand outside our service territory,
the cost of fuel and purchased power, price volatility and available generation capacity.
 

Our electric sales for the three years ended December 31 were as follows:
 

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

   (In Thousands)
Residential   $ 442,106  $ 419,492  $ 452,674
Commercial    385,375   380,277   367,367
Industrial    242,847   244,392   252,243
       

Total    1,070,328   1,044,161   1,072,284

Network integration(a)    60,132   —     —  
Other(b)    46,693   50,669   49,629
       

Total retail    1,177,153   1,094,830   1,121,913

Power Marketing/Wholesale and Interchange    245,746   212,347   237,609
       

Total   $ 1,422,899  $ 1,307,177  $ 1,359,522
       

            

(a)  Network Integration: Reflects a new network transmission tariff that requires us to pay to the Southwest Power
Pool (SPP) all expenses associated with transporting power from our generating stations. The SPP then pays us for
transmitting power to the point of delivery into our retail distribution system. These receipts from the SPP are
reflected in revenues under the network integration classification. For further information, see “— Other
Information — Electric Utility — Network Integration Transmission Service” below.

(b)  Other: Includes public street and highway lighting and miscellaneous electric revenues.
 

The following tables show changes in electric sales volumes, as measured by thousands of megawatt hours (MWh) of electricity we generate, for the three
years ended December 31. No sales volumes are shown for network integration or power marketing because these activities are not related to electricity we
generate.
 

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

% Change

   (Thousands of MWh)
Residential   6,170  5,755    7.2
Commercial   6,817  6,742    1.1
Industrial   5,451  5,617    (3.0)
Other   106  107    (0.9)
        

Total retail   18,544  18,221    1.8
Wholesale and Interchange   9,115  7,547  20.8
        

Total   27,659  25,768    7.3
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2001

  

2000

    

% Change

   (Thousands of MWh)
Residential   5,755  6,222    (7.5)
Commercial   6,742  6,485    4.0
Industrial   5,617  5,820    (3.5)
Other   107  108    (0.9)
          

Total retail   18,221  18,635    (2.2)
Wholesale and Interchange   7,547  6,892    9.5
          

Total   25,768  25,527    0.9
          

 
Details concerning EBIT and assets attributable to our electric utility segment are summarized in the tables below:

 

 
  

For the years ended December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

   (In Thousands)
Depreciation and amortization   $ 171,749  $ 185,156  $ 175,839
Earnings (losses) before interest and taxes    246,993   207,057   331,330

 
  

December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

   (In Thousands)
Identifiable assets   $ 5,033,329  $ 4,932,447  $ 4,961,240

 
2002 compared to 2001: Energy sales increased $115.7 million, or 9%, due primarily to the $60.1 million in new network integration tariff revenues (see

“— Other Information — Electric Utility — Network Integration Transmission Service”), a $33.4 million increase in power marketing, wholesale and
interchange revenues and a $27.7 million increase in residential and commercial electric sales revenues. Power marketing, wholesale and interchange revenues
increased primarily as a result of increased sales volumes, offset by lower wholesale prices. Favorable weather conditions and a slight increase in the number of
utility customers contributed to the increase in residential and commercial electric sales revenues, which were offset by lower retail rates and decreased industrial
revenues related to weak economic conditions.
 

Cost of sales decreased $15.4 million, or 4%, due primarily to a $14.6 million decrease in purchased power expense. Purchased power expense decreased
due primarily to the increased availability of our generating units and lower prices.
 

Gross profit increased $131.2 million, or 14%, for the reasons discussed above. This increase in gross profit also reflects the impact of the adoption of
SFAS No. 133 on January 1, 2001. This new standard required that we report a $31.0 million gain in 2001 on certain derivative contracts (derivatives) as a
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle rather than include the gain in gross profit. All gains and losses after January 1, 2001 on our derivatives that
are not designated as hedges are reflected in gross profit. Had we included the $31.0 million gain in revenues in 2001, gross profit would have increased $100.1
million rather than $131.2 million.
 

Operating expenses increased $69.0 million, or 10%, due primarily to the charges associated with the network integration transmission tariff, reserve for
potential liabilities to Mr. Wittig and Mr. Lake, employee severance costs related to the work force reduction and the compensation expense associated with an
exchange of previously granted restricted share units as discussed in Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Employee Benefit Plans —
Stock Based Compensation Plans.” These increases were partially offset by a $13.4 million decrease in depreciation expense related to the change in depreciation
rates as discussed above in “— Critical Accounting Policies — Depreciation.” In addition, our maintenance expense declined $22.6 million, or 19%, due
primarily to the lower forced outage rates of our generating units.
 

Due to the above factors, income from utility operations increased $62.2 million, or 29%. A decrease in other expense of $22.3 million was due primarily
to recording a non-cash mark-to-market charge on the call option of the putable/callable notes as discussed in “— Liquidity and Capital Resources” below. EBIT
increased $39.9 million as a result.
 

37



Table of Contents

 
2001 compared to 2000: Energy sales decreased $52.3 million, or 4%. Residential sales declined 7% and power marketing, wholesale and interchange

sales declined 11%. Residential sales decreased due to weather conditions and our rate decrease, while power marketing, wholesale and interchange sales
decreased because of lower prices and more power available in the market. Cost of sales increased $13.7 million, or 4%, which was due principally to an increase
in our natural gas fuel expenses resulting from the purchase of fuel for new generating units that began operating during 2001.
 

As a result of the decline in sales and the increase in cost of sales, gross profit decreased $66.0 million, or 7%. This decline in gross profit also reflects the
impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 133 on January 1, 2001. This new standard required that we report a $31.0 million gain on certain derivatives as a cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle rather than include the gain in gross profit. Had we been permitted to classify this accounting change as an increase to
revenues, gross profit would have declined by $35.0 million rather than $66.0 million.
 

Operating expenses increased $45.7 million due primarily to recording approximately $8.7 million of costs associated with the terminated Public Service
Company of New Mexico merger transaction, approximately $14.3 million in employee-severance costs related to the 2001 work force reductions, an increase in
our pension and benefit expenses and an increase in general maintenance expenses.
 

Monitored Services
 Protection One and Protection One Europe comprise our monitored services business segment. The results discussed below reflect monitored services on a
stand-alone basis. These results take into consideration Protection One’s minority interest of approximately 12% at December 31, 2002, 13% at December 31,
2001, and 15% at December 31, 2000. As discussed above, our monitored services operations will be reported as discontinued operations as required by of SFAS
No. 144 during the first quarter of 2003.
 

Details concerning EBIT and assets attributable to our monitored services segment are as follows:
 

 
  

For the years ended December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

   (In Thousands)
Sales   $ 347,967  $ 408,330  $ 529,584
Depreciation and amortization    98,111   225,133   245,297
Losses before interest and taxes    369,848   77,074   5,678

 
  

December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

   (In Thousands)
Identifiable assets   $ 638,936  $ 1,883,786  $ 2,175,706

 
2002 compared to 2001: Sales decreased $60.4 million due primarily to a decline in the average customer base and the renewal of existing customers for

extended contract periods with a lower monthly rate. The monitored services segment experienced a net decline of 62,656 customers in 2002, which is
attributable primarily to customer attrition. Although net customers decreased for the year, Protection One had a favorable decline in attrition in 2002 compared to
2001 due to the reasons discussed in “— Other Information — Monitored Services — Attrition” below.
 

Protection One expects that the decline in its customer base will continue until the efforts it is making to generate new accounts and reduce attrition become
more successful than they have been to date. Until it is able to reverse this trend, net losses of customer accounts will materially and adversely affect its business,
financial condition and results of operations. For 2003, Protection One’s focus is on improving returns on invested capital by realizing economies of scale from
increasing customer density in the largest urban markets in the United States. It plans to accomplish this by improving customer retention. See “— Other
Information — Monitored Services — Attrition” below for additional information.
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Cost of sales decreased $11.9 million due primarily to a reduction of telecommunication costs and consolidation of Protection One’s monitoring functions.

Operating expenses increased $310.4 million due primarily to the 2002 impairment charges. Partially offsetting the increase in operating expenses was a decline
in depreciation and amortization expense, which reflects a reduction in customer account amortization related to the impairment charges and elimination of
goodwill amortization due to the implementation of SFAS No. 142. Also partially offsetting the increase in operating expenses were reductions in professional
fees and outside services because of the completion of system integration projects and lower legal costs, a decrease in wage expense because of consolidation
efforts, and a decline in bad debt expense and collection costs.
 

As a result of the decline in gross profit and the increase in operating expenses, loss before interest and taxes increased $292.8 million. Monitored services’
total assets decreased approximately $1.2 billion primarily as a result of the impairment of goodwill and customer account assets.
 

2001 compared to 2000: Sales decreased $121.3 million due primarily to a decline in the monitored services segment’s average customer base and the
disposition of certain operations. The monitored services segment experienced a net decline of 272,549 customers in 2001. This decrease in customers is
attributable primarily to customer attrition and a decrease of 63,875 customers due to the disposition of operations. Additionally, the number of Protection One
customers declined by 62,443 customers due to the conversion of accounts to a common billing and monitoring system. This new system reports number of
customer accounts on the basis of one customer for every location provided service even if Protection One has separate contracts to provide multiple services at a
given location. Previous systems utilized a number of different billing and monitoring software programs, some of which would count each separate contracted
service as a separate account regardless of location.
 

Loss before interest and taxes increased $71.4 million due primarily to the decrease in sales. Cost of sales decreased $41.7 million due primarily to the
discontinuation of Protection One’s patrol services in May 2001, consolidation of Protection One customer monitoring facilities, a reduction of Protection One’s
telecommunications expense, consolidation of monitoring and customer service functions and the decline in customer accounts caused by dispositions of
operations and attrition. See “— Other Information — Monitored Services — Attrition” below for additional information.
 

Other
 Other includes an approximate 45% interest in ONEOK at December 31, 2002, and other investments in the aggregate not material to our business or
results of operations. Details concerning EBIT attributable to this segment are as follows:
 

 
  

For the years ended December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

   (In Thousands)
Sales   $ 252  $ 1,359  $ 1,484
Depreciation and amortization    58   364   2,116
Earnings (losses) before interest and taxes    68,491   23,936   169,211

 
  

December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

   (In Thousands)
Identifiable assets   $ 770,834  $ 816,919  $ 664,774

 
2002 compared to 2001: Sales shown above are from a paging services business that was sold in the first quarter of 2002. EBIT increased approximately

$44.6 million primarily as a result of greater investment earnings, which increased $32.8 million as a result of the receipt of a one-time payment of approximately
$14.2 million related to a partial recovery of an investment and the $11.1 million write down in 2001 of the cost basis to the fair value of certain securities held
for investment. We also had a $16.3 million decline on the loss on the extinguishment of debt.
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2001 compared to 2000: EBIT decreased approximately $145.3 million due to various events affecting investment earnings in 2001 and 2000. Investment

earnings in 2001 included $41.8 million of ONEOK investment income and a $5.3 million gain related to the sale of an investment. These earnings were reduced
by an $11.1 million write down in 2001 of the cost basis to the fair value of certain securities held for investment and other investments. Investment earnings in
2000 included $45.3 million of ONEOK investment income, a $91.1 million gain from the sale of our investment in a gas compression company, a $9.6 million
gain related to an investment and a $24.9 million gain from the sale of investments in paging companies.
 
WESTAR ENERGY CONSOLIDATED
 The following discussion addresses changes in other items affecting net income for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.
 
Interest Expense
 2002 compared to 2001
 Interest expense increased $8.5 million due primarily to higher interest rates. In 2002, we refinanced short-term debt with long-term debt issued at interest
rates higher than the interest rate on the short-term debt. The weighted average interest rate on debt outstanding increased to 6.34% at December 31, 2002 from
3.43% at December 31, 2001.
 

2001 compared to 2000
 Interest expense decreased $20.7 million due to lower interest rates and lower outstanding debt at Protection One. The weighted average interest rate on our
$500 million revolving credit facility that was retired with proceeds from the May 10, 2002 and June 6, 2002 debt refinancings declined to 3.43% at December
31, 2001 from 8.11% at December 31, 2000.
 
Income Taxes
 2002 compared to 2001
 Income taxes decreased $89.3 million in 2002 compared to 2001. This was due primarily to the increased loss before income taxes and flow through tax
benefits associated with our security business. Our overall effective tax rate changed from a 64.0% benefit in 2001 to a 48.7% benefit in 2002. The change in our
effective tax rate was due primarily to decreased earnings before income taxes and flow through tax benefits associated with our security business, including
minority interest share of tax benefits and goodwill impairment. Other flow through tax benefits from dividends received, low income housing tax credits, the
amortization of prior years’ investment tax credits, tax reserve adjustment and the tax benefits from corporate owned life insurance contributed to this change in
the effective tax rate.
 

2001 compared to 2000
 Income taxes decreased $140.7 million in 2001 compared to 2000. This was due primarily to having a loss before income taxes in 2001. Our overall
effective tax rate changed from a 33.9% expense in 2000 to a 64.0% benefit in 2001. The change in our effective tax rate was due primarily to having a loss
before income taxes in 2001. The tax benefit from having a loss, combined with flow through net tax benefits from dividends received, low income housing tax
credits, the amortization of prior years’ investment tax credits, the amortization of non-deductible goodwill, the effect of state income taxes and the tax benefits
from corporate owned life insurance created this swing in the effective tax rate.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
 Overview
 We believe we will have sufficient cash to fund future operations of our business, debt reductions, including the annual $100 million debt reductions in
2003 and 2004 ordered by the KCC, and the payment of dividends, from a combination of cash on hand, cash flow, proceeds from the sales of our non-utility and
non-core assets and available borrowings under our revolving credit facility. Uncertainties affecting our ability to meet these requirements include, among others,
the factors affecting sales described above, economic conditions, including the impact of inflation on operating expenses, regulatory actions, including the KCC
orders received in the last quarter of 2002 and first quarter of 2003, our ability to implement the Debt Reduction Plan, compliance with future environmental
regulations and the impact of our monitored services’ operations and financial condition.
 

As of December 31, 2002, our total outstanding long-term debt was approximately $3.4 billion, of which approximately $3.0 billion was the obligation of
our utility operations. In addition, as of December 31, 2002, our long-term liabilities included $214.5 million related to outstanding mandatorily redeemable
preferred securities. This large amount of indebtedness could have a negative impact on, among other things, our ability to obtain additional financing in the
future for working capital, capital expenditures and general corporate purposes and our ability to withstand a downturn in our business or the economy in general.
 

At December 31, 2002, current maturities of long-term debt increased $148.8 million from 2001 due primarily to the upcoming maturities of the Kansas
Gas and Electric Company (KGE) 7.6% first mortgage bonds that are due December 15, 2003 and the putable/callable notes due on August 15, 2003. We have
irrevocably deposited with the bond trustee funds sufficient to provide for the future principal and interest payments on these 7.6% first mortgage bonds.
 
Capital Resources
 We had $123 million in cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2002. We consider cash equivalents to be highly liquid investments with a maturity of
three months or less when purchased. At December 31, 2002, we also had $159 million of restricted cash classified as a current asset and $35.8 million of
restricted cash classified as a long-term asset. The following table details our restricted cash as of December 31, 2002:
 

 
  

Restricted Cash
Current Portion

    

Restricted Cash
Long-term Portion

   (In Thousands)
Funds in trust for debt repayments   $ 145,260    $ —  
Protection One worker’s compensation    2,615     —  
Prepaid capacity and transmission agreement    2,110     30,161
Collateralized letters of credit    —       3,400
Collateralized surety bonds    —       2,199
Cash held in escrow as required by certain letters of credit and various

other deposits    9,021     —  
       

Total   $ 159,006    $ 35,760
       

 
We had $149 million of available borrowings under our revolving credit facility at December 31, 2002.

 
The Debt Reduction Plan provides for a systematic disposal of our non-utility and non-core assets and, if necessary, a sale of our equity. The proceeds of

these transactions will be used to reduce debt. We may reduce debt pursuant to terms stated in the debt agreements or through open market purchases or tender
offers. We may engage a financial advisor to assist in completing debt repurchases in the most cost-effective manner.
 

We have registered debt securities for sale with the SEC. As of December 31, 2002, these included $400 million of unsecured senior notes, $500 million of
our first mortgage bonds, and $50 million of KGE first mortgage bonds. Any issuance of debt would require that we seek KCC approval.
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The Westar Energy mortgage prohibits additional first mortgage bonds from being issued (except in connection with certain refundings) unless Westar

Energy’s unconsolidated net earnings available for interest, depreciation and property retirement (which as defined, does not include earnings or losses
attributable to the ownership of securities of subsidiaries), for a period of 12 consecutive months within 15 months preceding the issuance, are not less than the
greater of twice the annual interest charges on, and 10% of the principal amount of, all first mortgage bonds outstanding after giving effect to the proposed
issuance. In addition, the issuance of bonds is subject to limitations based upon the amount of bondable property additions. As of December 31, 2002, $70.4
million principal amount of additional first mortgage bonds could be issued under the most restrictive provisions in the mortgage, except in connection with
refundings.
 

KGE’s mortgage prohibits additional first mortgage bonds from being issued (except in connection with certain refundings) unless KGE’s net earnings
before income taxes and before provision for retirement and depreciation of property for a period of 12 consecutive months within 15 months preceding the
issuance are not less than either two and one-half times the annual interest charges on, or 10% of the principal amount of, all KGE first mortgage bonds
outstanding after giving effect to the proposed issuance. In addition, the issuance of bonds is subject to limitations based upon the amount of bondable property
additions. As of December 31, 2002, approximately $302.5 million principal amount of additional KGE first mortgage bonds could be issued under the most
restrictive provisions in the mortgage.
 

We may from time to time issue equity securities in private transactions and public offerings. We have approximately 11.2 million shares of common stock
registered for sale with the SEC.
 
Cash Flows from (used in) Operating Activities
 Our primary sources of operating cash flows are the operations of our electric utility and monitored services businesses and dividends from our ONEOK
investment. Cash flows from operating activities increased $154.4 million to $372.7 million in 2002, from $218.3 million in 2001. This increase is mostly
attributable to an approximate $131.2 million increase in utility gross margin for 2002 compared to 2001.
 

Cash flows from operating activities decreased $252.2 million to $218.3 million in 2001, from $470.8 million in 2000. This decrease is mostly attributable
to changes in our working capital. Operating cash flows in 2001 also decreased due to the continued declines in Protection One’s and Protection One Europe’s
customer bases, which reduced our recurring monthly cash flow stream. Operating cash flows also decreased in 2001 as we purchased additional coal to restock
our inventory from the levels that existed in December 2000.
 
Cash Flows from (used in) Investing Activities
 In general, cash used for investing purposes relates to the growth and maintenance of the operations of our electric utility and monitored services
businesses. The utility business is capital intensive and requires significant investment in plant on an annual basis. We spent $126.8 million in 2002, $227.0
million in 2001 and $285.4 million in 2000 on net additions to utility property, plant and equipment, which included $52.2 million in 2001 and $87.7 million in
2000 for new generation facilities. We did not construct any new generation facilities in 2002. The monitored services business also requires significant capital
related to the generation of customer accounts. Investment in customer accounts amounted to $43.4 million in 2002, $23.1 million in 2001 and $45.7 million in
2000.
 

Investing cash flows were also impacted significantly by dispositions of monitored services businesses and the sale of marketable securities. These
activities provided cash of $16.8 million in 2002, $50.8 million in 2001 and $218.6 million in 2000.
 
Cash Flows from (used in) Financing Activities
 We used $203.6 million of net cash flows in 2002 for financing activities compared to net cash flows from financing activities of $22 million in 2001,
primarily due to the debt refinancings completed during 2002. In 2001, an increase in short-term debt was the principal source of cash flows from financing
activities. Cash from financing activities was used to fund the retirement of long-term debt, deposits to the trustee to provide for repayment of an obligation, the
acquisition of treasury stock, and the payment of dividends on our common stock. In 2000, we reduced our indicated annual dividend from $2.14 per share to
$1.20 per share. This reduction, and
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continued reinvestment of dividends by our shareholders through the dividend reinvestment program, resulted in a significant reduction in our net cash dividend
requirements.
 
Future Cash Requirements
 The November 8, 2002 KCC order requires us to reduce debt by $100 million annually in each of the next two years from internally generated cash flow.
While we believe we can generate this level of internally generated cash flow, if we fail to meet this requirement, the KCC may, among other things, require us to
reduce or eliminate our dividend or issue equity securities. In the Debt Reduction Plan, we anticipate meeting the $100 million debt reduction goal.
 

We have a potential obligation to make a cash payment related to the call option associated with our putable/callable notes. See “— Summary of
Significant Items — Call Option” above for additional information.
 

Our business requires significant capital investments. Through 2005, we expect we will need cash mostly for ongoing utility construction and maintenance
programs designed to maintain and improve facilities providing electric service. We do not anticipate needing additional generating capacity through 2005.
 

Capital expenditures for 2002 and anticipated capital expenditures for 2003 through 2005 are as follows:
 

 
  

Electric Utility

    

Monitored Services

  

Total

   (In Thousands)
2002   $ 126,763    $ 51,998  $ 178,761
2003    150,600     35,560   186,160
2004    175,600     36,580   212,180
2005    160,400     40,580   200,980

 
These estimates are prepared for planning purposes and will be revised from time to time as discussed in Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.” Actual expenditures will differ from our estimates.
 

Maturities of long-term debt as of December 31, 2002 are as follows:
 

Year

  

Principal
Amount

   (In Thousands)
2003 (a), (b)   $ 316,736
2004 (b)    302,132
2005    858,964
2006    110,676
2007    755,855
Thereafter    1,030,696
   
   $ 3,375,059
   

    

(a)    Includes $135 million in debt for which funds have been irrevocably     deposited
with the bond trustee to provide for repayment of the     obligation.

(b)    In addition, we are required to reduce utility debt by at least $100     million
annually in each of the next two years as ordered by the     KCC.

 
Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
 In the course of our business activities, we enter into a variety of contractual obligations and commercial commitments. Some of these result in direct
obligations that are reflected in our consolidated balance sheets while others are commitments, some firm and some based on uncertainties, that are not reflected
in our underlying
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consolidated financial statements. The obligations listed below do not include amounts for on-going needs for which no contractual obligations existed as of
December 31, 2002, and represent only amounts that we were contractually obligated to meet as of December 31, 2002.
 

Contractual Cash Obligations
 The following table summarizes the projected future cash payments for our contractual obligations existing at December 31, 2002:
 
Contractual Obligations

  

Total

   

2003

   

2004 - 2005

  

2006 - 2007

  

Thereafter

   (In Thousands)
Long-term debt excluding capital leases (a)   $3,347,703   $ 310,642   $1,148,982  $ 857,383  $ 1,030,696
Capital leases    30,633    5,581    10,849   10,186   4,017
Restricted cash deposited with the trustee for

defeasance (b)    (135,000)   (135,000)   —     —     —  
           
Adjusted long-term debt    3,243,336    181,223    1,159,831   867,569   1,034,713

Operating leases    692,605    61,484    103,052   140,922   387,147
Fossil fuel    2,076,427    177,203    298,281   243,705   1,357,238
Nuclear fuel    84,641    18,651    9,746   13,960   42,284
Call option on putable/callable notes    62,200    62,200    —     —     —  
Unconditional purchase obligations    32,225    24,475    7,739   11   —  
           

Total contractual obligations, including adjusted
    long-term debt   $6,191,434   $ 525,236   $1,578,649  $1,266,167  $ 2,821,382

           

(a)  See Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Long-Term Debt,” for individual long-term debt maturities.
(b)  See “— Future Cash Requirements” above for a description of funds that have been irrevocably deposited with the bond trustee for repayment of debt.
(c)  We have an obligation to reduce debt by $100 million annually in 2003 and 2004.
 

Long-term debt: Our long-term debt existing as of December 31, 2002 is debt that has a final maturity of January 1, 2003 or later (including current
maturities of long-term debt). See Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Long-Term Debt,” for detailed information.
 

Capital leases: We maintain capital leases in the ordinary course of our business activities. These leases primarily include those for vehicles and
equipment. See Note 25 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Leases,” for additional information.
 

Operating leases: We maintain operating leases in the ordinary course of our business activities. These leases include those for office space, operating
facilities, office equipment and operating equipment. These leases have various terms and expiration dates from 1 to 16 years. See Note 25 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, “Leases,” for additional information.
 

Fossil fuel: To supply a portion of the fossil fuel requirements for our generating plants, we have entered into various commitments to obtain and deliver
coal and for natural gas transportation. Some of these contracts contain provisions for price escalation and minimum purchase commitments. For additional
information, see Note 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Commitments and Contingencies — Fuel Commitments.”
 

Nuclear fuel: To supply a portion of the fuel requirements for Wolf Creek, we have entered into various commitments to obtain nuclear fuel consisting of
uranium concentrates, conversion and enrichment. See Note 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Commitments and Contingencies — Fuel
Commitments,” for more details.
 

Call option on putable/callable notes: For information concerning a potential liability under the call option related to the issuance of $400 million of our
putable/callable notes, see Note 14 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Call Option.”
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Unconditional purchase obligations: We use purchase obligations as part of our ongoing utility operations and construction program. Protection One’s

unconditional purchase obligations represent its contract tariff for telecommunication services. See Note 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
“Commitments and Contingencies — Purchase Orders and Contracts,” for additional information.
 

Commercial Commitments
 The following table summarizes our commercial commitments by date of expiration existing at December 31, 2002:
 

Commercial Commitments

  

Total
Amounts

Committed

  

2003

  

2004 - 2005

  

2006 - 2007

  

Thereafter

   (In Thousands)
Lines of credit   $ 1,000  $ —    $ 1,000  $ —    $ —  
Outstanding letters of credit    9,859   8,509   150   —     1,200
Guarantees    1,344   162   352   393   437
           

Total commercial commitments   $ 12,203  $ 8,671  $ 1,502  $ 393  $ 1,637
           

 
Lines of credit: Certain banks provide us a revolving credit facility on a committed basis totaling $150 million. As of December 31, 2002, borrowings on

the revolving credit facility were $1.0 million, leaving $149 million remaining under this facility. In addition, we have a commitment to Protection One for a line
of credit of up to $228.4 million. As of March 14, 2003, Protection One had borrowed $215.5 million under this facility, resulting in an undrawn commitment of
$12.9 million. This commitment is eliminated in consolidation and is therefore not included in the table above.
 

Outstanding letters of credit: We obtain letters of credit in the ordinary course of our operating activities for energy trading, worker’s compensation, an
aircraft lease and surety bonds. As of December 31, 2002, we had outstanding letters of credit of $1.2 million related to our power marketing and trading activities
and $8.7 million related to other operating activities.
 

Guarantees: In 1998, we issued a financial guarantee of an obligation of Onsite Energy Corporation under which our maximum liability was $1.3 million.
This guarantee was released in the first quarter of 2003.
 
Debt Covenants
 Our debt financing agreements require, among other restrictions, that we satisfy certain financial covenants. These debt instruments contain restrictions
based on EBITDA. The definition of EBITDA varies among the various indentures. EBITDA is generally derived by adding to income (loss) before income
taxes, the sum of interest expense and depreciation and amortization expense. However, under the varying definitions of the indentures, additional adjustments are
required. A violation of these restrictions would result in an event of default that would allow the lenders to declare all amounts outstanding immediately due and
payable. We are in compliance with these covenants. The most restrictive of these covenants in Westar Energy’s debt instruments are as follows:
 

 
•  Consolidated Leverage Ratio: Consolidated total debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) for the most recent

four consecutive quarters must be less than 6.00 to 1.00 at December 31, 2002 and 5.75 to 1.00 each quarter thereafter until June 2005. At December
31, 2002, our ratio was 5.13.

 
 

•  Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio: EBITDA to consolidated interest expense for the most recent four consecutive quarters must be greater than 2.00
to 1.00. At December 31, 2002, our ratio was 2.54.

 
 

•  Consolidated Debt to Total Capital Ratio: Consolidated total debt to consolidated total capital for the most recent quarter must be less than 0.65 to 1.00.
At December 31, 2002, our ratio was 0.618.
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The indentures governing Protection One’s public indebtedness require it to satisfy certain financial covenants in order to borrow additional funds. At

December 31, 2002, Protection One was in compliance with the covenants under its debt instruments. The most restrictive of these covenants in Protection One’s
debt instruments are as follows:
 
 

•  Total Debt to EBITDA Ratio: Total debt to annualized EBITDA for the most recent quarter must be less than 6.0 to 1.0. For the quarter ended
December 31, 2002, the ratio was 4.0 to 1.0.

 
 

•  EBITDA to Interest Expense Ratio: EBITDA to interest expense for the most recent quarter must be greater than 2.25 to 1.0. For the quarter ended
December 31, 2002, the ratio was 3.1 to 1.0.

 
 

•  Senior Debt to EBITDA Ratio: Senior debt to annualized EBITDA for the most recent quarter must be less than 4.0 to 1.0. For the quarter ended
December 31, 2002, the ratio was 2.9 to 1.0.

 
The indentures contain other covenants that impose operational restrictions on Protection One that are not as burdensome to Protection One as those listed

above, and none are based on credit ratings. A violation of the indenture covenants would result in an event of default that would allow the lenders to declare all
amounts outstanding immediately due and payable.
 

Following a change of control of Protection One, its revolving credit facility provided by Westar Industries becomes due in full. The holders of Protection
One’s senior subordinated discount notes and convertible notes have an optional redemption at approximately 101% of par, and holders of Protection One’s senior
notes and senior subordinated notes have an optional redemption at 101% of par if a change in control is coupled with two ratings downgrades.
 
Sale of Accounts Receivable
 On July 28, 2000, Westar Energy and KGE entered into an agreement under which we transfer an undivided percentage ownership interest in a revolving
pool of our accounts receivable arising from the sale of electricity to a multi-seller conduit administered by an independent financial institution through the use of
a special purpose entity (SPE). We account for this transfer as a sale in accordance with SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial
Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities.” The agreement was amended on July 25, 2002 and is annually renewable upon agreement by all parties. The
amendment to the agreement extended the term until July 23, 2003 and limited the amount of the accounts receivable we had a right to sell during certain periods
to $125 million.
 

Under the terms of the agreement, Westar Energy and KGE may transfer accounts receivable to the bankruptcy-remote SPE, and the conduit must purchase
from the SPE an undivided ownership interest of up to $125 million in those receivables. The SPE has been structured to be legally separate from us, but it is
wholly owned and consolidated. The percentage ownership interest in receivables purchased by the conduit may increase or decrease over time, depending on the
characteristics of the SPE’s receivables, including delinquency rates and debtor concentrations.
 

Under the terms of the agreement, the conduit pays the SPE the face amount of the undivided interest at the time of purchase. Subsequent to the initial
purchase, additional interests are sold and collections applied by the SPE to the conduit, resulting in an adjustment to the outstanding conduit interest.
 

We record administrative expense on the undivided interest owned by the conduit, which was $2.9 million for the year ended 2002, $5.4 million for the
year ended 2001 and $3.7 million for the year ended 2000. These expenses are included in other income (expense) in our consolidated statements of income.
 

The outstanding balance of SPE receivables was $48.2 million at December 31, 2002 and $43.3 million at December 31, 2001, which is net of an undivided
interest of $110.0 million and $100.0 million, respectively, in receivables sold by the SPE to the conduit. Our retained interest in the SPE’s receivables is reported
at fair value and is subordinate to, and provides credit enhancement for, the conduit’s ownership interest in the SPE’s receivables. Our retained interest is
available to the conduit to pay any fees or expenses due to the conduit and to absorb all credit losses incurred on any of the SPE’s receivables. The retained
interest is included in accounts receivable, net, in our consolidated balance sheets.
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A termination event will be triggered under the terms of the agreement if Westar Energy’s credit rating ceases to be at least BB- by Standard & Poor’s

Ratings Group (S&P) or if the issuer credit rating for Westar Energy ceases to be at least Ba3 by Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s). If a termination event
were to occur, the administrative agent would be required to give notice to us at least five business days prior to a termination of the facility. This notice provision
allows for the administrative agent to waive the termination event by not giving notice or, in the event notice is given, allows us to repay the facility.
 
Refinancings
 On May 10, 2002, we completed offerings for $365 million of our first mortgage bonds and $400 million of our unsecured senior notes, both of which will
be due on May 1, 2007. The first mortgage bonds bear interest at an annual rate of 7 7/8% and the unsecured senior notes bear interest at an annual rate of 9 3/4%.
Interest on the first mortgage bonds and unsecured senior notes is payable semi-annually on May 1 and November 1 of each year. The net proceeds from these
offerings were used to repay outstanding indebtedness of $547 million under our existing secured bank term loan, provide for the repayment of $100 million of
our 7.25% first mortgage bonds due August 15, 2002 together with accrued interest, reduce the outstanding balance on our existing secured revolving credit
facility and pay fees and expenses of the transactions. In conjunction with our May 10, 2002 financing, we amended our secured revolving credit facility to
reduce the total commitment under the facility to $400 million from $500 million and to release $100 million of our first mortgage bonds from collateral.
 

On June 6, 2002, we entered into a secured credit agreement providing for a $585 million term loan and a $150 million revolving credit facility, each
maturing on June 6, 2005, provided that if we have not refinanced or provided for the payment of our putable/callable notes due August 15, 2003, or our 6.875%
senior unsecured notes due August 1, 2004, at least 60 days prior to either of the respective due dates, the maturity date is the date 60 days prior to either of the
respective due dates. All loans under the credit agreement are secured by KGE’s first mortgage bonds. The proceeds of the term loan were used to retire an
existing $400 million revolving credit facility with an outstanding principal balance of $380 million, to provide for the repayment at maturity of $135 million
principal amount of KGE first mortgage bonds due December 15, 2003 together with accrued interest, to repurchase approximately $45 million of our outstanding
unsecured notes and to pay customary fees and expenses of the transactions.
 
Interest Rate Swap
 Effective October 4, 2001, we entered into a $500 million interest rate swap agreement with a term of two years. At that time, the effect of the swap
agreement was to fix the annual interest rate on the term loan at 6.18%. In June 2002, we refinanced the term loan associated with this swap, which increased the
effective rate of the swap to 6.43%. At December 31, 2002, the variable rate in effect for the term loan was 4.40%. Changes in the fair value of this cash flow
hedge are due to fluctuations in the variable interest rate.
 
Capital Structure
 Our consolidated capital structure at December 31, 2002 and 2001 was as follows:
 

 
  

2002

  

2001

Shareholders’ equity   22%  36%
Preferred stock   1     1   
Western Resources obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of subsidiary trusts,

holding solely company subordinated debentures   5     4   
Long-term debt, net   72     59   
     

Total   100%  100%
     

 
Dividend Policy
 Our board of directors reviews our common stock dividend policy from time to time. Among the factors the board of directors considers in determining
dividend policy are earnings, cash flows, capitalization ratios, regulation, including the KCC’s order requiring us to reduce our outstanding debt, competition and
financial loan covenants. In
 

47



Table of Contents

February 2003, we declared a first-quarter 2003 dividend of $0.19 per share. Our Articles of Incorporation restrict the payment of dividends or the making of
other distributions on our common stock while any preferred shares remain outstanding unless certain capitalization ratios and other conditions are met. See Note
20 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Common Stock, Preferred Stock and Other Mandatorily Redeemable Securities,” for a description of these
provisions. We do not expect these restrictions to have an impact on our ability to pay dividends on our common stock at the current rate.
 
Debt Repurchase Plans
 Protection One may, from time to time, purchase its debt and equity securities in the open market or through negotiated transactions. We may also purchase
our debt. The timing, terms of such purchases and amount of debt actually purchased will be determined based on KCC orders, market conditions and other
factors.
 
Equity Issuance Plans
 We may, from time to time, issue equity securities.
 
Credit Ratings
 S&P, Moody’s and Fitch Investors Service (Fitch) are independent credit-rating agencies that rate our debt securities. These ratings indicate the agencies’
assessment of our ability to pay interest and principal on our securities.
 

On April 2, 2002, Moody’s downgraded its ratings on Protection One’s outstanding securities with the outlook remaining negative. On April 29, 2002,
Moody’s confirmed our ratings with a negative outlook. On January 29, 2003, Fitch revised our and KGE’s Rating Watch status from evolving to negative, but on
March 11, 2003, Fitch affirmed its ratings for us and KGE and removed the ratings from Rating Watch Negative. Following the filing of the Debt Reduction Plan
with the KCC, S&P affirmed its ratings for us and KGE and removed all ratings from CreditWatch Negative, changing such designation to CreditWatch
Developing on February 6, 2003.
 

As of March 14, 2003, ratings with these agencies are as follows:
 

 

    

Westar
Energy

Mortgage
Bond

Rating

    

Westar
Energy

Unsecured
Debt

    

KGE
Mortgage

Bond
Rating

    

Protection One
Senior

Unsecured
Debt

    

Protection One
Senior

Subordinated
Unsecured Debt

S&P         BBB-         BB-         BB+         B                 CCC+
Fitch         BB+          BB-         BB+         CCC+     CCC-
Moody’s         Ba1           Ba2         Ba1         Caa1            Caa3

 
In general, declines in our credit ratings make debt financing more costly and more difficult to obtain on terms that are economically favorable to us.

Westar Energy and KGE do not have any credit rating conditions in any of the agreements under which our debt has been issued, except for conditions in the
agreements governing the sale of our accounts receivable discussed above.
 
OTHER INFORMATION
 Electric Utility
 Potential Sale of Utility Assets
 On October 14, 2002, we announced an agreement with Midwest Energy, Inc. (Midwest Energy) for the sale to Midwest Energy of a portion of our
transmission and distribution assets and rights to provide service to customers in an area of central Kansas. The sale will affect about 10,000 customers, or about
1.5% of our total customers, over 895 square miles. The area, which includes 42 towns, is on the west edge of our service territory and is largely surrounded by
Midwest Energy’s existing territory. The proposed sale is contingent upon approval by
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the KCC and FERC. KCC hearings have been scheduled to begin on May 20, 2003. We can give no assurance as to when or if this transaction will occur. From
time to time we may consider similar transactions.
 

City of Wichita Franchise
 KGE’s franchise with the City of Wichita to provide retail electric service is effective through December 1, 2003. We are currently negotiating with the
City of Wichita for a long-term franchise agreement. There can be no assurance that we can successfully renegotiate the franchise with terms similar, or as
favorable, as those in the current franchise. Under Kansas law, KGE will continue to have the right to serve the customers in Wichita following the expiration of
the franchise. Customers within the Wichita metropolitan area account for approximately 21% of our total energy sales volumes.
 

Network Integration Transmission Service
 Effective January 1, 2002, we began taking Network Integration Transmission Service under the SPP’s Open Access Transmission Tariff. This provides a
cost-effective way for us to participate in a broader market of generation resources with the possibility of lower transmission costs. This tariff provides for a zonal
rate structure, whereby transmission customers pay a pro rata share, in the form of a reservation charge, for the use of the facilities for each transmission owner
that serves them. As a result, the SPP has operational control over our transmission system, although we still own our transmission assets and maintain
responsibility for dispatching, maintenance and storm restoration.
 

Currently, all revenues collected within a zone are allocated back to the transmission owner serving the zone. Since we are a transmission provider for our
zone and are currently the only transmission customer taking service from that zone, we are currently being assessed 100% of the zonal costs and receiving all of
the costs back as revenue, less servicing fees. In 2002, these network integration transmission costs were approximately $65.9 million, and the associated
revenues were approximately $60.1 million, for a net expense of approximately $5.8 million. The revenues received are reflected in electric operating revenues,
and the related charges are expensed.
 

Stranded Costs
 Stranded costs for a utility business are commitments or investments in, and carrying costs on, property, plant and equipment, and other regulatory assets
that exceed the amount that can be recovered in a competitive market. We currently apply accounting standards that recognize the economic effects of rate
regulation and record regulatory assets and liabilities related to our electric utility operations. If we determine that we no longer meet the criteria of SFAS No. 71,
we may have a material non-cash charge to earnings. Reasons for discontinuing SFAS No. 71 accounting treatment include increasing competition that restricts
our ability to charge prices needed to recover costs already incurred or a significant change by regulators from a cost-based rate regulation to another form of rate
regulation. We periodically review SFAS No. 71 criteria and believe our net regulatory assets, including those related to generation, are probable of future
recovery. If we discontinue SFAS No. 71 accounting treatment based upon competitive or other events, such as successful municipalization by areas we serve, the
value of our net regulatory assets and our utility plant investments, particularly Wolf Creek, may be significantly impacted.
 

Regulatory changes could adversely impact our ability to recover our investment in these assets. As of December 31, 2002, we have recorded regulatory
assets that are currently subject to recovery in future rates of approximately $360.3 million. Of this amount, $198.9 million is a receivable for income tax benefits
previously passed on to customers. The remainder of the regulatory assets are items that may give rise to stranded costs, including debt issuance costs, deferred
employee benefit costs, deferred plant costs and coal contract settlement costs.
 

In a competitive environment, we may not be able to fully recover our entire investment in Wolf Creek. KGE presently owns 47% of Wolf Creek. We may
also have stranded costs from an inability to recover our environmental remediation costs and long-term fuel contract costs in a competitive environment. If we
determine that we have stranded costs and we cannot recover our investment in these assets, our future net utility income will be lower than our historical net
utility income has been unless we compensate for the loss of such income with other measures.
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EPA New Source Review

 The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) is conducting an enforcement initiative at a number of coal-fired power plants in an effort to determine
whether modifications at those facilities were subject to New Source Review requirements or New Source Performance Standards under the Clean Air Act. The
EPA has requested information from us under Section 114(a) of the Clean Air Act (Section 114). A Section 114 information request requires us to provide
responses to specific EPA questions regarding certain projects and maintenance activities that the EPA believes may have violated the New Source Performance
Standard and New Source Review requirements of the Clean Air Act. The EPA contends that power plants are required to update emission controls at the time of
major maintenance or capital activity. We believe that maintenance and capital activities performed at our power plants are generally routine in nature and are
typical for the industry. We are complying with this information request, but cannot predict the outcome of this investigation at this time. Should the EPA
determine to take action, the resulting additional costs to comply could be material. We would expect to seek recovery through rates of any settlement amounts.
 

The EPA has initiated civil enforcement actions against other unaffiliated utilities as part of its initiative. Settlement agreements entered into in connection
with some of these actions have provided for expenditures to be made over extended time periods.
 

Superfund Sites
 In December 1999, we were identified as one of more than 1,000 potentially responsible parties at an EPA Superfund site in Kansas City, Kansas (Kansas
City site). Based upon previous experience and the limited nature of our business transactions with the previous owners of the site, our obligation, if any, at the
Kansas City site is not expected to have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.
 

Nuclear Decommissioning
 Decommissioning is a nuclear industry term for the permanent shutdown of a nuclear power plant and the removal of radioactive components in
accordance with Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) requirements. The NRC will terminate a plant’s license and release the property for unrestricted use
when a company has reduced the residual radioactivity of a nuclear plant to a level mandated by the NRC. The NRC requires companies with nuclear plants to
prepare formal financial plans to fund decommissioning. These plans are designed so that funds required for decommissioning will be accumulated prior to the
termination of the license of the related nuclear power plant.
 

We accrue decommissioning costs over the expected life of the Wolf Creek generating facility. The accrual is based on estimated unrecovered
decommissioning costs, which consider inflation over the remaining estimated life of the generating facility and are net of expected earnings on amounts
recovered from customers and deposited in an external trust fund.
 

The KCC reviews our decommissioning fund financial plans in two phases. Phase one is the approval of the decommissioning study, the current year dollar
amount and the future year dollar amount. Phase two is the filing of a “funding schedule” by the owner of the nuclear facility detailing its plans of how to fund
the future year dollar amount for the pro rata share of the plant.
 

On February 25, 2002, we filed an application with the KCC to modify the funding schedule to reflect an assumed life of Wolf Creek through 2045 (see
Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Rate Matters and Regulation”). This modification was granted on March 8, 2002. The filing reflects
the current estimate in 1999 dollars of $221 million, but a future estimate in 2045 through 2054 of $1.28 billion. An updated decommissioning and dismantlement
cost estimate was filed with the KCC on August 30, 2002. Costs outlined by this study were developed to decommission Wolf Creek following a shutdown. The
analyses relied upon the site-specific, technical information developed in 1999, updated to reflect current plant conditions and operating assumptions. Based on
this study, our share of Wolf Creek’s decommissioning costs, under the immediate dismantlement method, is estimated to be approximately $220 million in 2002
dollars. These costs include decontamination, dismantling and site restoration and are not inflated, escalated, or discounted over the period of expenditure. We
anticipate a KCC order on the August 2002 decommissioning study in the second quarter of 2003. The actual decommissioning costs may vary from the estimates
because of changes in technology and changes in costs for labor, materials and equipment.
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We will file a funding schedule to reflect the KCC’s order on the August 2002 decommissioning study by the end of the second quarter of 2003 and

anticipate a KCC order on the funding schedule in the third quarter of 2003.
 

Decommissioning costs are currently being charged to operating expense in accordance with the July 25, 2001 KCC rate order as modified by the KCC’s
approval of the March 8, 2002 funding schedule. Electric rates charged to customers provide for recovery of these decommissioning costs over the life of Wolf
Creek as determined by the KCC through 2045. The NRC requires that funds to meet its decommissioning funding assurance requirement be in our
decommissioning fund by the time our license expires in 2025. We believe that the KCC approved funding level will be sufficient to meet the NRC minimum
financial assurance requirement. However, our results of operations would be materially adversely affected if we are not allowed to recover the full amount of the
funding requirement.
 

Amounts expensed approximated $3.85 million in 2002 and will remain unchanged through 2044, subject to the August 2002 decommissioning cost review
and revised funding schedule to be filed in the second quarter of 2003. These amounts are deposited in an external trust fund. The average after-tax expected
return on trust assets is 5.56%.
 

Our investment in the decommissioning fund is recorded at fair value, including reinvested earnings. It approximated $63.5 million at December 31, 2002
and $66.6 million at December 31, 2001. The balance in the trust fund decreased from 2001 to 2002 due to the decline in the market value of equity securities
held in the trust. Trust fund earnings accumulate in the fund balance and increase the recorded decommissioning liability.
 

Asset Retirement Obligations
 In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” SFAS No. 143 provides accounting requirements for the
recognition and measurement of liabilities associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets. Under the standard, these liabilities will be recognized at
fair value as incurred and capitalized and depreciated over the appropriate period as part of the cost of the related tangible long-lived assets. The adoption of
SFAS No. 143 will not impact income. Any income effects are offset by a regulatory asset created pursuant to SFAS No. 71. Retirement obligations associated
with long-lived assets included within the scope of SFAS No. 143 are those for which a legal obligation exists under enacted laws, statutes, written or oral
contracts, including obligations arising under the doctrine of promissory estoppel.
 

We adopted SFAS No. 143 on January 1, 2003, which required us to recognize and estimate the liability for our 47% share of the estimated cost to
decommission Wolf Creek. SFAS No. 143 requires the recognition of the present value of the asset retirement obligation we incurred at the time Wolf Creek was
placed into service in 1985. On January 1, 2003, we recorded an asset retirement obligation of $74.7 million. In addition, we increased our property and
equipment balance, net of accumulated depreciation, by $10.7 million. These amounts were estimated based on the calculation guidelines of SFAS No. 143. We
also established a regulatory asset for $64.0 million, which represents the accretion of the liability since 1985 and the increased depreciation expense associated
with the increase in plant.
 
Monitored Services
 Impairment Charges
 Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142 and SFAS No. 144. SFAS No. 142 establishes new standards for accounting for goodwill. SFAS No.
142 continues to require the recognition of goodwill as an asset, but discontinues amortization of goodwill. In addition, annual impairment tests must be
performed using a fair-value based approach as opposed to an undiscounted cash flow approach required under prior standards. The completion of the impairment
tests, based upon a valuation performed by an independent appraisal firm, as of January 1, 2002, indicated that the carrying values of goodwill at Protection One
and Protection One Europe had been impaired and impairment charges were recorded as discussed below.
 

Another impairment test of Protection One’s goodwill and customer accounts was completed as of July 1, 2002 (the date selected for Protection One’s
annual impairment test), with the independent appraisal firm providing
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the valuation of the estimated fair value of Protection One’s reporting units, and no impairment was indicated. Protection One’s stock price declined after
regulatory orders were issued (see Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Rate Matters and Regulation”), including the KCC’s December 23,
2002, order. As a result, Protection One retained the independent appraisal firm to perform an additional valuation of Protection One’s reporting units so it could
perform an impairment test as of December 31, 2002, which resulted in the additional impairment charge discussed below.
 

SFAS No. 144 established a new approach to determining whether our customer account asset is impaired. The approach no longer permits us to evaluate
our customer account asset for impairment based on the net undiscounted cash flow stream obtained over the remaining life of goodwill associated with the
customer accounts being evaluated. Rather, the cash flow stream used under SFAS No. 144 is limited to future estimated undiscounted cash flows from assets in
the asset group, which include customer accounts, the primary asset of the reporting unit, plus an estimated amount for the sale of the remaining assets within the
asset group (including goodwill). If the undiscounted cash flow stream from the asset group is less than the combined book value of the asset group, then we are
required to mark the customer account asset down to fair value, by recording an impairment, to the extent fair value is less than our book value. To the extent net
book value is less than fair value, no impairment would be recorded.
 

The new rule substantially reduces the net undiscounted cash flows for customer account impairment evaluation purposes as compared to the previous
accounting rules. The undiscounted cash flow stream has been reduced from the 16 year remaining life of the goodwill to the nine year remaining life of customer
accounts for impairment evaluation purposes. Using these new guidelines, we determined that there was an indication of impairment of the carrying value of the
customer accounts and an impairment charge was recorded as discussed below.
 

To implement the new standards, an independent appraisal firm was engaged to help management estimate the fair values of Protection One’s and
Protection One Europe’s goodwill and customer accounts. Based on this analysis, we recorded a charge in the first quarter of 2002 of approximately $749.3
million (net of tax benefit and minority interests), of which $555.4 million was related to goodwill and $193.9 million was related to customer accounts.
 

The impairment charge for goodwill recorded in the first quarter of 2002 is reflected in our consolidated statement of income as a cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle. The impairment charge for customer accounts is reflected in our consolidated statement of income as an operating expense. These
impairment charges reduce the recorded value of these assets to their estimated fair values at January 1, 2002.
 

Protection One completed an additional impairment test of goodwill as of December 31, 2002. We recorded an impairment charge of $79.7 million, net of
tax benefit and minority interests, in the fourth quarter of 2002 to reflect the impairment of all remaining goodwill of Protection One’s North America segment,
which is reflected in our consolidated statement of income as an operating expense.
 

We solicited and received indications of value for Protection One Europe from potential buyers. These indications of value are within a range we would be
willing to accept. They indicated the recorded goodwill of Protection One Europe had no value. Accordingly, we recorded a $36 million impairment charge in the
fourth quarter of 2002 to reflect the impairment of all remaining goodwill at Protection One Europe, which is reflected in our consolidated statement of income as
an operating expense. We are willing to accept offers in the indicated range due to our ability to use the tax loss on this sale to offset the taxes that would
otherwise be due from our sale of other investments. We will recognize a $58 million tax benefit in the first quarter of 2003 when Protection One Europe is
classified as a discontinued operation.
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These charges for the year ended December 31, 2002, are detailed as follows:

 

 
  

Impairment of
Goodwill

    

Impairment of
Customer Accounts

  

Total

 
   (In Thousands)  
Protection One   $ 719,885    $ 339,974  $ 1,059,859 
Protection One Europe    116,154     —     116,154 
         
Total pre-tax impairment   $ 836,039    $ 339,974   1,176,013 
            

Income tax benefit              (203,958)
Minority interest              (107,172)
             
Net charge             $ 864,883 
             

 
The investment at cost in customer accounts at December 31, 2002 was $1.1 billion and at December 31, 2001 was approximately $1.4 billion.

Accumulated amortization of the investment in customer accounts at December 31, 2002 was $678.9 million and at December 31, 2001 was $614.5 million. We
recorded approximately $83.3 million of customer account amortization expense during the year ended December 31, 2002, $148.0 million during the same
period of 2001 and $158.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2000. Customer account amortization expense is reduced primarily as a result of the
impairment charge that reduced our customer account balance. The table below reflects the estimated aggregate customer account amortization expense for 2003
and each of the four succeeding fiscal years.
 

 
  

2003

  

2004

  

2005

  

2006

  

2007

   (In Thousands)
Estimated amortization expense   $ 83,389  $ 83,282  $ 66,998  $ 66,641  $ 60,320

 
We are required to perform impairment tests for long-lived assets prospectively for our monitored services segment as long as it continues to incur

recurring losses or for other matters that may negatively impact its businesses. Goodwill will be required to be tested upon certain triggering events, which
include recurring operating losses, adverse business conditions, adverse regulatory rulings, declines in market values and other matters that negatively impact
value. Given the potentially negative implications from the KCC’s December 23, 2002 order, and the subsequent decline in Protection One’s stock price,
Protection One tested its goodwill for impairment at December 31, 2002, which resulted in the additional impairment charge discussed above. If future
impairment tests for either goodwill or customer accounts indicate fair value is less than book value, we will be required to recognize additional impairment
charges on these assets in the future. Any such impairment charges could be material.
 

Change in Estimate of Customer Life
 During the first quarter of 2002, Protection One evaluated the estimated life and amortization rates for customer accounts, based on the results of a lifing
study performed by a third party appraisal firm in the first quarter of 2002. The report showed Protection One’s North America customer pool can expect a
declining revenue stream over the next 30 years with an estimated average remaining life of 9 years. Protection One’s Multifamily pool can expect a declining
revenue stream over the next 30 years with an estimated average remaining life of 10 years. Taking into account the results of the lifing study and the inherent
expected declining revenue streams for the North America and Multifamily customer pools, in particular the first five years, Protection One adjusted the rate of
amortization on customer accounts for its North America and Multifamily customer pools to better match the rate and period of amortization expense with the
expected decline in revenues. In the first quarter of 2002, Protection One changed its amortization rate for its North America pool to a 10-year 135% declining
balance method from a 10-year 130% declining balance method. For the Multifamily pool, Protection One will continue to amortize on a straight-line basis
utilizing a shorter nine year life. Protection One accounted for these amortization changes prospectively beginning January 1, 2002, as a change in estimate.
These changes in estimates increased amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2002 by approximately $0.8 million, net of $0.5 million tax.
 

Attrition
 Customer attrition has a direct impact on the results of our monitored services operations since it affects its revenues, amortization expense and cash flow.
Attrition is defined as a ratio, the numerator of which is the gross
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number of lost customer accounts for a given period, net of the adjustments described below, and the denominator of which is the average number of accounts for
a given period. In some instances, estimates are used to derive attrition data. Adjustments are made to lost accounts primarily for the net change, either positive or
negative, in the wholesale base and for accounts that are covered under a purchase price holdback and are “put” back to the seller. The gross accounts lost during
a period are reduced by the amount of the guarantee provided for in the purchase agreements with sellers. In some cases, the amount of the purchase holdback
may be less than actual attrition experience. Adjustments to lost accounts for purchase holdbacks is expected to be lower in the future because Protection One is
purchasing fewer accounts in the types of transactions that create holdbacks and it has extinguished a substantial portion of its purchase holdback reserve. The
gross accounts lost during a period are not reduced by “move in” accounts, which are accounts where a new customer moves into the premises equipped with a
Protection One security system and vacated by a prior customer, or “competitive takeover” accounts, which are accounts where the owner of a premise monitored
by a competitor requests that we provide monitoring services.
 

Actual attrition experience shows that the relationship period with any individual customer can vary significantly. Customers’ service can be discontinued
for a variety of reasons, including relocation, non-payment, customers’ perception of value and competition. A portion of the acquired customer base can be
expected to discontinue service every year. Any significant change in the pattern of historical attrition experience would have a material effect on our results of
operations from monitored services.
 

Attrition is monitored each quarter based on an annualized and trailing twelve-month basis. This method utilizes the average customer account base for the
applicable period in measuring attrition. Therefore, in periods of customer account growth, customer attrition may be understated and in periods of customer
account decline, customer attrition may be overstated.
 

Customer attrition for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 is summarized below.
 

 
  

Customer Account Attrition

 
  

December 31, 2002

  

December 31, 2001

  

December 31, 2000

 

  

Annualized
Fourth

Quarter

  

Trailing
Twelve
Month

  

Annualized
Fourth
Quarter

  

Trailing
Twelve
Month

  

Annualized
Fourth

Quarter

  

Trailing
Twelve
Month

Protection One   11.9%  11.2%  18.5%  15.5%  15.2%  14.2%
Protection One Europe   15.2%  13.5%  10.3%  10.2%  11.4%  12.1%

 
Our monitored services segment had a net decrease of 62,656 customers from December 31, 2001 to December 31, 2002. Attrition decreased at Protection

One in 2002 compared to 2001 for a variety of reasons, including:
 
 •  An aggressive campaign dubbed “Save Our Subscribers,” designed to retain existing customers.
 
 •  An emphasis on customer service and attrition reduction by branch and monitoring center personnel.
 
 •  Legal action taken against competitors who illegally solicit our customers.
 
Related Party Transactions
 Below, we describe significant transactions between us and Westar Industries and some of our other subsidiaries and related parties. We have disclosed
these significant transactions even if they have been eliminated in the preparation of our consolidated results and financial position.
 

ONEOK Shared Services Agreement
 We and ONEOK have shared services agreements in which we provide and bill one another for facilities, utility field work, information technology,
customer support, meter reading and bill processing. Payments for these services are based on various hourly charges, negotiated fees and out-of-pocket expenses.
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2002

  

2001

  

2000

   (In Thousands)
Charges to ONEOK   $ 8,357  $ 8,202  $ 8,463
Charges from ONEOK    3,324   3,279   3,420

Net receivable from ONEOK, outstanding at December 31    1,457   1,424   1,205
 

ONEOK gave us notice of termination effective December 2003 of this shared services agreement. We expect termination of this agreement will increase
our annual costs to provide these services by approximately $11 million to $13 million.
 

Protection One Shared Services Agreement
 We provide administrative services to Protection One pursuant to services agreements, including accounting, tax, audit, human resources, legal, purchasing,
facilities and technology services. Fees for these services are based upon various hourly charges, negotiated fees and out-of-pocket expenses. Protection One
incurred charges of $3.9 million in 2002, $8.1 million in 2001 and $7.3 million in 2000. These intercompany charges have been eliminated in consolidation.
 

Westar Energy and Protection One have entered into an amended service agreement that stipulates that if Westar Energy sells its interest in Protection One,
Westar Energy and Protection One will negotiate, in good faith, the terms and conditions for continuation of the services during an agreed-upon transition period.
This agreement is subject to KCC approval, which has not yet been received.
 

Transactions Between Westar Industries and Subsidiaries
 Protection One Credit Facility
 Westar Industries is the lender under Protection One’s senior credit facility. The senior credit facility was amended to increase the capacity from $155
million to $280 million during the year ended December 31, 2002. On August 26, 2002, the senior credit facility was further amended to extend the maturity date
to January 5, 2004. On March 11, 2003, the KCC limited the amount of the credit facility to $228.4 million, authorized us to fund the facility and extend the term
of the facility to January 5, 2005 and required the facility to be paid in full and terminated upon the disposition of all or part of our investment in Protection One.
We are in discussions with Protection One about the extension of the facility and we intend to renew the facility through January 5, 2005, should such renewal be
necessary to provide Protection One with continued liquidity. For further information, see Note 34 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
“Subsequent Events.”
 

As of December 31, 2002, $215.5 million was drawn under the facility. The remaining availability under this facility as of December 31, 2002 was $64.5
million. At March 14, 2003, Protection One had outstanding borrowings of $215.5 million and $12.9 million of remaining capacity. Amounts outstanding,
accrued interest and facility fees have been eliminated in our consolidated financial statements.
 

Purchases of Securities
 Westar Industries, Protection One and we have purchased our and Protection One debt securities and preferred stock in the open market. These repurchases
have been accounted for as retirements on a consolidated basis. The table below summarizes these transactions for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000.
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December 31,

 
  

2002

   

2001

  

2000

   (In Thousands)
Westar Energy              

Bonds:              

Face value   $ 333,082   $ 30,140  $ —  
       

Gain on purchase    13,514    1,395   —  
Loss on mark to market at retirement(a)    16,835    —     —  
Tax (benefit) expense    (1,321)    555   —  

       
Total (loss) gain, net of tax   $ (2,000)   $ 840  $ —  

       

Mandatorily redeemable preferred securities:              

Face value   $ 5,495   $ —    $ —  
       

Gain on purchase    1,780    —     —  
Tax expense    708    —     —  

       
Total gain, net of tax   $ 1,072   $ —    $ —  

       

Preferred stock:              

Face value   $ 2,500   $ 921  $ —  
       

Gain on purchase    991    389   —  
Tax expense    394    155   —  

       
Total gain, net of tax   $ 597   $ 234  $ —  

       

Protection One              
              

Bonds:              

Face value(b), (c)   $ 119,510   $ 90,204  $ 200,489
       

Gain on purchase    19,832    34,332   75,755
Tax expense    6,941    12,016   26,514

       
Total gain, net of tax   $ 12,891   $ 22,316  $ 49,241

       

 
(a) Represents the fair value of a call option associated with our putable/callable notes (see Note 14 of the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements, “Call Option”).
 

 
(b) In 2001, $37.9 million of these bonds were purchased by Westar Industries and $27.6 million of these were transferred

to Protection One in exchange for cash.
 

 
(c) In 2000, $170.0 million of these bonds were purchased by Westar Industries and $103.9 million of these were

transferred to Protection One in exchange for cash and the settlement of certain intercompany payables and receivables.
 

 
See Note 26 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Gain on Debt Retirements,” for information about a change in accounting treatment that

requires that gains and losses arising from the purchases and sales of these securities be recorded as other income rather than as an extraordinary item. See Note
34 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Subsequent Events — Purchase of Stock from Protection One” and “Subsequent Events — Purchases of
Debt Securities,” for information regarding purchases of securities that have occurred during 2003.
 

Tax Sharing Agreement
 We have a tax sharing agreement with Protection One. This pro rata tax sharing agreement allows Protection One to be reimbursed for current tax benefits
utilized in our consolidated tax return. We and Protection One are eligible to file on a consolidated basis for tax purposes so long as we maintain an 80%
ownership interest in Protection One. We reimbursed Protection One $13.5 million for tax year 2001 and $7.4 million for tax year 2000. On March 11, 2003, the
KCC issued an order that allows us to make a cash payment to Protection One of approximately $20 million for tax year 2002.
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Financial Advisory Services

 Protection One entered into an agreement pursuant to which it paid a quarterly fee to Westar Industries for financial advisory services equal to 0.125% of
its consolidated total assets at the end of each quarter. This agreement was approved by the independent members of Protection One’s board of directors.
Protection One incurred approximately $3.6 million of such fees during the year ended December 31, 2002. These amounts have been eliminated in our
consolidated financial statements. This agreement was terminated effective September 30, 2002.
 

Loans to Officers
 During 2001 and 2002, we extended loans to our officers for the purpose of purchasing shares of our common stock. The officers are personally liable for
the repayment of the loans, which are unsecured and bear interest, payable quarterly, at a variable rate equal to our short-term borrowing rate. The loans mature
on December 4, 2004. The aggregate balance outstanding at December 31, 2002 was approximately $1.8 million, which is classified as a reduction to
shareholders’ equity in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. For the year ended December 31, 2002, we recorded approximately $97,000 in interest
income on these loans. No additional loans will be made as a result of federal legislation that became effective July 30, 2002.
 

Transactions Between Westar Energy and KGE
 We perform KGE’s cash management function, including cash receipts and disbursements. An intercompany account is used to record net receipts and
disbursements between us and KGE. KGE’s net amount payable from affiliates approximated $24.1 million at December 31, 2002, and the net amount receivable
from affiliates approximated $17.3 million at December 31, 2001. These intercompany charges have been eliminated in consolidation.
 

We provide all employees utilized by KGE. We allocate certain operating expenses to KGE. These expenses are allocated, depending on the nature of the
expense, based on allocation studies, net investment, number of customers, and/or other appropriate factors. We believe such allocation procedures are
reasonable.
 

Transactions with Protection One
 During the fourth quarter of 2001, KGE entered into an option agreement to sell an office building located in downtown Wichita, Kansas, to Protection One
for approximately $0.5 million. The sales price was determined by management based on three independent appraisers’ findings. This transaction was completed
during June 2002. We recognized a loss of $2.6 million on this transaction and we expected to realize annual operating cost savings of approximately $0.9
million. The cost savings will be treated as a regulatory liability in accordance with a March 26, 2002, KCC order. For the year ended December 31, 2002, we
recorded $0.5 million in cost savings as a regulatory liability.
 

Protection One Europe
 On February 29, 2000, Westar Industries purchased the European operations of Protection One, and certain investments held by a subsidiary of Protection
One, for an aggregate purchase price of $244 million. Westar Industries paid approximately $183 million in cash and transferred Protection One debt securities
with a market value of approximately $61 million to Protection One. Cash proceeds from the transaction were used to reduce the outstanding balance owed to
Westar Industries on Protection One’s revolving credit facility. No gain or loss was recorded on this intercompany transaction and the net book value of the assets
was unaffected.
 
Hedging Activity
 We use financial and physical instruments to hedge a portion of our anticipated fossil fuel needs. At the time we enter into these transactions, we are unable
to determine what the value will be when the agreements are actually settled.
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In an effort to mitigate fuel commodity price market risk, we use hedging arrangements to reduce our exposure to increased coal, natural gas and oil prices.

Our future exposure to changes in fossil fuel prices will be dependent upon the market prices and the extent and effectiveness of any hedging arrangements into
which we enter.
 

See Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Financial Instruments, Energy Trading and Risk Management — Derivative Instruments
and Hedge Accounting — Hedging Activities,” for detailed information regarding hedging relationships and an interest rate swap we entered into during the third
quarter of 2001.
 
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 Market Price Risks
 Our hedging and trading activities involve risks, including commodity price risk, equity price risk, interest rate risk and credit risk. Commodity price risk is
the risk that changes in commodity prices may impact the price at which we are able to buy and sell electricity and purchase fuels for our generating units. These
commodities have experienced price volatility in the past and can be expected to do so in the future. This volatility may increase or decrease future earnings.
 

Equity price risk is the risk we may be exposed to based on changes in the market value of our equity securities.
 

Interest rate risk is the risk of loss associated with movements in market interest rates. During 2002, we used an interest rate swap to manage our exposure
to variable interest rates. The swap converted $500 million of variable rate debt to a fixed rate. In the future, we may continue to use swaps or other financial
instruments to manage interest rate risk.
 

Credit risk is the risk of loss resulting from non-performance by a counterparty of its contractual obligations. We have exposure to credit risk and
counterparty default through our retail, power marketing and trading activities. We maintain credit policies intended to reduce overall credit risk and actively
monitor these policies to reflect changes and scope of operations. We employ additional credit risk control mechanisms when appropriate, such as letters of credit,
parental guarantees and standardized master netting agreements from counterparties that allow for some of the offsetting of positive and negative exposures.
Credit exposure is monitored and, when necessary, the activity with a specific counterparty is limited until credit enhancement is provided. Results actually
achieved from hedging and trading activities could vary materially from intended results and could materially affect our financial results depending on the success
of our credit risk management efforts.
 
Commodity Price Exposure
 We engage in both financial and physical trading to manage our commodity price risk. We trade electricity, coal, natural gas and oil. We use a variety of
financial instruments, including forward contracts, options and swaps and trade energy commodity contracts daily. We also use hedging techniques to manage
overall fuel expenditures. We procure physical product under fixed price agreements and spot market transactions.
 

We are involved in trading activities primarily to reduce risk from market fluctuations, capitalize on our market knowledge and enhance system reliability.
Net open positions exist, or are established, due to the origination of new transactions and our assessment of, and response to, changing market conditions. To the
extent we have open positions, we are exposed to the risk that changing market prices could have a material, adverse impact on our financial position or results of
operations.
 

We manage and measure the market price risk exposure of our trading portfolio using a variance/covariance value-at-risk (VaR) model. VaR measures the
predicted worst-case loss at a specific confidence level over a specified period of time. In addition to VaR, we employ additional risk control processes such as
stress testing, daily loss limits, and commodity position limits. We expect to use the same VaR model and control processes in 2003.
 

The use of the VaR method requires a number of key assumptions, including the selection of a confidence level for losses and the estimated holding period.
We express VaR as a potential dollar loss based on a 95%
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confidence level using a one-day holding period. The calculation includes derivative commodity instruments used for both trading and risk management purposes.
The VaR amounts for 2002 and 2001 were as follows:
 

 
  

2002

    

2001

   (In Thousands)
High   $1,857    $5,314
Low    150     170
Average    782     2,422

 
We have considered a number of risks and costs associated with the future contractual commitments included in our energy portfolio. These risks include

credit risks associated with the financial condition of counterparties, product location (basis) differentials and other risks. Declines in the creditworthiness of our
counterparties could have a material adverse impact on our overall exposure to credit risk. We maintain credit policies with regard to our counterparties that, in
management’s view, reduce overall credit risk. There can be no assurance that the employment of VaR, or other risk management tools we employ, will eliminate
the risk of loss.
 

We are also exposed to commodity price changes outside of trading activities. We use derivatives for non-trading purposes and a mix of various fuel types
primarily to reduce exposure relative to the volatility of market and commodity prices. The wholesale power market is extremely volatile in price and supply. This
volatility impacts our costs of power purchased and our participation in power trades. If we were unable to generate an adequate supply of electricity for our
native load customers, we would purchase power in the wholesale market to the extent it is available or economically feasible to do so and/or implement
curtailment or interruption procedures as allowed for in our tariffs and terms and conditions of service. To the extent open positions exist in our power marketing
portfolio, we are exposed to changing market prices that may adversely impact our financial position and results of operations. The increased expenses or loss of
revenues associated with this could be material and adverse to our consolidated results of operations and financial condition.
 

From 2001 to 2002, we experienced a 10% decrease in the average price per MWh of electricity purchased for utility operations. Purchased power market
volatility could be greater than the average price decrease indicates. If we were to have a 10% increase in our purchased power price from 2002 to 2003, given the
amount of power purchased for utility operations during 2002, we would have exposure of approximately $3.5 million of operating income. Due to the volatility
of the power market, past prices cannot be used to predict future prices.
 

We use a mix of various fossil fuel types, including coal, natural gas and oil, to operate our system, which helps lessen our risk associated with any one fuel
type. A significant portion of our coal requirements are under long-term contract, which removes most of the price risk associated with this commodity type.
During 2002, we experienced an approximate 2% increase, or $0.056 per MMBtu, in our average cost for natural gas purchased for utility operations. We
decreased our gas usage by 1.9 million MMBtu compared to the amount burned in 2001. Due to the volatility of natural gas prices, we have begun to increasingly
utilize our ability to switch to lower cost fuel types as the market allows. We expect that exposure to natural gas price changes will not be material in 2003 due to
our natural gas hedge that has fixed the price of our gas through July 2004.
 

We use uranium to fuel our nuclear generating station and have on hand or under contract 100% of Wolf Creek’s uranium, uranium conversion and uranium
enrichment needs for 2003. We have on hand or under contract 76% of the uranium and uranium conversion and 80% of the uranium enrichment required for
operation of Wolf Creek through March 2008. The balance is expected to be obtained through spot market and contract purchases, which means we will be
exposed to the price risk associated with these components.
 

Additional factors that affect our commodity price exposure are the quantity and availability of fuel used for generation and the quantity of electricity
customers will consume. Quantities of fossil fuel used for generation could vary dramatically from year to year based on the individual fuel’s availability, price,
deliverability, unit outages and nuclear refueling. Our customers’ electricity usage could also vary dramatically year to year based on the weather or other factors.
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Interest Rate Exposure
 We had approximately $523.4 million of variable rate debt and current maturities of fixed rate debt as of December 31, 2002. A 100 basis point change in
each debt series’ benchmark rate, used to set the rate for such series would impact net income on an annualized basis by approximately $2.5 million after tax.
 

Under SFAS No. 133, we are required to mark to market changes in the anticipated amount of the liability related to the portion of the $400 million in notes
that have been retired so that our consolidated balance sheet reflects the current fair value of the free standing portion of the call option as discussed in Note 14 of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Call Option.” The amount of our liability will increase or decrease approximately $5 million for every 10-basis
point change in the 10-year forward treasury rate. Related to the call option, for the year ended December 31, 2002, we recorded a non-cash mark-to-market
charge of $23.7 million, net of $15.7 million tax benefit, to reflect the fair value of the call option associated with the retired notes. We intend to repurchase or
provide for the repayment of all or a portion of these notes on or prior to June 15, 2003. Any repurchase of these notes will require us to mark to market
additional amounts of the call option. We cannot predict changes in the market value of the call option and therefore cannot estimate amounts of future mark-to-
market non-cash charges associated with the call option or the impact on our earnings.
 
Foreign Currency Exchange Rates
 We have foreign operations with functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar. As of December 31, 2002, the unrealized loss on currency translation was
approximately $2.5 million pretax. A 10% change in the currency exchange rates would not have a material effect on other comprehensive income.
 
Equity Price Risk
 During 2002, we were not substantially exposed to equity price risk. As discussed in Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Changes
in ONEOK Ownership,” we sold a substantial portion of our equity investment in ONEOK. During 2003, we will account for our ONEOK common stock
investment as an available-for-sale security under SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” and mark to market its fair
value through other comprehensive income.
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SCHEDULES OMITTED
 The following schedules are omitted because of the absence of the conditions under which they are required or the information is included in our
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I, III, IV, and V.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
 To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Westar Energy, Inc.
Topeka, Kansas
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Westar Energy, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2002 and 2001,
and the related consolidated statements of income (loss), comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2002. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Part IV, Item 15. These financial statements and
financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and
financial statement schedule based on our audits.
 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
 

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31,
2002 and 2001, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to
the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.
 

As discussed in Note 23 to the financial statements, on January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142,
Accounting for Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets. As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, on January 1, 2001 the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended. As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, on January 1, 2000, the
Company adopted Staff Accounting Bulletin 101, Revenue Recognition.
 
 
DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
 
 
Kansas City, Missouri,
April 11, 2003
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WESTAR ENERGY, INC.
 CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in Thousands)
 

 
  

As of December 31,

 

 
  

2002

   

2001

 
ASSETS           

CURRENT ASSETS:           

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 123,006   $ 96,388 
Restricted cash    159,006    15,495 
Accounts receivable, net    94,747    96,824 
Inventories and supplies    152,392    145,000 
Energy trading contracts    44,175    71,421 
Deferred tax assets    —      23,284 
Prepaid expenses and other    45,069    55,557 
Assets of discontinued operations    —      22,938 

     
Total Current Assets    618,395    526,907 

     
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET    3,995,371    4,070,988 
     

OTHER ASSETS:           

Restricted cash    35,760    38,515 
Investment in ONEOK    703,315    695,744 
Customer accounts, net    378,857    786,839 
Goodwill, net    41,847    879,926 
Regulatory assets    360,347    358,025 
Energy trading contracts    17,179    15,247 
Other (NOTE 2)    292,028    260,961 

     
Total Other Assets    1,829,333    3,035,257 

     
TOTAL ASSETS   $6,443,099   $7,633,152 
     

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY           

CURRENT LIABILITIES:           

Current maturities of long-term debt   $ 316,736   $ 167,895 
Short-term debt    2,763    222,300 
Accounts payable    95,936    122,968 
Accrued liabilities    216,357    216,017 
Accrued income taxes    17,221    35,048 
Deferred security revenues    44,562    46,519 
Energy trading contracts    43,370    67,859 
Deferred tax liability    2,998    —   
Other    64,770    24,571 
Liabilities of discontinued operations    —      1,364 

     
Total Current Liabilities    804,713    904,541 

     

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:           

Long-term debt, net    3,058,323    2,999,188 
Western Resources obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of subsidiary trusts, holding solely company

subordinated debentures    214,505    220,000 
Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits    811,879    1,020,993 
Minority interests    55,894    166,850 
Deferred gain from sale-leaseback    162,638    174,466 
Energy trading contracts    8,341    16,500 
Other    348,684    286,553 

     
Total Long-Term Liabilities    4,660,264    4,884,550 

     
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (NOTE 17)           

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:           

Cumulative preferred stock, par value $100 per share; authorized 600,000 shares; issued 248,576 shares; outstanding
214,363 shares and 239,364 shares, respectively    21,436    23,936 

Common stock, par value $5 per share; authorized 150,000,000 shares; issued 72,840,217 shares and 86,205,417 shares,
respectively    364,201    431,027 

Paid-in capital    825,744    1,196,763 



Unearned compensation    (14,742)   (21,920)
Loans to officers    (1,832)   (1,973)
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)    (185,961)   606,502 
Treasury stock, at cost, 1,333,264 and 15,097,987 shares, respectively    (18,704)   (364,901)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net    (12,020)   (25,373)

     
Total Shareholders’ Equity    978,122    1,844,061 

     
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   $6,443,099   $7,633,152 
     
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WESTAR ENERGY, INC.
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS)

(Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)
 

 
  

Year Ended December 31,

 

 
  

2002

   

2001

   

2000

 
SALES:                

Energy   $ 1,422,899   $ 1,307,177   $ 1,359,522 
Monitored Services    348,219    409,689    531,068 

       
Total Sales    1,771,118    1,716,866    1,890,590 

       
COST OF SALES:                

Energy    378,628    394,076    380,407 
Monitored Services    128,194    140,307    182,013 

       
Total Cost of Sales    506,822    534,383    562,420 

       
GROSS PROFIT    1,264,296    1,182,483    1,328,170 
       
OPERATING EXPENSES:                

Operating and maintenance    380,050    349,231    337,329 
Depreciation and amortization    269,918    410,653    423,252 
Selling, general and administrative    361,053    332,790    341,428 
Loss on dispositions of monitored services operations    —      13,056    —   
Merger costs    —      8,693    —   
Loss on impairment of customer accounts    338,104    —      —   
Loss on impairment of goodwill    139,987    —      —   

       
Total Operating Expenses    1,489,112    1,114,423    1,102,009 

       
INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS    (224,816)   68,060    226,161 
       
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):                

Investment earnings    77,856    53,937    193,712 
Gain on extinguishment of debt    18,292    35,727    75,755 
Impairment of investments    —      (11,075)   —   
Minority interests    110,234    11,621    8,625 
Other    (35,930)   (4,351)   (9,390)

       
Total Other Income (Expense)    170,452    85,859    268,702 

       
INTEREST EXPENSE:                

Interest expense on long-term debt    229,529    220,172    218,338 
Interest expense on short-term debt and other    39,754    40,623    63,149 

       
Total Interest Expense    269,283    260,795    281,487 

       
EARNINGS (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES    (323,647)   (106,876)   213,376 

Income tax expense (benefit)    (157,605)   (68,344)   72,349 
       
NET INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE ACCOUNTING CHANGE    (166,042)   (38,532)   141,027 
       
Discontinued operations, net of tax of $823, $40 and $226, respectively    (3,242)   (1,038)   (736)
       
Cumulative effects of accounting changes, net of tax:                

Continuing operations, net of tax of $72,335, $12,347, and $1,097 respectively    (621,434)   18,694    (3,810)
Discontinued operations    (2,283)   —      —   

       
Total cumulative effects of accounting changes, net of tax    (623,717)   18,694    (3,810)

       
NET INCOME (LOSS)    (793,001)   (20,876)   136,481 

Preferred dividends, net of gain on reacquired preferred stock    399    895    1,129 
       
EARNINGS (LOSS) AVAILABLE FOR COMMON STOCK   $ (793,400)  $ (21,771)  $ 135,352 
       
Average common shares outstanding    71,731,580    70,649,969    68,962,245 

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER AVERAGE COMMON SHARE OUTSTANDING (see Note                



2):
Basic earnings (losses) available from continuing operations before accounting changes   $ (2.32)  $ (0.56)  $ 2.03 
Discontinued operations, net of tax    (0.04)   (0.02)   (0.01)
Accounting changes, net of tax    (8.70)   0.27    (0.06)

       
Basic earnings (losses) available   $ (11.06)  $ (0.31)  $ 1.96 

       
Diluted earnings (losses) available from continuing operations before accounting changes   $ (2.32)  $ (0.56)  $ 2.01 
Discontinued operations, net of tax    (0.04)   (0.02)   (0.01)
Accounting changes, net of tax    (8.70)   0.27    (0.05)

       
Diluted earnings (losses) available   $ (11.06)  $ (0.31)  $ 1.95 

       
DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER COMMON SHARE   $ 1.20   $ 1.20   $ 1.435 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
 

64



Table of Contents

WESTAR ENERGY, INC.
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(Dollars in Thousands)
 

 
  

Year Ended December 31,

 

 
  

2002

   

2001

   

2000

 
NET INCOME (LOSS)       $(793,001)       $(20,876)       $136,481 
                     

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS), BEFORE TAX:                              

Unrealized holding gains (losses) on marketable securities arising
during the period   $ —    

   
  $ (592)  

   
  $ 43,174   

   

Reclassification adjustment for losses (gains) included in net income    —     —      3,336    2,744    (114,948)   (71,774)
                      

Unrealized holding gains (losses) on cash flow hedges arising during
the period    19,465  

   
   (31,735)  

   
   —     

   

Reclassification adjustment for losses included in net income    1,992   21,457    2,551    (29,184)   —      —   
                      

Minimum pension liability adjustment        (1,341)        (6,712)        —   
Foreign currency translation adjustments        1,964         2,568         (6,364)

                     
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax        22,080         (30,584)        (78,138)

Income tax benefit (expense) related to items of other comprehensive
income   

  
   (8,727)  

   
   13,615   

   
   31,946 

                     
Other comprehensive gain (loss), net of tax        13,353         (16,969)        (46,192)

                     

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)       $(779,648)       $(37,845)       $ 90,289 
                     
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WESTAR ENERGY, INC.
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollars in Thousands)
 

 
  

Year Ended December 31,

 

 
  

2002

   

2001

   

2000

 
CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES:                

Net income (loss)   $ (793,001)  $ (20,876)  $ 136,481 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:                

Discontinued operations    3,242    1,038    736 
Cumulative effect of accounting change    623,717    (18,694)   3,810 
Depreciation and amortization    269,918    410,653    423,252 
Amortization of deferred gain from sale-leaseback    (11,828)   (11,828)   (11,828)
Amortization of non-cash stock compensation and deferred customer acquisition costs    32,749    19,703    27,592 
Net changes in energy trading assets and liabilities    20,229    10,683    (7,291)
Gain on extinguishment of debt    (18,292)   (35,727)   (75,755)
Net changes in fair value of call option    22,609    —      —   
Equity in earnings from investments    (9,670)   (4,721)   (11,220)
Loss on dispositions of monitored services operations    —      13,056    —   
Loss on impairment of customer accounts    338,104    —      —   
Loss on impairment of goodwill    139,987    —      —   
Impairment on investments    —      11,075    —   
(Gain) loss on sale of marketable securities    —      1,861    (114,948)
Loss on sale of property    1,424    —      —   
Minority interests    (110,234)   (11,621)   (8,625)
Gain on sale of investments    —      —      (9,562)
Accretion of discount note interest    (414)   (2,247)   (2,725)
Net deferred taxes    (114,387)   (17,920)   (2,371)
Deferred merger costs    —      8,693    —   

Changes in working capital items, net of acquisitions and dispositions:                

Restricted cash    (8,511)   (4,579)   (3,944)
Accounts receivable, net    (4,828)   31,045    87,557 
Inventories and supplies    (7,392)   (45,530)   12,364 
Prepaid expenses and other    15,338    (18,698)   (12,882)
Accounts payable    (27,032)   (23,980)   22,136 
Accrued and other current liabilities    (12,403)   (21,312)   (114)
Accrued income taxes    (17,827)   (18,511)   13,231 
Deferred security revenues    (574)   (9,631)   (2,629)

Changes in other assets and liabilities    41,823    (23,634)   7,507 
       

Cash flows from operating activities    372,747    218,298    470,772 
       
CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES:                

Additions to property, plant and equipment    (135,370)   (235,047)   (307,429)
Proceeds from sale of property    1,205    —      —   
Customer account acquisitions    (43,391)   (23,084)   (33,960)
Security alarm monitoring acquisitions, net of cash acquired    —      —      (11,748)
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities    —      2,829    218,609 
Proceeds from dispositions of monitored services operations and sale of customer accounts    16,758    47,974    —   
Proceeds from other investments, net    16,320    52,223    47,832 

       
Cash flows used in investing activities    (144,478)   (155,105)   (86,696)

       

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES:                

Short-term debt, net    (219,537)   187,300    (670,421)
Proceeds of long-term debt    1,376,912    27,420    606,450 
Retirements of long-term debt    (1,135,175)   (130,409)   (244,949)
Funds in trust for debt repayments    (135,000)   —      —   
Retirement of Western Resources obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of subsidiary

trusts, holding solely company subordinated debentures    (3,715)   —      —   
Issuance of officer loans, net of payments    (212)   (1,973)   —   
Issuance of common stock, net    19,539    19,384    31,622 
Cash dividends paid    (86,703)   (85,547)   (115,533)
Preferred stock redemption    (1,547)   (545)   —   
Acquisition of treasury stock    (19,544)   (866)   (9,187)
Reissuance of treasury stock    1,367    7,231    21,898 

       
Cash flows from (used in) financing activities    (203,615)   21,995    (380,120)

       
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION    1,964    2,568    (6,364)



       
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    26,618    87,756    (2,408)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:                

Beginning of period    96,388    8,632    11,040 
       

End of period   $ 123,006   $ 96,388   $ 8,632 
       
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WESTAR ENERGY, INC.
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(Dollars in Thousands)
 

 

  

Cumulative
Preferred

Stock

   

Common
Stock

   

Paid-in
Capital

   

Unearned
Compensation

   

Loans to
Officers

   

Retained
Earnings

(Accumulated
Deficit)

   

Treasury
Stock

     

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

   

Total

 
BALANCE,
  December 31, 1999   $ 24,858   $ 341,508   $ 826,640   $ (5,695)  $ —     $ 679,880   $ (15,791)    $ 37,788   $1,889,188 
Net income    —      —      —      —      —      136,481    —        —      136,481 
Dividends on preferred
  stock    —      —      —      —      —      (1,129)   —        —      (1,129)
Issuance of common
  stock    —      8,904    18,537    —      —      —      —        —      27,441 
Dividends on common
  stock    —      —      —      —      —      (97,698)   —        —      (97,698)
Unrealized loss on
  marketable securities    —      —      —      —      —      —      —        (71,774)   (71,774)
Currency translation
  adjustment    —      —      —      —      —      —      —        (6,364)   (6,364)
Tax benefit    —      —      —      —      —      —      —        31,946    31,946 
Acquisition of treasury
  stock    —      —      —      —      —      —      (9,187)     —      (9,187)
Issuance of treasury
  stock    —      —      —      —      —      (3,080)   24,978      —      21,898 
Grant of restricted stock    —      —      22,989    (22,989)   —      —      —        —      —   
Amortization of
  restricted stock    —      —      —      10,618    —      —      —        —      10,618 
                     
BALANCE,
  December 31, 2000   $ 24,858   $ 350,412   $ 868,166   $ (18,066)  $ —     $ 714,454   $ —       $ (8,404)  $1,931,420 
Net income (loss)    —      —      —      —      —      (20,876)   —        —      (20,876)
Dividends on preferred
  stock    —      —      —      —      —      (1,129)     —        —      (1,129)
Issuance of common
  stock    —      80,615    298,248    —      —      —      (358,805)     —      20,058 
Dividends on common
  stock    —      —      —      —      —      (84,474)   —        —      (84,474)
Retirement of preferred
  stock    (922)   —      (12)   —      —      389    —        —      (545)
Issuance of officer loans    —      —      —      —      (1,973)   —      —        —      (1,973)
Unrealized gain on
  marketable securities    —      —      —      —      —      —      —        2,744    2,744 
Unrealized loss on cash
  flow hedges    —      —      —      —      —      —      —        (29,184)   (29,184)
Minimum pension
  liability adjustment    —      —      —      —      —      —      —        (6,712)   (6,712)
Currency translation
  adjustment    —      —      —      —      —      —      —        2,568    2,568 
Tax benefit (expense)    —      —      —      —      —      (155)   —        13,615    13,460 
Acquisition of treasury
  stock    —      —      —      —      —      —      (866)     —      (866)
Issuance of treasury
  stock    —      —      —      —      —      (1,707)   9,340      —      7,633 
Cancellation of
  restricted stock    —      —      14,570    —      —      —      (14,570)     —      —   
Grant of restricted stock    —      —      15,791    (15,791)   —      —      —        —      —   
Amortization of
  restricted stock    —      —      —      11,937    —      —      —        —      11,937 
                     
BALANCE,
  December 31, 2001   $ 23,936   $ 431,027   $1,196,763   $ (21,920)  $ (1,973)  $ 606,502   $(364,901)    $ (25,373)  $1,844,061 
Net income (loss)    —      —      —      —      —      (793,001)   —        —      (793,001)
Dividends on preferred
  stock    —      —      (996)   —      —           —        —      (996)
Issuance of common
  stock    —      34,681    58,626    —      —      —      (86,869)     —      6,438 
Retirement of common
  stock    —      (101,507)   (349,397)   —      —      —      450,904      —      —   
Dividends on common
  stock    —      —      (87,088)   —      —      —      —        —      (87,088)
Retirement of preferred
  stock    (2,500)   —      (38)   —      —      991    —        —      (1,547)
Issuance of officer loans
  and interest, net of
  payments    —      —      —      —      (309)   —      —        —      (309)
Reclass loans of former
  officers to other assets    —      —      —      —      450    —      —        —      450 
Unrealized gains on cash
  flow hedges    —      —      —      —      —      —      —        21,457    21,457 
Minimum pension
  liability adjustment    —      —      —      —      —      —      —        (1,341)   (1,341)
Currency translation
  adjustment    —      —      —      —      —      —      —        1,964    1,964 
Tax expense    —      —      —      —      —      (394)   —        (8,727)   (9,121)
Acquisition of treasury
  stock    —      —      —      —      —      —      (19,508)     —      (19,508)
Issuance of treasury
  stock    —      —      2    —      —      (59)   1,670      —      1,613 
Grant of restricted stock    —      —      7,872    (7,872)   —      —      —        —      —   
Amortization of
  restricted stock    —      —      —      8,647    —      —      —        —      8,647 
Forfeited restricted stock    —      —      —      6,403    —      —      —        —      6,403 
                     
BALANCE,
  December 31, 2002   $ 21,436   $ 364,201   $ 825,744   $ (14,742)  $ (1,832)  $ (185,961)  $ (18,704)    $ (12,020)  $ 978,122 
                     
 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WESTAR ENERGY, INC.
 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2002
 
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
 Westar Energy, Inc., a Kansas corporation incorporated in 1924, operates the largest electric utility in Kansas and owns interests in monitored security
businesses and other investments. Unless the context otherwise indicates, all references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to “the company,” “we,” “us,” “our”
or similar words are to Westar Energy, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. The term “Westar Energy” refers to Westar Energy, Inc. alone and not together with
its consolidated subsidiaries. We provide electric generation, transmission and distribution services to approximately 647,000 customers in Kansas. We also
provide monitored security services to over 1.1 million customers in the United States and Europe. ONEOK, Inc. (ONEOK), in which we owned an approximate
45% interest at December 31, 2002, (reduced to an approximate 27.5% interest at March 14, 2003) provides natural gas transmission and distribution services to
approximately 1.9 million customers in Kansas, Oklahoma and Texas. Our corporate headquarters are located at 818 South Kansas Avenue, Topeka, Kansas
66612.
 

Westar Energy and Kansas Gas and Electric Company (KGE), a wholly owned subsidiary, provide rate regulated electric service. KGE owns 47% of Wolf
Creek Nuclear Operating Corporation (WCNOC), the operating company for Wolf Creek Generating Station (Wolf Creek) our nuclear powered generating
facility.
 

Westar Industries, Inc. (Westar Industries), our wholly owned subsidiary, owns our interests in Protection One Inc. (Protection One), Protection One
Europe, ONEOK and our other non-utility businesses. Protection One, a publicly traded, approximately 88%-owned subsidiary, and Protection One Europe
provide monitored security services. Protection One Europe refers collectively to Protection One International, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Westar
Industries, and its subsidiaries, including a French subsidiary in which it owns an approximate 99.8% interest.
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 Principles of Consolidation
 We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).
Our consolidated financial statements include all operating divisions and majority owned subsidiaries for which we maintain controlling interests. Common stock
investments that are not majority owned are accounted for using the equity method when our investment allows us the ability to exert significant influence.
Undivided interests in jointly-owned generation facilities are consolidated on a pro rata basis. All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.
 
Use of Management’s Estimates
 The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our consolidated financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We evaluate our estimates on an on-going basis, including those related to bad debts, inventories,
depreciation, revenue recognition, investments, customer accounts, goodwill, intangible assets, income taxes, pensions and other post retirement and post-
employment benefits, decommissioning of Wolf Creek, environmental issues, contingencies and litigation. Actual results may differ from those estimates under
different assumptions or conditions.
 
Regulatory Accounting
 We currently apply accounting standards for our regulated utility operations that recognize the economic effects of rate regulation in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 71,
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“Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation,” and, accordingly, have recorded regulatory assets and liabilities when required by a regulatory order
or based on regulatory precedent.
 

Regulatory assets represent incurred costs that have been deferred because they are probable of future recovery in customer rates. Regulatory liabilities
represent obligations to make refunds to customers for previous collections for costs that are not likely to be incurred in the future. We have recorded these
regulatory assets and liabilities in accordance with SFAS No. 71. If we were required to terminate application of SFAS No. 71 for all of our regulated operations,
we would have to record the amounts of all regulatory assets and liabilities in our consolidated statements of income at that time. Our earnings would be reduced
by the net amount calculated from the table below, net of applicable income taxes. Regulatory assets and liabilities reflected in our consolidated balance sheets are
as follows:
 

 
  

As of December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

   (In Thousands)
Recoverable income taxes   $ 198,866  $ 221,373
Debt issuance costs    75,838   58,054
Deferred employee benefit costs    25,555   32,687
Deferred plant costs    29,037   29,499
2002 ice storm costs    14,963   —  
Other regulatory assets    16,088   16,412
     

Total regulatory assets   $ 360,347  $ 358,025
     

Total regulatory liabilities   $ 8,445  $ 6,037
     

 

 
•  Recoverable income taxes: Recoverable income taxes represent amounts due from customers for accelerated tax benefits that have been previously

flowed through to customers and are expected to be recovered in the future as the accelerated tax benefits reverse. This item will be recovered over the
life of the utility plant.

 
 

•  Debt issuance costs: Debt reacquisition expenses are amortized over the remaining term of the reacquired debt or, if refinanced, the term of the new
debt. Debt issuance costs are amortized and will be recovered over the term of the associated debt.

 
 

•  Deferred employee benefit costs: Deferred employee benefit costs represent post-retirement and post-employment expenses in excess of amounts paid
that are to be recovered over a period of five years as authorized by the Kansas Corporation Commission (KCC).

 
 

•  Deferred plant costs: Deferred plant costs relate to the Wolf Creek nuclear generating facility. For further information, see “— Depreciation,”
discussed below.

 
 

•  2002 ice storm costs: Restoration costs associated with an ice storm that occurred in January 2002. See Note 30 for additional information regarding
the ice storm.

 
A return is allowed on coal contract settlement costs (included in “Other regulatory assets” in the table above) and on the 2002 ice storm costs.

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents
 We consider highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.
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Restricted Cash
 Restricted cash consists of cash irrevocably deposited in trust for debt repayments, cash collateralizing Protection One’s workers’ compensation
obligations, a prepaid capacity and transmission agreement, letters of credit, surety bonds and escrow arrangements as required by certain letters of credit, and
various other deposits.
 
Inventories and Supplies
 Inventories and supplies for our utility business are stated at average cost. Inventories for our monitored services segment, comprised of alarm systems and
parts, are stated at the lower of average cost or market.
 
Property, Plant and Equipment
 Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost. For utility plant, cost includes contracted services, direct labor and materials, indirect charges for
engineering and supervision, and an allowance for funds used during construction (AFUDC). AFUDC represents the cost of borrowed funds used to finance
construction projects. The AFUDC rate was 5.95% in 2002, 9.01% in 2001 and 7.39% in 2000. The cost of additions to utility plant and replacement units of
property is capitalized. Interest capitalized into construction in progress was $2.2 million in 2002, $8.7 million in 2001 and $9.4 million in 2000.
 

Maintenance costs and replacement of minor items of property are charged to expense as incurred. Incremental costs incurred during scheduled Wolf Creek
refueling and maintenance outages are deferred and amortized monthly over the unit’s operating cycle, normally about 18 months. For utility plant, when units of
depreciable property are retired, the original cost and removal cost, less salvage value, are charged to accumulated depreciation.
 
Depreciation
 Utility plant is depreciated on the straight-line method at the lesser of rates set by the KCC or rates based on the estimated remaining useful lives of the
assets, which are based on an average annual composite basis using group rates that approximated 2.66% during 2002, 3.03% during 2001 and 2.99% during
2000.
 

In its rate order of July 25, 2001, the KCC extended the estimated service life for certain of our generating assets, including Wolf Creek and the LaCygne 2
generating station, for regulatory rate making purposes. The estimated retirement date for Wolf Creek was extended from 2025 to 2045, although our operating
license for Wolf Creek expires in 2025, and the estimated retirement date for LaCygne 2 was extended to 2032, although the term of our lease for LaCygne 2
expires in 2016. On April 1, 2002, we adopted the new depreciation rates as prescribed in the KCC order. We continue to depreciate Wolf Creek over the term of
our operating license, and we continue to depreciate LaCygne 2 over the term of our lease. We have created a regulatory asset, included under “Deferred plant
costs” in the above table, for the amount that our depreciation expense exceeds our regulatory depreciation expense.
 

On an annual basis, our depreciation expense will be reduced by approximately $30.0 million as a result of these extensions. If our generating license for
Wolf Creek is not renewed or the term of our lease for LaCygne 2 is not extended, we will need to seek relief from the KCC to recover the remaining cost of these
assets.
 

Non-utility property, plant and equipment is depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. We periodically evaluate our depreciation rates
considering the past and expected future experience in the operation of our facilities.
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Depreciable lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

 

 
  

Years

Utility:    

Fossil fuel generating facilities   6 to 68
Nuclear fuel generating facility   42 to 65
Transmission facilities   28 to 67
Distribution facilities   19 to 57
Other   5 to 55

Non-utility:    

Buildings   40
Installed systems   10
Furniture, fixtures and equipment   5 to 10
Leasehold improvements   5 to 10
Vehicles   5
Data processing and telecommunications   1 to 7

 
Nuclear Fuel
 Our share of the cost of nuclear fuel in process of refinement, conversion, enrichment and fabrication is recorded as an asset in property, plant and
equipment on our consolidated balance sheets at original cost and is amortized to cost of sales based upon the quantity of heat produced (MMBtu) for the
generation of electricity. The accumulated amortization of nuclear fuel in the reactor was $25.2 million at December 31, 2002 and $35.6 million at December 31,
2001. Spent fuel charged to cost of sales was $17.8 million in 2002, $22.1 million in 2001 and $19.6 million in 2000.
 
Customer Accounts
 Customer accounts are stated at cost and are amortized over the estimated customer life. The cost includes amounts paid to dealers and the estimated fair
value of accounts acquired in business acquisitions. Internal costs incurred in support of acquiring customer accounts are expensed as incurred.
 

Protection One’s and Protection One Europe’s amortization rates consider the average estimated remaining life and historical and projected attrition rates.
The amortization method for each customer pool is as follows:
 

Pool

 

Method

North America:   

Acquired Westinghouse customers  Eight-year 120% declining balance
Other customers  Ten-year 135% declining balance

Europe  Ten-year 125% declining balance
Multifamily  Nine-year straight-line

 
In accordance with SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of,” long-lived assets

held and used by Protection One and Protection One Europe are evaluated for recoverability on a periodic basis or as circumstances warrant. An impairment
would be recognized when the undiscounted expected future operating cash flows by customer pool derived from customer accounts is less than the carrying
value of capitalized customer accounts and related goodwill. See Note 23 for information regarding SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment and Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets,” which replaces SFAS No. 121 as of January 1, 2002.
 

Due to the customer attrition experienced in 2002, 2001 and 2000, the decline in market value of Protection One’s publicly traded equity and debt securities
and recurring losses, Protection One and Protection One Europe performed impairment tests on their customer account assets and goodwill in 2002, 2001 and
2000. These tests indicated that future estimated undiscounted cash flows exceeded the sum of the recorded balances for customer accounts and goodwill. See
Note 23 for a discussion of the impairment recorded on these assets during 2002 pursuant to the adoption of new accounting principles.
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Goodwill
 Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired by Protection One and Protection One Europe. Protection
One and Protection One Europe changed their estimated goodwill life from 40 years to 20 years as of January 1, 2000. For 2001 and 2000, remaining goodwill,
net of accumulated amortization, was amortized over its remaining useful life based on a 20-year life.
 

For 2001 and 2000, the carrying value of goodwill was included in the evaluations of recoverability of customer accounts. No reduction in the carrying
value was necessary at December 31, 2001 or 2000.
 

Effective as of January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142, “Accounting for Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and no longer amortize goodwill. We
are subject to the annual goodwill impairment test. See Note 23 for information regarding the effect of adopting SFAS No. 142.
 
Cash Surrender Value of Life Insurance
 The following amounts related to corporate-owned life insurance policies (COLI) are recorded in other long-term assets on our consolidated balance sheets
at December 31:
 

 
  

2002

   

2001

 
   (In Millions)  
Cash surrender value of policies (a)   $ 824.0   $ 772.8 
Borrowings against policies    (776.3)    (723.6)
     

COLI, net   $ 47.7   $ 49.2 
     

          

(a)    Cash surrender value of policies as presented represents the value of the     policies as of the
end of the respective policy years and not as of     December 31, 2002 and 2001.

 
Income is recorded for increases in cash surrender value and net death proceeds. Interest incurred on amounts borrowed is offset against policy income.

Income recognized from death proceeds is highly variable from period to period. Death benefits recognized as other income approximated $3.6 million in 2002,
$2.7 million in 2001 and $0.8 million in 2000.
 
Minority Interests
 Minority interests represent the minority shareholders’ proportionate share of the shareholders’ equity and net losses of Protection One and Protection One
Europe.
 
Revenue Recognition
 Energy Sales
 Energy sales are recognized as delivered and include an estimate for energy delivered but unbilled at the end of each year. Power marketing activities are
accounted for under the mark-to-market method of accounting. Under this method, changes in the portfolio value are recognized as gains or losses in the period of
change. The net mark-to-market change is included in energy sales in our consolidated statements of income. The resulting unrealized gains and losses are
recorded as energy trading assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets.
 

We primarily use quoted market prices to value our power marketing and energy trading contracts. When market prices are not readily available or
determinable, we use alternative approaches, such as model pricing. The market prices used to value these transactions reflect our best estimate of fair values
considering various factors, including closing exchange and over-the-counter quotations, time value and volatility factors underlying the commitments. Results
actually achieved from these activities could vary materially from intended results and could unfavorably affect our financial results.
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Monitored Services Revenues

 Monitored services revenues are recognized when security services are provided. System installation revenues, sales revenues on equipment upgrades and
direct and incremental costs of installations and sales are deferred for residential customers with monitoring service contracts. For commercial customers, revenue
recognition is dependent upon each specific customer contract. In instances when the company passes title to a system unaccompanied by a service agreement or
the company passes title at a price that it believes is unaffected by an accompanying but undelivered service, the company recognizes revenues and costs in the
period incurred. In cases where the company retains title to the system or it prices the system lower than it otherwise would because of an accompanying service
agreement, the company defers and amortizes revenues and direct costs.
 

Deferred system and upgrade installation revenues are recognized over the expected life of the customer utilizing an accelerated method for residential and
commercial customers and a straight-line method for Protection One’s Multifamily customers. Deferred costs in excess of deferred revenue are recognized over
the initial contract term, utilizing a straight-line method, typically two to three years for residential systems, five years for commercial systems and five to ten
years for Multifamily systems. To the extent deferred costs are less than deferred revenues, such costs are recognized over the estimated life of the customer
relationship.
 

Deferred revenues also result from customers who are billed for monitoring and extended service protection in advance of the period in which such services
are provided, on a monthly, quarterly or annual basis. Revenues from monitoring activities are recognized in the period such services are provided.
 
Income Taxes
 Our consolidated financial statements use the liability method to reflect income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary
differences in amounts recorded for financial reporting purposes and their respective tax bases. We amortize deferred investment tax credits over the lives of the
related properties.
 
Foreign Currency Translation
 The assets and liabilities of our foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars at current exchange rates, and revenues and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates.
 
Cumulative Effects of Accounting Changes
 Accounting for Goodwill
 Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142. See Note 23 for the cumulative effect of this adoption.
 

Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
 Effective January 1, 2001, we adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS Nos. 137 and
138 (collectively, SFAS No. 133). We use derivative instruments (primarily swaps, options and futures) to manage interest rate exposure and the commodity price
risk inherent in some of our fossil fuel and electricity purchases and sales. Under SFAS No. 133, all derivative instruments, including our energy trading
contracts, are recorded on our consolidated balance sheets as either an asset or liability measured at fair value. Changes in a derivative’s fair value must be
recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met, in which case changes are reflected in other comprehensive income. Cash
flows from derivative instruments are presented in net cash flows from operating activities.
 

Derivative instruments used to manage commodity price risk inherent in fossil fuel and electricity purchases and sales are classified as energy trading
contracts on our consolidated balance sheets. Energy trading contracts representing unrealized gain positions are reported as assets; energy trading contracts
representing unrealized loss positions are reported as liabilities.
 

Prior to January 1, 2001, gains and losses on our derivatives used for managing commodity price risk were deferred until settlement. These derivatives
were not designated as hedges under SFAS No. 133. Accordingly, on
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January 1, 2001, we recognized an unrealized gain of $18.7 million, net of $12.3 million of tax. This gain is presented on our consolidated statement of income
for 2001 as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.
 

After January 1, 2001, changes in fair value of all derivative instruments used for managing commodity price risk that are not designated as hedges are
recognized in revenue as discussed above under “— Revenue Recognition — Energy Sales.” Accounting for derivatives under SFAS No. 133 will increase
volatility of our future earnings.
 

Revenue Recognition
 In the fourth quarter of 2000, we adopted Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 101, “Revenue Recognition,” which had a retroactive effective date of
January 1, 2000. The impact of this accounting change generally required deferral of certain monitored security services sales for installation revenues and direct
sales-related expenses. Deferral of these revenues and costs is generally necessary when installation revenues have been received and a monitoring contract to
provide future service is obtained.
 

The cumulative effect of this change in accounting principle was a charge to income in 2000 of approximately $3.8 million, net of $1.1 million tax benefit,
and is related to changes in revenue recognition at Protection One Europe. Prior to the adoption of SAB No. 101, Protection One Europe recognized installation
revenues and related expenses upon completion of the installation.
 
Accounting Changes
 Stock Based Compensation
 In December 2002, Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and
Disclosure,” which amends SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” SFAS No. 148 provides alternative methods of transition for a
voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, it amends the disclosure requirements of
SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. This statement requires that companies follow the prescribed format and provide the
additional disclosures in their annual reports for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. We apply the recognition and measurement principles of APB
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” as allowed by SFAS Nos. 123 and 148, and related interpretations in accounting for our stock-
based compensation plans, as described in Note 15. We have adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 148.
 

For purposes of the pro forma disclosures required by SFAS No. 148, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense over the options’
vesting period. Under SFAS No. 123, compensation expense would have been $0.8 million in 2002 and $1.1 million in 2000. We would have recorded income of
$0.5 million in 2001 under SFAS No. 123. Information related to the pro forma impact on our earnings and earnings per share follows.
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2002

     

2001

     

2000

     (Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)
Earnings (loss) available for common stock, as reported     $ (793,400)     $ (21,771)     $ 135,352
Deduct: Total stock option expense determined under fair value

method for all awards, net of related tax effects      759      (512)      1,078
             
Earnings (loss) available for common stock, pro forma     $ (794,159)     $ (21,259)     $ 134,274
             
Weighted average shares used for dilution      71,731,580      70,649,969      69,591,261

Earnings per share:                     

Basic - as reported     $ (11.06)     $ (0.31)     $ 1.96
Basic - pro forma     $ (11.07)     $ (0.30)     $ 1.95

Diluted - as reported     $ (11.06)     $ (0.31)     $ 1.95
Diluted - pro forma     $ (11.07)     $ (0.30)     $ 1.93

 
Accounting for Energy Trading Contracts

 In October 2002, the FASB, through the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF), issued Issue No. 02-03, which rescinded Issue No. 98-10, “Accounting for
Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk Management Activities.” As a result, all new contracts that would otherwise have been accounted for under Issue
No. 98-10 and that do not fall within the scope of SFAS No. 133 can no longer be marked-to-market and recorded in earnings as of October 25, 2002. We are not
affected by this change in accounting principle and are not required to reclassify any of our contracts. EITF Issue No. 02-03 also requires that energy trading
contracts and derivatives, whether settled financially or physically, be reported in the income statement on a net basis effective January 1, 2003. We began to
classify our energy trading contracts on a net basis during the third quarter of 2002.
 

On July 1, 2002, we began reporting mark-to-market gains and losses on energy trading contracts on a net basis, whether realized or unrealized, in our
consolidated income statements. Prior to July 1, 2002, we reported gains on these contracts in sales and losses in cost of sales in our consolidated income
statements. See Note 6 for additional information on the effects of the accounting change.
 

Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt
 Effective July 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and
Technical Corrections,” which prohibits treating gains and losses associated with extinguishments resulting from a company’s risk management strategy as
extraordinary. See Note 26 for additional information on this pronouncement.
 

During the last three years, Protection One and our debt securities were repurchased in the open market and gains were recognized on the retirement of
these debt securities. We recognized $12.0 million, net of $6.3 million tax, in 2002; $23.2 million, net of $12.6 million tax, in 2001; and $49.2 million, net of
$26.5 million tax, in 2000.
 

Accounting for Guarantees
 In November 2002, FASB issued Interpretation (FIN) No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” which provides guidance for accounting for guarantees. For any guarantee entered into after November 2002, a guarantor
is required to recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. Any future guarantee
that we enter into will be accounted for as a liability.
 

In 1998, we issued a financial guarantee of an obligation of Onsite Energy Corporation under which our maximum liability was $1.3 million. This
guarantee was released in the first quarter of 2003.
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Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities

 In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities - an Interpretation of ARB No. 51.” This interpretation provides
guidance related to identifying variable interest entities (previously known generally as special purpose entities or SPEs) and determining whether such entities
should be consolidated. Certain disclosures are required when FIN No. 46 becomes effective if it is reasonably possible that a company will consolidate or
disclose information about a variable interest entity when it initially applies FIN No. 46. This interpretation must be applied immediately to variable interest
entities created or obtained after January 31, 2003. For those variable interest entities created or obtained on or before January 31, 2003, we must apply the
provisions of FIN No. 46 in the third quarter of 2003. We are currently evaluating the effect of FIN No. 46.
 
Dilutive Shares
 Basic earnings per share applicable to common stock are based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and vested during the
period reported. Diluted earnings per share include the effect of potential issuances of common shares resulting from the assumed vesting of all outstanding
restricted share units (RSU) and exercise of all outstanding stock options issued pursuant to the terms of our stock-based compensation plans. The dilutive effect
of stock-based compensation and stock options is computed using the treasury stock method. The number of potential dilutive securities was 676,329 shares for
2002, 963,749 shares for 2001 and 629,016 shares for 2000. The potentially dilutive securities for 2002 and 2001 were not included in the computation of diluted
earnings per share, since to do so would have been antidilutive.
 

Diluted earnings per share amounts shown in the accompanying financial statements reflect the inclusion of non-vested restricted share awards and the
effect of stock options outstanding. The following represents a reconciliation of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for basic and
dilutive purposes.
 

 
  

Year Ended December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

DENOMINATOR FOR BASIC AND DILUTED
EARNINGS PER SHARE:   

 
  

 
  

 

Denominator for basic earnings per share -
weighted average shares(a)   71,731,580  70,649,969  68,962,245

Effect of dilutive securities:          

Restricted share awards   —    —    629,016
       
Denominator for diluted earnings per share -

weighted average shares   71,731,580  70,649,969  69,591,261
       

         

(a)    The amounts in the table above do not include shares owned by Westar Industries or Protection One.
 
Supplemental Cash Flow Information
 Cash paid for interest and income taxes for each of the three years ended December 31, are as follows:
 

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

   (In Thousands)
CASH PAID FOR:             

Interest on financing activities, net of amount capitalized   $ 274,859  $ 256,764  $ 261,720
Income taxes    741   6,162   29,682

NON-CASH FINANCING TRANSACTIONS:             

Issuance of stock to subsidiary (Note 20)    86,870   364,035   —  
 
Reclassifications
 Certain amounts in prior years have been reclassified to conform with classifications used in the current year presentation.
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3. RATE MATTERS AND REGULATION
 KCC Rate Proceedings
 On November 27, 2000, Westar Energy and KGE filed applications with the KCC for an increase in retail rates. On July 25, 2001, the KCC ordered an
annual reduction in our combined electric rates of $22.7 million, consisting of a $41.2 million reduction in KGE’s rates and an $18.5 million increase in Westar
Energy’s rates.
 

On August 9, 2001, Westar Energy and KGE filed petitions with the KCC requesting reconsideration of the July 25, 2001 order. The petitions specifically
asked for reconsideration of changes in depreciation, reductions in rate base related to deferred income taxes associated with the KGE acquisition premium and a
deferred gain on the sale and leaseback of LaCygne 2, wholesale revenue imputation and several other issues. On September 5, 2001, the KCC issued an order in
response to our motions for reconsideration that increased Westar Energy’s rates by an additional $7.0 million. The $41.2 million rate reduction in KGE’s rates
remained unchanged. On November 9, 2001, we filed an appeal of the KCC decisions with the Kansas Court of Appeals in an action captioned “Western
Resources, Inc. and Kansas Gas and Electric Company vs. The State Corporation Commission of the State of Kansas.” On March 8, 2002, the Court of Appeals
upheld the KCC orders. On April 8, 2002, we filed a petition for review of the decision of the Court of Appeals with the Kansas Supreme Court. Our petition for
review was denied on June 12, 2002.
 
KCC Orders and Debt Reduction and Restructuring Plan
 November 8, 2002 KCC Order
 On November 8, 2002, the KCC issued an order addressing our proposed financial plan presented to the KCC on November 6, 2001 and subsequently
amended on January 29, 2002. The order contained the following findings and directions:
 

 
•  The order directed us to reverse certain transactions, including reversing certain intercompany accounting entries so certain capital contributions by us

to Westar Industries are reflected as an intercompany payable owed by Westar Industries to us, and reversing all transactions in 2002 recorded as equity
investments by us in Westar Industries so such transactions are reflected as intercompany payables owed by Westar Industries to us.

 

 

•  The order directed us to submit a plan within 90 days for restructuring our organizational structure so that our KPL electric utility business operating as
a division of us is placed in a separate subsidiary. The plan required us to include the process for restructuring, an analysis of whether the restructuring
is consistent with our present debt indentures and loan agreements, and if not, the necessary amendments to proceed with the restructuring. The
restructuring plan was required to be accompanied by an updated cost allocation manual to track costs and investments attributable to our regulated
electric utility and non-regulated activities. Following approval of the restructuring plan and the updated cost allocation manual, we will be required to
provide the KCC with separate quarterly financial statements for us and our electric utility operations. We filed a plan with the KCC on February 6,
2003 as discussed below in “— February 6, 2003 Debt Reduction and Restructuring Plan.”

 
 

•  The order directed us to provide a written explanation if the amount of debt secured by utility assets that we transfer to the new utility subsidiary
exceeds $1.5 billion.

 

 

•  The order directed us to reduce our consolidated debt, to consider certain actions for reducing our consolidated debt, and to provide expert testimony
supporting any decision to reject a suggested action. For the two years beginning on the date we submit our restructuring plan, we are required to
reduce utility debt by at least $100 million annually. The suggested actions include payments of $100 million each year from internally generated cash
flow, the issuance of common stock, the sale of ONEOK stock, a reduction in, or elimination of, our dividend, and the sale of Protection One.

 
 

•  The order initiated an investigation into the appropriate type, quantity, structure and regulation of the non-utility businesses with which our utility
businesses may be affiliated.
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•  The order established standstill protections requiring that we seek KCC approval before we take certain actions, including making any loan to,
investment in or transfer of cash in excess of $100,000 to a non-utility affiliate, entering into any agreement with a non-utility affiliate where the value
of goods or services exchanged exceeds $100,000, investing by us or an affiliate of more than $100,000 in an existing or new non-utility business,
transferring any non-cash assets or intellectual property to any non-utility affiliate, issuing any debt, or selling any ONEOK stock without complying
with the requirements of a July 9, 2002 KCC order. In addition, we must charge interest to non-utility affiliates at the incremental cost of their debt on
outstanding balances of any existing or future inter-affiliate loans, receivables or other cash advances due us. These restrictions apply both to us and
our KGE subsidiary.

 
On November 25, 2002, we filed a motion for reconsideration and clarification of some provisions of the order. In response, the KCC issued an order on

December 23, 2002 as discussed below.
 

December 23, 2002 KCC Order
 On December 23, 2002, the KCC issued an order modifying the requirements of the November 8, 2002 order concerning creation of a utility-only
subsidiary and filing of a financial plan. The order directed that no later than August 1, 2003, our KPL utility division must be held within a utility-only
subsidiary. The consolidated debt for all of our utility businesses, the KPL utility division and KGE, shall not exceed $1.67 billion.
 

February 6, 2003 Debt Reduction and Restructuring Plan
 On February 6, 2003, we filed a Debt Reduction and Restructuring Plan (the Debt Reduction Plan) with the KCC outlining our plans for paying down debt
and restructuring the company. The Debt Reduction Plan detailed items that have already been accomplished, including, among other things, that:
 
 

•  Consistent with the KCC’s prior orders, we have terminated certain agreements and reversed certain intercompany transactions that might have
prevented or impeded returning to being a stand-alone electric utility.

 

 
•  We have sold a portion of our ONEOK stock and raised $300 million, the net proceeds of which we anticipate using to repurchase or provide for the

repayment of all of the 6.25% senior unsecured notes that have a final maturity of August 15, 2018 and are putable and callable on August 15, 2003
(the putable/callable notes) and a portion of our 6.875% senior unsecured notes.

 
 

•  Our board of directors has established a dividend policy that reduced our quarterly common dividend by 37% to a dividend rate of $0.19 per share for
the first quarter of 2003.

 
In addition, the Debt Reduction Plan calls for:

 
 •  The sale of Protection One Europe.
 
 •  The sale of our interest in Protection One.
 
 

•  The sale of all of our remaining shares of ONEOK preferred stock (21.8 million shares) and common stock (4.7 million shares). We anticipate that all
remaining ONEOK securities will be liquidated by year-end 2004.

 
 

•  The sale of other non-core and non-utility assets. We intend to dispose of these assets in an orderly fashion. While not expected to be significant in the
Debt Reduction Plan, net proceeds from these dispositions will also be used for debt reduction.

 
 

•  The potential issuance of equity securities in the second half of 2004, if needed to further reduce debt, following the disposition of all material non-
utility and non-core assets.

 
78



Table of Contents

 
February 10, 2003 KCC Order

 On February 10, 2003, the KCC issued an order granting limited reconsideration of its December 23, 2002 order. The KCC stayed the requirement of the
December 23, 2002 order that we form a utility-only subsidiary. The KCC also stated that the Debt Reduction Plan appears to make a good-faith effort to address
the concerns expressed in the KCC’s prior orders and that the KCC needed additional time to review the Debt Reduction Plan prior to addressing other issues
raised in our petition for reconsideration of the December 23, 2002 order.
 

The KCC staff and other parties to the KCC docket considering the Debt Reduction Plan have filed comments on the Debt Reduction Plan. The KCC has
not yet established a procedural schedule for considering the Debt Reduction Plan and the related comments. We are unable to predict what action the KCC will
take with respect to the Debt Reduction Plan.
 

March 11, 2003 KCC Order
 On March 11, 2003, the KCC issued an order conditionally approving a partial stipulation entered into by us, Protection One and certain parties in the KCC
docket considering the Debt Reduction Plan. The order, among other things, (a) authorized us to make a payment to Protection One of approximately $20 million
for the 2002 tax year under the tax sharing agreement with Protection One, (b) authorized Westar Industries to extend the maturity date of the credit facility it
provides to Protection One to January 5, 2005, (c) reduced the amount that may be advanced to Protection One under the credit facility to $228.4 million, (d)
authorized us to pay approximately $1.0 million to Protection One as reimbursement for information technology services provided to us, and related costs
incurred, by a subsidiary of Protection One, and (e) authorized us to pay approximately $3.4 million to Protection One as reimbursement for aviation services
provided by a subsidiary of Protection One and for the repurchase of the stock of the subsidiary. The March 11, 2003 KCC order is filed as Exhibit 99(l) to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.
 
FERC Proceeding
 On September 6, 2002, we filed an application with the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) seeking authorization to issue unsecured long-
term debt securities, on or before October 31, 2004, in an amount not to exceed $650 million at any one time. On February 20, 2003, FERC approved our request
subject to certain conditions and also issued generic industry wide guidelines for future debt financings. On March 14, 2003, we informed FERC that we do not
intend to issue any debt securities pursuant to the authority granted on February 20, 2003.
 
4. CHANGES IN ONEOK OWNERSHIP
 On January 9, 2003, we announced that Westar Industries had entered into an agreement with ONEOK to sell ONEOK a portion of the shares of ONEOK
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock held by Westar Industries at the prevailing market price, less transaction costs, and to exchange Westar Industries’
remaining shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for new shares of ONEOK Series D Non-Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock. On February 5,
2003, ONEOK repurchased from Westar Industries 9,038,755 shares of its Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, which were convertible into 18,077,511 shares
of common stock. We received $300 million as a result of this sale.
 

Westar Industries also exchanged its remaining shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for 21,815,386 new shares of ONEOK’s Series D
Convertible Preferred Stock. ONEOK has agreed to file a shelf registration statement covering the Series D Convertible Preferred and common stock held by
Westar Industries under the Securities Act of 1933. Future sales will be subject to conditions including the effectiveness of such registration, the required waiver
or expiration of a 180-day lock-up period ending on July 22, 2003, and future market conditions. As of March 14, 2003, Westar Industries holds an approximate
27.5% ownership interest in ONEOK assuming conversion of the Series D Convertible Preferred Stock.
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The Series D Convertible Preferred Stock has substantially the same terms as the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, except that:

 
 •  The Series D Convertible Preferred Stock has a fixed quarterly cash dividend of 23.125 cents per share, as declared by ONEOK’s board of directors;
 
 •  The Series D Convertible Preferred Stock is transferable to a third party as convertible preferred stock;
 
 

•  The Series D Convertible Preferred Stock is redeemable by ONEOK at any time after August 1, 2006 in the event that the closing price of ONEOK
common stock exceeds $25 for 30 consecutive trading days after such date, at a per share redemption price of $20;

 
 

•  Each share of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock is convertible into one share of ONEOK common stock, subject to adjustment for stock splits,
stock dividends, reverse stock splits or any transaction with comparable effects; and

 

 
•  Westar Industries may not convert any shares of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock held by it unless the annual per share dividend for the ONEOK

common stock for the previous year is greater than 92.5 cents per share and such conversion would not subject us, Westar Industries nor ONEOK to the
Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935.

 
We, Westar Industries and ONEOK also agreed to amend the terms of the existing Shareholder Agreement (Shareholder Agreement) and Registration

Rights Agreement. Under the new agreements:
 
 •  Westar Industries is prohibited from acquiring any additional securities of ONEOK.
 

 

•  Westar Industries may make private sales of shares as long as each sale involves less than 5% of ONEOK’s outstanding common shares (assuming
conversion of the Series D Convertible Preferred Stock to be sold) and is made to an owner of less than 5% of ONEOK’s outstanding common shares.
Westar Industries may make public sales in any broad underwritten offering under the shelf registration statement to be filed by ONEOK within 60
days of the agreement, and has piggy-back registration rights.

 
 

•  Westar Industries has the right to designate one ONEOK board member. Our designee will not have the right to sit on any committee of ONEOK’s
board of directors. We have also agreed to vote in favor of the election of all candidates for director nominated by ONEOK’s board of directors.

 
 •  Westar Industries is not obligated to sell into stock repurchases by ONEOK.
 
 

•  The new Shareholder Agreement will terminate if our or any affiliate’s beneficial ownership falls below 10% of ONEOK’s outstanding common shares
(assuming conversion of the Series D Convertible Preferred into ONEOK common stock).

 
 

•  The top-up rights, dilutive issuance rights and buy/sell option provided for in the previous Shareholder Agreement were eliminated in the new
agreement.

 
In 2002 and prior periods, we accounted for our ONEOK common stock investment under the equity method of accounting. During 2003, we will account

for our ONEOK common stock investment as an available-for-sale security under SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities,” and mark to market its fair value through other comprehensive income. We will begin accounting for our ONEOK Series D Convertible Preferred
Stock investment under this method if and when a public market for these securities develops.
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5. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
 Our accounts receivable on our consolidated balance sheets are comprised as follows:
 

 
  

As of December 31,

 

 
  

2002

   

2001

 
   (In Thousands)  
Gross accounts receivable   $ 180,410   $ 173,175 
Allowance for uncollectable accounts    (19,868)    (19,082)
Unbilled energy receivables    44,205    42,731 
Accounts receivable sale program    (110,000)    (100,000)
     
Accounts receivable, net   $ 94,747   $ 96,824 
     

 
On July 28, 2000, Westar Energy and KGE entered into an agreement under which we transfer an undivided percentage ownership interest in a revolving

pool of our accounts receivable arising from the sale of electricity to a multi-seller conduit administered by an independent financial institution through the use of
a special purpose entity (SPE). We account for this transfer as a sale in accordance with SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial
Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities.” The agreement was amended on July 25, 2002 and is annually renewable upon agreement by all parties. The
amendment to the agreement extended the term until July 23, 2003 and limited the amount of the accounts receivable we had a right to sell during certain periods
to $125 million.
 

Under the terms of the agreement, Westar Energy and KGE may transfer accounts receivable to the bankruptcy-remote SPE, and the conduit must purchase
from the SPE an undivided ownership interest of up to $125 million in those receivables. The SPE has been structured to be legally separate from us, but it is
wholly owned and consolidated. The percentage ownership interest in receivables purchased by the conduit may increase or decrease over time, depending on the
characteristics of the SPE’s receivables, including delinquency rates and debtor concentrations.
 

Under the terms of the agreement, the conduit pays the SPE the face amount of the undivided interest at the time of purchase. Subsequent to the initial
purchase, additional interests are sold and collections applied by the SPE to the conduit, resulting in an adjustment to the outstanding conduit interest.
 

We record administrative expense on the undivided interest owned by the conduit, which was $2.9 million for the year ended 2002, $5.4 million for the
year ended 2001 and $3.7 million for the year ended 2000. These expenses are included in other income (expense) in our consolidated statements of income.
 

The outstanding balance of SPE receivables was $48.2 million at December 31, 2002 and $43.3 million at December 31, 2001, which is net of an undivided
interest of $110.0 million and $100.0 million, respectively, in receivables sold by the SPE to the conduit. Our retained interest in the SPE’s receivables is reported
at fair value and is subordinate to, and provides credit enhancement for, the conduit’s ownership interest in the SPE’s receivables. Our retained interest is
available to the conduit to pay any fees or expenses due to the conduit and to absorb all credit losses incurred on any of the SPE’s receivables. The retained
interest is included in accounts receivable, net, in our consolidated balance sheets.
 

A termination event will be triggered under the terms of the agreement if Westar Energy’s credit rating ceases to be at least BB- by Standard & Poor’s
Ratings Group (S&P) or if the issuer credit rating for Westar Energy ceases to be at least Ba3 by Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s). If a termination event
were to occur, the administrative agent would be required to give notice to us at least five business days prior to a termination of the facility. This notice provision
allows for the administrative agent to waive the termination event by not giving notice or, in the event notice is given, allows us to repay the facility.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, ENERGY TRADING AND RISK MANAGEMENT
 Values of Financial Instruments
 The carrying values and estimated fair values of our financial instruments are as follows:
 

 
  

Carrying Value

  

Fair Value

 
  

As of December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2002

  

2001

   (In Thousands)
Fixed-rate debt, net of current maturities(a)   $ 2,354,488  $ 2,323,935  $ 2,290,141  $ 2,135,595
Other mandatorily redeemable securities(a)    214,505   220,000   133,829   190,960

                

(a)    Fair value is estimated based on quoted market prices for the same or similar issues or on the   current rates offered
for instruments of the same remaining maturities and redemption   provisions.

 
The recorded amounts of accounts receivable and other current financial instruments approximate fair value. Cash and cash equivalents, short-term

borrowings and variable-rate debt are carried at cost, which approximates fair value and are not included in the table above.
 

The fair value estimates presented herein are based on information available at December 31, 2002 and 2001. These fair value estimates have not been
comprehensively revalued for the purpose of these consolidated financial statements since that date and current estimates of fair value may differ significantly
from the amounts presented herein.
 
Derivative Instruments and Hedge Accounting
 Our operations are exposed to market risks from changes in commodity prices, foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices that could
affect our results of operations and financial condition. We manage our exposure to these market risks through our regular operating and financing activities and,
when deemed appropriate, hedge a portion of these risks through the use of derivative financial instruments. We use the term hedge to mean a strategy designed to
manage risks of volatility in prices or rate movements on some assets, liabilities or anticipated transactions by creating a relationship in which gains or losses on
derivative instruments are expected to counterbalance the losses or gains on the assets, liabilities or anticipated transactions exposed to such market risks. We use
derivative instruments as risk management tools consistent with our business plans and prudent business practices and for energy trading purposes.
 

We use derivative financial and physical instruments primarily to manage risk as it relates to changes in the prices of commodities including natural gas,
oil, coal and electricity and changes in interest rates. We also use derivative instruments for trading purposes in order to take advantage of favorable price
movements and market timing activities in the wholesale power and fossil fuel markets. Derivative instruments used to manage commodity price risk inherent in
fossil fuel and electricity purchases and sales are classified as energy trading contracts on our consolidated balance sheets. Energy trading contracts representing
unrealized gain positions are reported as assets; energy trading contracts representing unrealized loss positions are reported as liabilities.
 

Energy Trading Activities
 We engage in both financial and physical trading to manage our commodity price risk. We trade electricity, coal, natural gas and oil. We use a variety of
financial instruments, including forward contracts, options and swaps and trade energy commodity contracts daily. We also use hedging techniques to manage
overall fuel expenditures. We procure physical product under fixed price agreements and spot market transactions.
 

Within the trading portfolio, we take certain positions to hedge a portion of physical sale or purchase contracts and we take certain positions to take
advantage of market trends and conditions. Changes in value are reflected in our consolidated statements of income. We believe financial instruments help us
manage our contractual
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commitments, reduce our exposure to changes in cash market prices and take advantage of selected market opportunities. We refer to these transactions as energy
trading activities.
 

We are involved in trading activities primarily to reduce risk from market fluctuations, capitalize on our market knowledge and enhance system reliability.
Net open positions exist, or are established, due to the origination of new transactions and our assessment of, and response to, changing market conditions. To the
extent we have open positions, we are exposed to the risk that changing market prices could have a material, adverse impact on our financial position or results of
operations.
 

We have considered a number of risks and costs associated with the future contractual commitments included in our energy portfolio. These risks include
credit risks associated with the financial condition of counterparties, product location (basis) differentials and other risks. Declines in the creditworthiness of our
counterparties could have a material adverse impact on our overall exposure to credit risk. We maintain credit policies with regard to our counterparties that, in
management’s view, reduce overall credit risk.
 

We are also exposed to commodity price changes outside of trading activities. We use derivatives for non-trading purposes and a mix of various fuel types
primarily to reduce exposure relative to the volatility of market and commodity prices. The wholesale power market is extremely volatile in price and supply. This
volatility impacts our costs of power purchased and our participation in power trades. If we were unable to generate an adequate supply of electricity for our
native load customers, we would purchase power in the wholesale market to the extent it is available or economically feasible to do so and/or implement
curtailment or interruption procedures as allowed for in our tariffs and terms and conditions of service. To the extent open positions exist in our power marketing
portfolio, we are exposed to changing market prices that may adversely impact our financial position and results of operations. The increased expenses or loss of
revenues associated with this could be material and adverse to our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. Due to the volatility of power market
and gas prices, past prices cannot be used to predict future prices.
 

We use a mix of various fossil fuel types, including coal, natural gas and oil, to operate our system, which helps lessen our risk associated with any one fuel
type. A significant portion of our coal requirements are under long-term contract, which removes most of the price risk associated with this commodity type. Due
to the volatility of natural gas prices, we have begun to increasingly utilize our ability to switch to lower cost fuel types as the market allows.
 

Additional factors that affect our commodity price exposure are the quantity and availability of fuel used for generation and the quantity of electricity
customers will consume. Quantities of fossil fuel used for generation could vary dramatically year to year based on the particular fuel’s availability, price,
deliverability, unit outages and nuclear refueling. Our customers’ electricity usage could also vary dramatically year to year based on weather or other factors.
 

Although we generally attempt to balance our physical and financial contracts in terms of quantities and contract performance, net open positions typically
exist. We will at times create a net open position or allow a net open position to continue when we believe that future price movements will increase the
portfolio’s value. To the extent we have an open position, we are exposed to changing market prices that could have a material adverse impact on our financial
position or results of operations.
 

The prices we use to value price risk management activities reflect our estimate of fair values considering various factors, including closing exchange and
over-the-counter quotations, time value of money and price volatility factors underlying the commitments. We adjust prices to reflect the potential impact of
liquidating our position in an orderly manner over a reasonable period of time under present market conditions. We consider a number of risks and costs
associated with the future contractual commitments included in our energy portfolio, including credit risks associated with the financial condition of
counterparties and the time value of money. We continuously monitor the portfolio and value it daily based on present market conditions.
 

Future changes in our creditworthiness and the creditworthiness of our counterparties may change the value of our portfolio. We adjust the value of
contracts and set dollar limits with counterparties based on our assessment of their credit quality.
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We use derivative financial instruments to reduce our exposure to certain fluctuations in some commodity prices, interest rates, and other market risks.

When we enter into a financial instrument, we formally designate and document the instrument as a hedge of a specific underlying exposure, as well as the risk
management objectives and strategies for undertaking the hedge transaction. Because of the high degree of correlation between the hedging instrument and the
underlying exposure being hedged, fluctuations in the value of the derivative instruments are generally offset by changes in the value or cash flows of the
underlying exposures being hedged.
 

We record derivatives used for hedging commodity price risk in our consolidated balance sheets at fair value as energy trading contracts. The effective
portion of the gain or loss on a derivative instrument designated as a cash flow hedge is reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss). This amount is reclassified into earnings in the period during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Effectiveness is the degree to which gains and
losses on the hedging instruments offset the gains and losses on the hedged item. The ineffective portion of the hedging relationship is recognized currently in
earnings.
 

The fair values of derivatives used to hedge or modify our risks fluctuate over time. These fair value amounts should not be viewed in isolation, but rather
in relation to the fair values or cash flows of the underlying hedged transactions and the overall reduction in our risk relating to adverse fluctuations in interest
rates, commodity prices and other market factors. In addition, the net income effect resulting from our derivative instruments is recorded in the same line item
within our consolidated statements of income as the underlying exposure being hedged. We also formally assess, both at the inception and at least quarterly
thereafter, whether the financial instruments that are used in hedging transactions are effective at offsetting changes in either the fair value or cash flows of the
related underlying exposures. Any ineffective portion of a financial instrument’s change in fair value is immediately recognized in net income.
 

Hedging Activities
 During the third quarter of 2001, we entered into hedging relationships to manage commodity price risk associated with future natural gas purchases in
order to protect us and our customers from adverse price fluctuations in the natural gas market. Initially, we entered into futures and swap contracts with terms
extending through July 2004 to hedge price risk for a portion of our anticipated natural gas fuel requirements for our generation facilities. We have designated
these hedging relationships as cash flow hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133.
 

In 2002, due to the increased availability of our coal units and because we began burning more oil as use of oil became more economically favorable than
gas, we did not burn our forecasted amount of natural gas. In September 2002, we determined that we had over-hedged approximately 12,000,000 MMBtu for the
remaining period of the hedge. As a result of the discontinuance of this portion of the cash flow hedge, we recognized a gain in earnings of $4.0 million. We are
currently forecasting that we need a notional volume of 7,000,000 MMBtu for the remainder of the hedged period through July 2004.
 

Effective October 4, 2001, we entered into a $500 million interest rate swap agreement with a term of two years. At that time, the effect of the swap
agreement was to fix the annual interest rate on the term loan at 6.18%. In June 2002, we refinanced the term loan associated with this swap, which increased the
effective rate of the swap to 6.43%. At December 31, 2002, the variable rate in effect for the term loan was 4.40%. Changes in the fair value of this cash flow
hedge are due to fluctuations in the variable interest rate.
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The following table summarizes the effects our natural gas hedge and our interest rate swap had on our financial position and results of operations for the

year ended December 31, 2002:
 

 

  

Natural gas
Hedge (a)

   

Interest Rate
Swap

   

Total
Cash Flow

Hedges

 
   (Dollars in Thousands)  
Fair value of derivative instruments:                

Current   $ 4,198   $ 8,762   $ 12,960 
Long-term    1,476    —      1,476 

       
Total   $ 5,674   $ 8,762   $ 14,436 

       
Change in amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income   $ 25,571   $ (6,106)  $ 19,465 

Adjustment for losses included in net income    1,992    —      1,992 
Change in estimated income tax expense (benefit)    (10,964)   2,428    (8,536)

       
Net Comprehensive (Gain) Loss   $ 16,599   $ (3,678)  $ 12,921 

       
Anticipated reclassifications to earnings in the next 12 months (b)   $ 4,198   $ 8,762   $ 12,960 

Duration of hedge designation as of December 31, 2002    19 months    10 months    —   

(a)  Natural gas hedge assets and liabilities are classified in the balance sheet as energy trading contracts. Due to the volatility of gas commodity prices, it is
probable that gas prices will increase and decrease over the remaining 19 months that these relationships are in place.

(b)  The actual amounts that will be reclassified to earnings could vary materially from this estimated amount due to changes in market conditions.
 
Fair Value of Energy Trading Contracts
 The tables below show fair value of energy trading contracts outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2002, their sources and maturity periods:
 

 
    

Fair Value of Contracts

     (In Thousands)
Net fair value of contracts outstanding at the beginning of the period     $ 2,309
Less contracts realized or otherwise settled during the period      17,144
Plus fair value of new contracts entered into during the period      24,478
     
Fair value of contracts outstanding at the end of the period     $ 9,643
     

 
These contracts were valued through market exchanges and, where necessary, broker quotes and industry publications. The sources of the fair values of the

financial instruments related to these contracts are summarized in the following table:
 

 
  

Fair Value of Contracts at End of Period

 

  

Total
Fair Value

   

Maturity
Less Than

1 Year

   

Maturity
1-3 Years

   

Maturity
4-5 Years

  

Maturity in
Excess of 5

Years

   (In Thousands)
Sources of Fair Value                        

Prices actively quoted (futures)   $ 6,352   $ (260)  $ 6,612   $ —    $ —  
Prices provided by other external sources (swaps and forwards)    7,880    4,281    3,599    —     —  
Prices based on the Black Option Pricing model (options and other)(a)    (4,589)   (3,216)   (1,373)   —     —  
           
Total fair value of contracts outstanding   $ 9,643   $ 805   $ 8,838   $ —    $ —  
           

(a)  The Black Option Pricing model is a variant of the Black-Scholes Option Pricing model.
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Effects of Accounting Changes - Accounting for Energy Trading Contracts
 In October 2002, the FASB, through the EITF, issued Issue No. 02-03, which rescinded Issue No. 98-10, “Accounting for Contracts Involved in Energy
Trading and Risk Management Activities.” As a result, all new contracts that would otherwise have been accounted for under Issue No. 98-10 and that do not fall
within the scope of SFAS No. 133 can no longer be marked-to-market and recorded in earnings as of October 25, 2002. We are not affected by this change in
accounting principle and are not required to reclassify any of our contracts. EITF Issue No. 02-03 also requires that energy trading contracts and derivatives,
whether settled financially or physically, be reported in the income statement on a net basis effective January 1, 2003. We began to classify our energy trading
contracts on a net basis during the third quarter of 2002.
 

On July 1, 2002, we began reporting mark-to-market gains and losses on energy trading contracts on a net basis, whether realized or unrealized, in our
consolidated income statements. Prior to July 1, 2002, we reported gains on these contracts in sales and losses in cost of sales in our consolidated income
statements. The changes are reflected in our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002. Prior periods shown in our consolidated
financial statements have been reclassified to reflect the effect of this change and to be comparable as required by GAAP. As a result of the net presentation, we
expect significant reductions in our energy revenues and expenses from those reported in prior periods, which will not affect gross profit or net income. A
summary of the effects of this change for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 is as follows:
 
Changes to Income Statements
 
 

  

Year Ended December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

 

  

Prior to
Reclassifications

for Net
Presentation

  

After
Reclassifications

for Net
Presentation

  

Prior to
Reclassifications

for Net
Presentation

  

After
Reclassifications

for Net
Presentation

  

Prior to
Reclassifications

for Net
Presentation

  

After
Reclassifications

for Net
Presentation

   (In Thousands)
Energy sales   $ 1,798,971  $ 1,422,899  $ 1,706,311  $ 1,307,177  $ 1,829,133  $ 1,359,522
Energy cost of sales    754,700   378,628   793,210   394,076   850,018   380,407
             
Energy gross profit   $ 1,044,271  $ 1,044,271  $ 913,101  $ 913,101  $ 979,115  $ 979,115
             
 
7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
 The following is a summary of property, plant and equipment at December 31:
 

 
  

2002

  

2001

   (In Thousands)
Electric plant in service   $ 6,414,231  $ 6,317,121
Less—Accumulated depreciation    2,522,164   2,404,479
     
    3,892,067   3,912,642
Construction work in progress    40,071   63,927
Nuclear fuel, net    21,694   33,883
     

Net utility plant    3,953,832   4,010,452

Non-utility plant in service    108,493   116,274
Less accumulated depreciation    66,954   55,738
     

Net property, plant and equipment   $ 3,995,371  $ 4,070,988
     

 
Depreciation expense on property, plant and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was as follows:

 
 

  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

   (In Thousands)
Utility   $ 171,749  $ 185,156  $ 175,839
Non-utility    14,868   20,970   29,488
       

Total depreciation expense   $ 186,617  $ 206,126  $ 205,327
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8. JOINT OWNERSHIP OF UTILITY PLANTS
 

 
  

 
   

Our Ownership at December 31, 2002

 
  

 
   

In-Service
Dates

  

Investment

  

Accumulated
Depreciation

  

Net
MW

    

Ownership
Percent

       (Dollars in Thousands)
LaCygne 1   (a)  June   1973  $ 191,709  $ 116,658  344.0    50
Jeffrey 1   (b)  July   1978   308,195   155,182  617.0    84
Jeffrey 2   (b)  May   1980   310,164   132,600  613.0    84
Jeffrey 3   (b)  May   1983   413,298   188,139  625.0    84
Jeffrey wind 1   (b)  May   1999   875   142  0.6    84
Jeffrey wind 2   (b)  May   1999   874   141  0.6    84
Wolf Creek   (c)  Sept.   1985   1,387,071   545,828  548.0    47
State Line   (d)  June   2001   107,735   6,397  200.0    40

                          

(a)    Jointly owned with Kansas City Power and Light Company (KCPL)
(b)    Jointly owned with Aquila, Inc.
(c)    Jointly owned with KCPL and Kansas Electric Power Cooperative, Inc.
(d)    Jointly owned with Empire District Electric Company

 
Amounts and capacity presented above represent our share. Our share of operating expenses of the plants in service above, as well as such expenses for a

50% undivided interest in LaCygne 2 (representing 337 megawatt (MW) capacity) sold and leased back to KGE in 1987, are included in operating expenses on
our consolidated statements of income. Our share of other transactions associated with the plants is included in the appropriate classification in our consolidated
financial statements.
 
9. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR BY THE EQUITY METHOD
 A portion of our investment in ONEOK is presently accounted for by the equity method. See Note 4 for a discussion of changes in our ownership in
ONEOK and a change in the method by which we account for our investment.
 

 
    

Ownership at
December 31,

2002
  

Investment at December 31,

  

Equity Earnings,
Year Ended December 31,

 
      

2002

  

2001

  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

        (Dollars in Thousands)
ONEOK (a)     45%   $ 703,315  $ 695,744  $ 9,670  $ 4,721  $ 8,213

                         

(a)    We also received approximately $40 million of preferred and common dividends in 2002, 2001   and 2000. ONEOK
equity earnings for 2001 were lower due to charges recorded for Enron   Corp. exposure and for certain regulatory
issues ONEOK had in Oklahoma.

 
The following is summarized unaudited ONEOK financial information related to our investment in ONEOK:

 

 
  

As of December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

   (In Thousands)
Balance Sheet:         

Current assets   $ 1,626,648  $ 1,542,767
Non-current assets    4,104,210   4,310,533
Current liabilities    1,720,708   1,792,558
Long-term debt, net    1,511,118   1,498,012
Other deferred credits and other liabilities    1,133,420   1,297,440
Equity    1,365,612   1,265,290
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For the Year Ended December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

   (In Thousands)
Income Statement:             

Revenues   $ 2,104,280  $ 1,915,941  $ 1,996,179
Gross profit    975,660   826,375   745,652
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect
of a change in accounting principle    155,976   78,837   137,666

Net income    166,624   101,565   145,607
 

ONEOK earnings for 2001 include a pretax charge of $34.6 million for unrecovered gas costs from the winter of 2000-2001 and a $37.4 million pretax
charge related to the Enron Corp. (Enron) bankruptcy. The charge for the outstanding gas costs is a result of the Oklahoma Corporation Commission order
denying ONEOK the right to collect a portion of gas costs incurred during the winter of 2000-2001. Gas prices increased significantly in this period due to high
demand and a perceived supply shortage. The charges related to Enron’s bankruptcy are due to Enron’s non-payment of both financial and physical natural gas
positions for November and December of 2001.
 

During 2001, we disposed of 98% of our portfolio of affordable housing tax credit limited partnerships. The net impact of our total investment in these
partnerships on our earnings, including equity in earnings, loss on disposal and generated tax credits was a benefit of $5.3 million.
 

During 2002, the net impact on our earnings from our remaining investments in affordable housing tax credit limited partnerships was an expense of $0.4
million.
 
10. MONITORED SERVICES’ CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS
 The following is a rollforward of the investment in customer accounts (at cost) of the monitored services segment for the following years:
 

 
  

As of December 31,

 

 
  

2002

   

2001

 
   (In Thousands)  
Beginning customer accounts, net   $ 786,839   $ 963,595 
Acquisition of customer accounts    16,450    8,300 
Amortization of customer accounts    (83,301)    (148,006)
Sale of accounts    (738)    (42,246)
Impairment charges (Note 23)    (338,104)    —   
Purchase holdbacks and other    (2,289)    5,196 
     

Ending customer accounts, net   $ 378,857   $ 786,839 
     

 
Accumulated amortization of the investment in customer accounts at December 31, 2002 was $678.9 million and $614.5 million at December 31, 2001.

Customer account amortization expense was $83.3 million for 2002, $148.0 million for 2001, and $158.7 million for 2000.
 

During 2002, the monitored services segment had a net loss of 62,656 customers or a 5.3% decrease in its customer base from January 1, 2002.
 
11. SHORT-TERM DEBT
 Certain banks provide us a revolving credit facility on a committed basis totaling $150 million. The facility is secured by KGE’s first mortgage bonds and
matures on June 6, 2005, provided that if we have not refinanced or provided for the payment of our putable/callable notes due August 15, 2003, or our 6.875%
senior unsecured notes due August 1, 2004, at least 60 days prior to either of the respective due dates, the maturity date is 60 days prior to
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either of the respective due dates. As of December 31, 2002, borrowings on the revolving credit facility were $1.0 million, leaving $149 million remaining
capacity under this facility. See Note 12 for a discussion of covenants applicable to our credit facilities.
 

We also had arrangements with certain banks to provide unsecured short-term lines of credit on a committed basis totaling approximately $7.0 million
through December 31, 2002. These lines of credit were canceled on December 31, 2002.
 

Information regarding our short-term borrowings is as follows:
 

 
  

As of December 31,

 

 
  

2002

   

2001

 
   (Dollars in Thousands)  
Borrowings outstanding at year end:           

Credit agreement and a miscellaneous insurance financing arrangement   $ 2,763   $ 222,300 

Weighted average interest rate on debt outstanding at year-end, excluding fees    4.50%    3.38%

Weighted average short-term debt outstanding during the year   $ 168,078   $ 123,131 

Weighted daily average interest rates during the year, including fees    4.68%    6.58%
 

Our interest expense on short-term debt and other was $39.8 million in 2002, $40.6 million in 2001 and $63.1 million in 2000.
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12. LONG-TERM DEBT
 Outstanding Debt
 Long-term debt outstanding is as follows at December 31:
 

 
  

2002

  

2001

   (In Thousands)
Westar Energy         

First mortgage bond series:         

7 1/4% due 2002   $ —    $ 100,000
7 7/8% due 2007    365,000   —  
8 1/2% due 2022    125,000   125,000
7.65% due 2023    100,000   100,000

     
    590,000   325,000
     

Pollution control bond series:         

Variable due 2032, 1.228% at December 31, 2002    45,000   45,000
Variable due 2032, 1.20% at December 31, 2002    30,500   30,500
6% due 2033    58,340   58,340

     
    133,840   133,840
     

6 7/8% unsecured senior notes due 2004    278,310   355,560
9 3/4% unsecured senior notes due 2007    387,000   —  
7 1/8% unsecured senior notes due 2009    145,078   150,000
6.80% unsecured senior notes due 2018    27,396   28,104
6.25% unsecured senior notes due 2018, putable/callable 2003    146,390   384,300
Senior secured term loan due 2005, variable rate of 4.40% at December 31, 2002    584,000   —  
Senior secured term loan due 2003, variable rate of 4.86% at December 31, 2001    —     591,000
Capital leases (d)    27,356   29,067
Other long-term agreements    4,352   4,567

     
    1,599,882   1,542,598
     
KGE         

First mortgage bond series:         

7.60% due 2003(a)    135,000   135,000
6 1/2% due 2005    65,000   65,000
6.20% due 2006    100,000   100,000

     
    300,000   300,000
     

Pollution control bond series:         

5.10% due 2023    13,493   13,493
Variable due 2027, 1.31% at December 31, 2002    21,940   21,940
7.0% due 2031    327,500   327,500
Variable due 2032, 1.199% at December 31, 2002    14,500   14,500
Variable due 2032, 1.3% at December 31, 2002    10,000   10,000

     
    387,433   387,433
     
Protection One         

Convertible senior subordinated notes due 2003, fixed rate 6.75%    9,725   23,770
Senior subordinated discount notes due 2005, effective rate 11.8%    31,033   33,520
Senior unsecured notes due 2005, fixed rate 7.375%    164,285   203,650
Senior subordinated notes due 2009, fixed rate 8.125%    110,340   174,840
Capital leases (d)    67   321
Other    367   898

     
    315,817   436,999
     
Protection One Europe         

Recourse financing agreements, average effective rate 14.31% (b)    48,191   34,931
     
Unamortized debt premium (c)    4,822   12,837

Less:         

Unamortized debt discount (c)    4,926   6,555
Long-term debt due within one year (d)    316,736   167,895



     
Long-term debt, net   $ 3,058,323  $ 2,999,188

     

        

(a)    Funds have been irrevocably deposited with the bond trustee to provide for repayment of this obligation.
(b)    Agreements mature on various dates not exceeding four years.
(c)    Debt premiums and discounts are being amortized over the remaining lives of each issue.
(d)    Includes capital leases, which are discussed in further detail in Note 25.
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The amount of Westar Energy’s first mortgage bonds authorized by its Mortgage and Deed of Trust, dated July 1, 1939, as supplemented, is unlimited. The

amount of KGE’s first mortgage bonds authorized by the KGE Mortgage and Deed of Trust, dated April 1, 1940, as supplemented, is limited to a maximum of $2
billion, unless amended. First mortgage bonds are secured by utility assets. Amounts of additional bonds that may be issued are subject to property, earnings and
certain restrictive provisions of each mortgage. As of December 31, 2002, $70.4 million principal amount of additional first mortgage bonds could be issued
under the most restrictive provisions in Westar Energy’s mortgage, except in connection with refundings. As of December 31, 2002, approximately $302.5 million
principal amount of additional KGE first mortgage bonds could be issued under the most restrictive provisions in the mortgage.
 

Protection One Europe has recognized as a financing transaction cash received through the sale of security equipment and future cash flows to be received
under security equipment operating lease agreements with customers to a third-party financing company.
 

The indentures governing all of Protection One’s debt securities require that Protection One offer to repurchase the securities in certain circumstances
following a change of control.
 
Debt Covenants
 Our debt financing agreements require, among other restrictions, that we satisfy certain financial covenants. These debt instruments contain restrictions
based on EBITDA. The definition of EBITDA varies among the various indentures. EBITDA is generally derived by adding to income (loss) before income
taxes, the sum of interest expense and depreciation and amortization expense. However, under the varying definitions of the indentures, additional adjustments are
required. A violation of these restrictions would result in an event of default that would allow the lenders to declare all amounts outstanding immediately due and
payable. We are in compliance with these covenants. The most restrictive of these covenants in Westar Energy’s debt instruments are as follows:
 

 
•  Consolidated Leverage Ratio: Consolidated total debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) for the most recent

four consecutive quarters must be less than 6.00 to 1.00 at December 31, 2002 and 5.75 to 1.00 each quarter thereafter until June 2005. At December
31, 2002, our ratio was 5.13.

 
 

•  Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio: EBITDA to consolidated interest expense for the most recent four consecutive quarters must be greater than 2.00
to 1.00. At December 31, 2002, our ratio was 2.54.

 
 

•  Consolidated Debt to Total Capital Ratio: Consolidated total debt to consolidated total capital for the most recent quarter must be less than 0.65 to 1.00.
At December 31, 2002, our ratio was 0.618.

 
The indentures governing Protection One’s public indebtedness require it to satisfy certain financial covenants in order to borrow additional funds. At

December 31, 2002, Protection One was in compliance with the covenants under its debt instruments. The most restrictive of these covenants in Protection One’s
debt instruments are as follows:
 
 

•  Total Debt to EBITDA Ratio: Total debt to annualized EBITDA for the most recent quarter must be less than 6.0 to 1.0. For the quarter ended
December 31, 2002, the ratio was 4.0 to 1.0.

 
 

•  EBITDA to Interest Expense Ratio: EBITDA to interest expense for the most recent quarter must be greater than 2.25 to 1.0. For the quarter ended
December 31, 2002, the ratio was 3.1 to 1.0.

 
 

•  Senior Debt to EBITDA Ratio: Senior debt to annualized EBITDA for the most recent quarter must be less than 4.0 to 1.0. For the quarter ended
December 31, 2002, the ratio was 2.9 to 1.0.

 
The indentures contain other covenants that impose operational restrictions on Protection One that are not as burdensome to Protection One as those listed

above, and none are based on credit ratings. A violation of the indenture covenants would result in an event of default that would allow the lenders to declare all
amounts outstanding immediately due and payable.
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Following a change of control of Protection One, its revolving credit facility provided by Westar Industries becomes due in full. The holders of Protection

One’s senior subordinated discount notes and convertible notes have an optional redemption at approximately 101% of par and holders of Protection One’s senior
notes and senior subordinated notes have an optional redemption at 101% of par, if a change in control is coupled with two ratings downgrades.
 
Maturities
 Maturities of long-term debt as of December 31, 2002 are as follows:
 

 
  

Principal Amount

   (In Thousands)
Year     

2003(a), (b)   $ 316,736
2004(b)    302,132
2005    858,964
2006    110,676
2007    755,855
Thereafter    1,030,696
   
   $ 3,375,059
   

    

(a)    Includes $135 million in debt for which funds have been     irrevocably
deposited with the bond trustee to provide for     repayment of an obligation.

(b)    In addition, we are required by a KCC order to reduce utility     debt by at
least $100 million annually in each of the next two     years.

 
Our interest expense on long-term debt was $229.5 million in 2002, $220.2 million in 2001 and $218.3 million in 2000.

 
13. DEBT FINANCINGS
 On May 10, 2002, we completed offerings for $365 million of our first mortgage bonds and $400 million of our unsecured senior notes, both of which will
be due on May 1, 2007. The first mortgage bonds bear interest at an annual rate of 7 7/8% and the unsecured senior notes bear interest at an annual rate of 9 3/4%.
Interest on the first mortgage bonds and unsecured senior notes is payable semi-annually on May 1 and November 1 of each year. The net proceeds from these
offerings were used to repay outstanding indebtedness of $547 million under our existing secured bank term loan, provide for the repayment of $100 million of
our 7.25% first mortgage bonds due August 15, 2002 together with accrued interest, reduce the outstanding balance on our existing secured revolving credit
facility and pay fees and expenses of the transactions. In conjunction with our May 10, 2002 financing, we amended our secured revolving credit facility to
reduce the total commitment under the facility to $400 million from $500 million and to release $100 million of our first mortgage bonds from collateral.
 

On June 6, 2002, we entered into a secured credit agreement providing for a $585 million term loan and a $150 million revolving credit facility, each
maturing on June 6, 2005, provided that if we have not refinanced or provided for the payment of our putable/callable notes due August 15, 2003, or our 6.875%
senior unsecured notes due August 1, 2004, at least 60 days prior to either of the respective due dates, the maturity date is the date 60 days prior to either of the
respective due dates. All loans under the credit agreement are secured by KGE’s first mortgage bonds. The proceeds of the term loan were used to retire an
existing $400 million revolving credit facility with an outstanding principal balance of $380 million, to provide for the repayment at maturity of $135 million
principal amount of KGE first mortgage bonds due December 15, 2003 together with accrued interest, to repurchase approximately $45 million of our outstanding
unsecured notes and to pay customary fees and expenses of the transactions.
 

We will continue to report as outstanding debt on our consolidated balance sheet the $135 million principal amount of KGE first mortgage bonds due
December 15, 2003, until the funds that have been irrevocably deposited with the trustee are used to retire such bonds at maturity. The cash deposited with the
trustee is included in our
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consolidated balance sheet as part of restricted cash and can only be used for the purpose of repaying this indebtedness and related interest.
 
14. CALL OPTION
 In August 1998, we entered into a call option with an investment bank related to the issuance of $400 million of our putable/callable notes. This call option
is required to be settled by August 2003 through either a cash payment or a remarketing or refinancing of the putable/callable notes. The ultimate value of the call
option will be based on the difference between the 10-year United States treasury rate on August 12, 2003 and 5.44%. If the 10-year United States treasury rate on
August 12, 2003 is less than 5.44%, we will have a liability to the investment bank at that time. At December 31, 2002, our potential liability under the call option
was $62.2 million. Based on the 10-year forward treasury rate on March 14, 2003 of 3.91%, we would be obligated to make a cash payment of approximately
$69.1 million to settle the call option if we did not remarket or refinance the notes. The amount of our liability will increase or decrease approximately $5 million
for every 10-basis point change in the 10-year forward treasury rate. If settled through a remarketing or refinancing, any liability related to the call option will be
amortized as a credit to interest expense over the term of the new debt. The investment bank will price the notes to yield a market premium adequate to allow the
investment bank to retain proceeds equal to the fair value of the call option at settlement.
 

At the time of issuance of the notes in 1998, we were not required by GAAP to account separately for the call option. However, when we began retiring
these notes as a part of our overall debt reduction strategy, the portion of the call option associated with the retired notes became a free-standing option required to
be treated as a derivative instrument under SFAS No. 133. In addition, under SFAS No. 133, we are required to mark to market changes in the anticipated amount
of the liability related to the portion of the $400 million in notes that have been retired so that our balance sheet reflects the current fair value of the free standing
portion of the call option. For 2002, we recognized a loss of $10.1 million, net of $6.7 million tax benefit, related to the fair value of the call option associated
with the putable/callable notes at the time the notes were retired. This loss is included in our consolidated statements of income as part of the gain on
extinguishment of debt line item of other income. For 2002, we also recorded an additional non-cash charge of $13.6 million, net of $9.0 million tax benefit, to
reflect mark to market changes in the fair value of the call option associated with the retired notes. This charge is reflected in the other line item of other income
in our consolidated statements of income. In total, the loss recorded related to the fair value of the call option for the year ended December 31, 2002 was $23.7
million, net of $15.7 million tax benefit.
 
15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
 Pension
 We maintain qualified noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all utility employees. Pension benefits are based on years of
service and the employee’s compensation during the five highest paid consecutive years out of ten before retirement. Our policy is to fund pension costs accrued,
subject to limitations set by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and the Internal Revenue Code. We also maintain a non-qualified Executive
Salary Continuation Plan for the benefit of certain officers.
 
Post-retirement Benefits
 We accrue the cost of post-retirement benefits, primarily medical benefit costs, during the years an employee provides service.
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The following tables summarize the status of our pension and other post-retirement benefit plans:

 
 

  

Pension Benefits

   

Post-retirement Benefits

 

 
  

December 31,

 

 
  

2002

   

2001

   

2002

   

2001

 
   (In Thousands)  
Change in Benefit Obligation:                     

Benefit obligation, beginning of year   $ 423,814   $ 383,403   $ 108,630   $ 102,530 
Obligation for additional plans    3,308    —      —      —   
Service cost    9,149    9,042    1,414    1,477 
Interest cost    31,337    28,783    7,739    7,344 
Plan participants’ contributions    —      —      1,742    1,189 
Benefits paid    (30,823)   (23,982)   (9,399)   (7,741)
Assumption changes    23,581    39    10,112    587 
Actuarial losses (gains)    4,900    21,662    8,732    2,697 
Curtailments, settlements and special term benefits    12,873    4,867    —      547 

         
Benefit obligation, end of year   $ 478,139   $ 423,814   $ 128,970   $ 108,630 

         

Change in Plan Assets:                     

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year   $ 467,062   $ 490,173   $ 577   $ 394 
Actual return on plan assets    (58,463)   (2,144)   (740)   19 
Employer contribution    4,524    3,015    20,449    6,716 
Plan participants’ contributions    —      —      1,742    1,189 
Benefits paid    (30,823)   (23,982)   (9,399)   (7,741)

         
Fair value of plan assets, end of year   $ 382,300   $ 467,062   $ 12,629   $ 577 

         

Funded status   $ (95,839)  $ 43,248   $ (116,341)  $ (108,053)
Unrecognized net (gain) loss    71,877    (65,477)   31,772    14,447 
Unrecognized transition obligation, net    334    141    40,207    44,195 
Unrecognized prior service cost    21,631    24,071    (2,330)   (2,797)

         
Prepaid (accrued) post-retirement benefit costs   $ (1,997)  $ 1,983   $ (46,692)  $ (52,208)

         

Amounts Recognized in the Statement of Financial Position Consist Of:                     

Prepaid benefit cost   $ 20,993   $ 19,687   $ N/A   $ N/A 
Accrued benefit liability    (23,057)   (17,704)   (46,692)   (52,208)
Additional minimum liability    (9,068)   (7,370)   N/A    N/A 
Intangible asset    1,015    658    N/A    N/A 
Accumulated other comprehensive income    8,120    6,712    N/A    N/A 

         
Net amount recognized   $ (1,997)  $ 1,983   $ (46,692)  $ (52,208)

         

Actuarial Assumptions:                     

Discount rate    6.5%-6.75%    7.25%     6.5%-6.75%    7.25%  
Expected rate of return    9.0%-9.25%    9.0%-9.25%    9.0%-9.25%    9.0%-9.25% 
Compensation increase rate    3.75%-5.0%    4.0%-5.0%     3.75%-4.0%    4.0%-5.0%  
Medical trend rate    —      —      10.0%     5.25%-6.0% 

 

 
  

Pension Benefits

   

Post-retirement Benefits

 

 
  

December 31,

 

 
  

2002

   

2001

   

2000

   

2002

   

2001

   

2000

 
   (In Thousands)  
Components of Net Periodic (Benefit) Cost:                               

Service cost   $ 9,149   $ 9,042   $ 7,972   $ 1,414   $ 1,477   $ 1,344 
Interest cost    31,337    28,783    26,977    7,739    7,344    7,157 
Expected return on plan assets    (44,761)   (43,001)   (39,143)   (52)   (36)   (24)
Amortization of unrecognized transition obligation, net    (194)   34    34    3,989    3,987    3,988 
Amortization of unrecognized prior service costs    3,327    3,317    3,317    (467)   (466)   (466)
Amortization of (gain) loss, net    (5,911)   (8,327)   (9,427)   992    794    457 
Curtailments, settlements and special term benefits    12,873    6,133    9    —      547    —   

             
Net periodic (benefit) cost   $ 5,820   $ (4,019)  $(10,261)  $13,615   $13,647   $12,456 

             
 



In selecting an assumed discount rate, fixed income security yield rates for 30-year Treasury bonds and corporate high-grade bond yields are considered.
The assumed rate of return on plan assets is based on long-term returns forecast for the type of investments held by the plan.
 

Pension plan assets are primarily made up of equity and fixed income investments. The market value of the plan assets has been affected by declines in
equity markets. At December 31, 2002, the fair value of pension plan assets was $382.3 million. Actual return on plan assets declined by approximately $2.1
million during 2001 and by
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approximately $58.5 million during 2002. Absent a substantial recovery in the equity markets, pension costs, cash funding requirements and the additional
pension liability could substantially increase in future years.
 

For measurement purposes, an annual health care cost growth rate of 10% was assumed for 2002, decreasing by 1% per year to 5% in 2007 and thereafter.
The health care cost trend rate has a significant effect on the projected benefit obligation. Increasing the trend rate by 1% each year would increase the present
value of the accumulated projected benefit obligation by $2.2 million and the aggregate of the service and interest cost components by $0.2 million. A 1%
decrease in the trend rate would decrease the present value of the accumulated projected benefit obligation by $2.2 million and the aggregate of the service and
interest cost components by $0.2 million.
 
Savings Plans
 We maintain savings plans in which substantially all employees participate, with the exception of Protection One and Protection One Europe employees.
We match employees’ contributions up to specified maximum limits. Our contributions to the plans are deposited with a trustee and are invested in one or more
funds, including the company stock fund at the direction of plan participants. Our contributions were $3.8 million for 2002, $4.4 million for 2001 and $3.9
million for 2000.
 

Under our qualified employee stock purchase plan established in 1999, full-time, non-union employees may purchase designated shares of our common
stock at no more than a 15% discounted price. Our employees purchased 46,431 shares in 2002 at an average price of $8.43 per share. Employees purchased
67,519 shares at an average price of $14.56 per share in 2001 and employees purchased 249,050 shares at an average price of $14.00 per share in 2000. A total of
1,250,000 shares of common stock have been reserved for issuance under this program.
 

Protection One also maintains a savings plan. Contributions are allocated among participants based upon the respective contributions made by the
participants through salary reductions during the year. Protection One’s matching contributions may be made in Protection One common stock, in cash or in a
combination of both stock and cash. Protection One’s matching cash contribution to the plan was approximately $1.1 million for 2002, $1.1 million for 2001 and
$0.7 million for 2000.
 

Protection One maintains a qualified employee stock purchase plan that allows eligible employees to acquire shares of Protection One common stock at no
more than a 15% discounted price. Employees purchased 151,244 shares in 2002 at an average price of $1.69 per share. Employees purchased 489,791 shares at
an average price of $0.77 per share in 2001 and 145,523 shares at an average price of $0.69 per share in 2000. A total of 1,650,000 shares of common stock have
been reserved for issuance under this program.
 
Stock Based Compensation Plans
 We have a long-term incentive and share award plan (LTISA Plan), which is a stock-based compensation plan in which utility employees are eligible for
awards. The LTISA Plan was implemented as a means to attract, retain and motivate employees and board members (plan participants). Under the LTISA Plan,
we may grant awards in the form of stock options, dividend equivalents, share appreciation rights, restricted shares, RSUs, performance shares and performance
share units to plan participants. Up to five million shares of common stock may be granted under the LTISA Plan. Dividend equivalents accrue on the awarded
RSUs. Dividend equivalents are the right to receive cash equal to the value of dividends paid on our common stock.
 

During 2002, 584,165 RSUs were granted to a broad-based group of over 800 non-union employees. Each RSU represents a right to receive one share of
our common stock at the end of the restricted period assuming performance criteria are met. In addition, RSUs linked to 783,400 shares of Protection One
common stock and 12,193 shares of Guardian International, Inc. preferred stock held by us were granted to certain officers. During 2001, 579,915 RSUs were
granted. Also in 2000, non-union employees were offered the opportunity to exchange their stock options for RSUs of approximately equal economic value. As a
result, 2,246,865 stock options were canceled in 2000 in exchange for 614,741 RSUs. The grant of RSUs is shown as a separate component of shareholders’
equity. Unearned compensation is being amortized to expense over the vesting period. This compensation expense is shown as a separate component of
shareholders’ equity.
 

95



Table of Contents

 
During the second quarter of 2002, active employees awarded RSUs in prior years were allowed to exchange eligible RSUs for shares of common stock.

As a result, approximately 145,000 RSUs were exchanged for approximately 105,000 shares of our common stock. In addition, approximately 317,000 RSUs
held by certain executive officers were exchanged for approximately 12,500 shares of Guardian International, Inc. preferred stock held by us. Compensation
expense associated with this exchange totaled approximately $9.0 million for 2002. Also, in September 2002, former employees had the opportunity to convert
vested RSUs into common stock. As a result, 34,433 shares of our common stock were issued in exchange for 68,865 RSUs.
 

Another component of the LTISA Plan is the Executive Stock for Compensation program, where in the past eligible employees were entitled to receive
RSUs in lieu of current cash compensation. The Executive Stock for Compensation program was modified in 2001 to pay a portion of current compensation in the
form of stock. Although this plan was discontinued, dividends will continue to be paid to plan participants on their outstanding plan balance until distribution. At
the end of the deferral period, RSUs are paid in the form of stock. In 2002, plan participants were awarded 12,121 shares of common stock for dividends. In 2001,
eligible employees were awarded 31,881 shares of common stock representing $0.7 million of compensation. In 2000, 95,000 RSUs were awarded in lieu of $1.3
million in cash compensation. Participants received common stock distributions of 40,097 shares in 2002 and 974 shares in 2001 and 2,978 shares in 2000.
 

Stock options under the LTISA plan are as follows:
 

 
  

As of December 31,

 
  

2002

    

2001

  

2000

 

  

Shares
(Thousands)

   

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

    

Shares
(Thousands)

   

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

  

Shares
(Thousands)

   

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

Outstanding, beginning of year   552.3   $ 34.02    498.3   $ 34.46  2,117.1   $ 34.21
Granted   —      —      —      —    814.2    15.31
Exercised   (2.6)   18.71    (2.3)   15.31  —      —  
Forfeited/Adjusted   (317.1)   35.57    56.3    29.30  (2,433.0)   29.08
                     

Outstanding, end of year   232.6    32.08    552.3    34.02  498.3    34.46
                     

Weighted-average fair value of awards granted
during the year   

  
  $ —      

  
  $ —    

  
  $ 2.14

 
Stock options issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002 are as follows:

 

 

  

Range of
Exercise

Price

  

Number
Issued

and
Outstanding

    

Weighted-
Average

Contractual
Life in Years

  

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

Options—Exercisable:                 

2000   $ 15.3125  7,599    8   $ 15.31
1999    27.8125 - 32.125  22,900    7    29.52
1998    38.625 - 43.125  55,890    6    41.15
1997    30.750  98,240    5    30.75
1996    29.250  44,095    4    29.25

                
       228,724         

                

Options—Not Exercisable:                 

2000   $ 15.3125  3,914    8   $ 15.31
                

Total outstanding       232,638         
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RSUs under the LTISA plan are as follows:

 
 

  

As of December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

 

  

Shares
(Thousands)

   

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

  

Shares
(Thousands)

   

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

  

Shares
(Thousands)

   

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

Outstanding, beginning of year   1,902.9   $ 22.87  1,607.4   $ 18.90  301.5   $ 33.70
Granted   584.2    13.28  579.9    40.05  1,325.1    15.61
Exercised   (291.8)   18.81  (275.7)   19.08  (0.5)   15.63
Forfeited   (575.4)   28.70  (8.7)   17.86  (18.7)   24.35
                   

Outstanding, end of year   1,619.9    18.08  1,902.9    22.87  1,607.4    18.90
                   
 

RSUs issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002 are as follows:
 

 

  

Range of
Fair Value at
Grant Date

  

Number
Issued

and
Outstanding

Restricted share units:       

2002   $9.90 - 19.78   578,400
2001   24.84 - 27.83   197,050
2000   15.3125 - 19.875   711,418
1999   27.8125 - 32.125   64,000
1998   38.625   69,000

      
Total outstanding      1,619,868

      
 

An equal number of dividend equivalents was issued to recipients of stock options and RSUs. Recipients of RSUs receive dividend equivalents when
dividends are paid on shares of company stock. The value of each dividend equivalent related to stock options is calculated by accumulating dividends that would
have been paid or payable on a share of company common stock. The dividend equivalents, with respect to stock options, expire after nine years from date of
grant. The weighted-average fair value at the grant-date of the dividend equivalents on stock options was $6.35 in 2002 and $6.28 in 2001.
 

The fair value of stock options and dividend equivalents were estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing model. The model
assumed the following at December 31, 2000. There were no options granted in 2002 or 2001.
 

 
  

2000

Dividend yield     6.32%
Expected stock price volatility   16.42%
Risk-free interest rate     5.79%
Remaining expected option life   5 years

 
Protection One Stock Warrants and Options
 Protection One has outstanding stock warrants and options that were considered reissued and exercisable upon our acquisition of Protection One on
November 24, 1997. The 1997 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the LTIP), approved by the Protection One stockholders on November 24, 1997, provides for the award
of incentive stock options to directors, officers and key employees. Under the LTIP, 4.2 million shares of Protection One are reserved for issuance, subject to such
adjustment as may be necessary to reflect changes in the number or kinds of shares of common stock or other securities of Protection One. The LTIP provides for
the granting of options that qualify as incentive stock options under the Internal Revenue Code and options that do not so qualify.
 

Options issued since 1997 have a term of 10 years and vest ratably over 3 years. The purchase price of the shares issuable pursuant to the options is equal
to (or greater than) the fair market value of the common stock at the date of the option grant.
 

A summary of warrant and option activity for Protection One common stock from December 31, 2000 through December 31, 2002 is as follows:
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December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

 

  

Shares
(Thousands)

   

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

  

Shares
(Thousands)

   

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

  

Shares
(Thousands)

   

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

Outstanding, beginning of year   5,670.1   $ 4.840  4,664.5   $ 6.294  4,048.1   $ 7.426
Granted   797.5    2.201  2,045.5    1.329  922.5    1.437
Exercised   (60.6)   1.422  (65.6)   1.438  (5.4)   3.890
Forfeited   (1,144.1)   10.063  (974.3)   4.658  (300.7)   6.670
                   

Outstanding, end of year   5,262.9    3.334  5,670.1    4.840  4,664.5    6.294
                   

 
Stock options and warrants of Protection One issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002 is as follows:

 

 

  

Range of
Exercise

Price

  

Number
Issued

and
Outstanding

    

Weighted-
Average

Contractual
Life in Years

  

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

Exercisable:               

1995   $6.375 - $6.500  46,800    2   $6.4872
1996   8.000 - 15.000  130,000    3   9.8865
1997   9.500 - 15.000  75,000    4   10.4167
1998   11.000  348,000    5   11.0000
1999   5.250 - 8.9275  414,414    6   8.4780
2000   1.4375  270,232    7   1.4375
2001   0.875 - 1.48  621,850    8   1.3284

1993 Warrants   0.167  428,400    1   0.1670
1995 Note Warrants   3.890  780,837    2   3.8900

              

Total      3,115,533        

              

Not Exercisable:               

2000 options   $1.4375  102,796    7   $1.4375
2001 options   0.875 - 1.48  1,247,024    8   1.3272
2002 options   2.07 - 2.75  797,500    9   2.2007

              

Total      2,147,320        

              

Total outstanding      5,262,853        

              
 

On April 16, 2001, Protection One granted an option to purchase an aggregate of 875,000 shares of its common stock to its chief executive officer as part
of his employment agreement with Protection One. The option has a term of ten years and vests ratably over three years. The purchase price of the shares issuable
pursuant to the option is $1.32 per share while the fair market value of the common stock at the date of the option grant was $1.79 per share resulting in $0.4
million in deferred compensation expense amortized over three years. The expense amounts were $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively, for 2002 and 2001.
 

The weighted average fair value of options for Protection One stock granted by Protection One estimated on the date of grant was $1.95 during 2002, $0.98
during 2001 and $1.13 during 2000. The fair value was calculated using the following assumptions:
 

 
  

Year Ended December 31,

 

 
  

2002

   

2001

   

2000

 
Expected stock price volatility   91.30%   83.92%   92.97%
Risk free interest rate   5.12%   4.95%   4.88%
Expected option life   7 years   7 years   6 years 

 
On April 16, 2001, Protection One granted an option to purchase an aggregate of 250,000 shares of its common stock to Guardian International, Inc.

(Guardian), in connection with the hiring of Protection One’s chief executive officer, who was formerly the chief executive officer of Guardian. The option has a
term of ten years and vests ratably over three years. The purchase price of the shares issuable pursuant to the option is $1.32 per share while the fair market value
of the common stock at the date of the option grant was $1.79 per share resulting in $0.4 million expense in 2001. On December 31, 2001, all shares were
outstanding and none were exercisable. On December 31, 2002, all shares were outstanding and 83,334 shares are exercisable. The shares issued to Guardian are
not included in the outstanding options listed in the above tables.
 
Split Dollar Life Insurance Program
         In 1998, we established a split dollar life insurance program for our benefit and the benefit of certain of our executive officers. Under the program, we
purchased life insurance policies, which provide the beneficiary a death benefit in an amount equal to the face amount of the policy reduced by the greater of (i)
all premiums paid by the company or (ii) the cash surrender value of the policy, which amount, at the death of the executive, will be returned to us. We retain an
equity interest in the death benefit and cash surrender value of the policy to secure this repayment obligation.
 



Subject to certain conditions, executive officers may transfer to us their interest in the death benefit based on a predetermined formula. The liability
associated with this program was $12.0 million as of December 31, 2002 and $18.6 million as of December 31, 2001. The obligations under this program can
increase and decrease based on our total return to shareholders and payments to plan participants. This liability decreased approximately
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$6.6 million in 2002 due to payments to plan participants, $0.5 million in 2001 due to balance adjustments, and $12.8 million in 2000 due primarily to payments
to plan participants.
 
16. INCOME TAXES
 Income tax expense (benefit) is composed of the following components at December 31:
 

 
  

2002

   

2001

   

2000

 
   (In Thousands)  
Current income taxes:                

Federal   $ (153,431)  $ (21,942)  $ 39,747 
State    (4,432)   (186)   10,131 

Deferred income taxes:                

Federal    (77,040)   (28,363)   18,060 
State    8,933    1,180    9,585 

Investment tax credit amortization    (4,793)   (6,646)   (6,045)
       

Total    (230,763)   (55,957)   71,478 

Less taxes classified in:                

Discontinued operations    (823)   40    226 
Cumulative effects of accounting changes    (72,335)   12,347    (1,097)

       
Total income tax (benefit) expense   $ (157,605)  $ (68,344)  $ 72,349 

       
 

Temporary differences related to deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are summarized in the following table.
 

 
  

December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

   (In Thousands)
Deferred tax assets:         

Deferred gain on sale-leaseback   $ 71,609  $ 76,806
Customer accounts    146,094   60,023
General business credit carryforward(a)    28,469   28,494
Accrued liabilities    22,314   23,511
Disallowed plant costs    15,587   16,650
Long-term energy contracts    12,814   13,538
Goodwill    76,680   374
Other    152,989   97,799

     
Total deferred tax assets   $ 526,556  $ 317,195

     

Deferred tax liabilities:         

Accelerated depreciation   $ 676,856  $ 617,682
Acquisition premium    259,162   267,161
Deferred future income taxes    198,866   222,071
Investment tax credits    79,584   84,900
Other    126,965   123,090

     
Total deferred tax liabilities   $ 1,341,433  $ 1,314,904

     

(a)   Balance represents unutilized  tax credits  generated  from  affordable  housing partnerships in which we sold the majority of
our interests in 2001. These credits expire beginning 2019 through 2022.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflected on our consolidated balance sheets as follows:

 

 
  

December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

   (In Thousands)
Current deferred tax assets, net   $ —    $ 23,284
Current deferred tax liabilities, net    2,998   —  
Non-current deferred tax liabilities, net    811,879   1,020,993
     
Net deferred tax liabilities   $ 814,877  $ 997,709
     

 
In accordance with various rate orders, we have not yet collected through rates certain accelerated tax deductions, which have been passed on to customers.

We believe it is probable that the net future increases in income taxes payable will be recovered from customers. We have recorded a regulatory asset for these
amounts. These assets are also a temporary difference for which deferred income tax liabilities have been provided. This liability is classified above as deferred
future income taxes.
 

The effective income tax rates set forth below are computed by dividing total federal and state income taxes by the sum of such taxes and net income. The
difference between the effective tax rates and the federal statutory income tax rates are as follows:
 

 
  

For the Year Ended December 31,

 

 
  

2002

   

2001

   

2000

 
Effective income tax rate   (48.7)%   (64.0)%   33.9%
Effect of:             

State income taxes   (1.1)   0.8   (6.0)
Amortization of investment tax credits   1.5   6.2   2.8 
Corporate-owned life insurance policies   3.6   12.8   5.4 
Affordable housing tax credits   0.1   9.1   5.0 
Accelerated depreciation flow through and amortization   (1.5)   (0.1)   (1.8)
Dividends received deduction   3.0   9.6   4.6 
Amortization of goodwill   —   (14.2)   (8.3)
Settlement of outstanding state income tax issue   6.9   (1.0)   (1.4)
Protection One Europe goodwill impairment   (11.0)   —   — 
Minority interest in subsidiary investment   11.9   4.0   1.0 
Other   0.3   1.8   (0.2)

       
Statutory federal income tax rate   (35.0)%   (35.0)%   35.0%
       

 
17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 City of Wichita Franchise
 KGE’s franchise with the City of Wichita to provide retail electric service is effective through December 1, 2003. We are currently negotiating with the
City of Wichita for a long-term franchise agreement. There can be no assurance that we can successfully renegotiate the franchise with terms similar, or as
favorable, as those in the current franchise. Under Kansas law, KGE will continue to have the right to serve the customers in Wichita following the expiration of
the franchise. Customers within the Wichita metropolitan area account for approximately 21% of our total energy sales volumes.
 
Purchase Orders and Contracts
 As part of our ongoing operations and construction program, we have purchase orders and contracts, excluding fuel (which is discussed below under “—
Fuel Commitments,”) that have an unexpended balance of approximately $153.1 million at December 31, 2002, of which $32.2 million has been committed. The
$32.2 million commitment relates to purchase obligations issued and outstanding at year-end, as well as a contract tariff for telecommunication services.
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The aggregate amount of required payments at December 31, 2002 is as follows:

 

 
  

Committed
Amount

   (In Thousands)
2003   $ 24,475
2004    7,469
2005    270
2006    11
   
   $ 32,225
   

 
Clean Air Act
 We must comply with the provisions of The Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 that require a two-phase reduction in certain emissions. We have installed
continuous monitoring and reporting equipment to meet the acid rain requirements. Material capital expenditures have not been required to meet Phase II sulfur
dioxide and nitrogen oxide requirements. We may purchase SO2 allowances as necessary to meet these requirements.
 
Manufactured Gas Sites
 We have been associated with 15 former manufactured gas sites located in Kansas that may contain coal tar and other potentially harmful materials. We and
the Kansas Department of Health and Environment (KDHE) entered into a consent agreement governing all future work at these sites. The terms of the consent
agreement will allow us to investigate these sites and set remediation priorities based on the results of the investigations and risk analysis. At December 31, 2002,
the costs incurred for preliminary site investigation and risk assessment have been minimal. In accordance with the terms of the strategic alliance with ONEOK,
ownership of twelve of these sites and the responsibility for clean up of these sites were transferred to ONEOK. The ONEOK agreement limits our future liability
associated with these sites to an immaterial amount. Our investment earnings from ONEOK could be impacted by these costs.
 
EPA New Source Review
 The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) is conducting an enforcement initiative at a number of coal-fired power plants in an effort to determine
whether modifications at those facilities were subject to New Source Review requirements or New Source Performance Standards under the Clean Air Act. The
EPA has requested information from us under Section 114(a) of the Clean Air Act (Section 114). A Section 114 information request requires us to provide
responses to specific EPA questions regarding certain projects and maintenance activities that the EPA believes may have violated the New Source Performance
Standard and New Source Review requirements of the Clean Air Act. The EPA contends that power plants are required to update emission controls at the time of
major maintenance or capital activity. We believe that maintenance and capital activities performed at our power plants are generally routine in nature and are
typical for the industry. We are complying with this information request, but cannot predict the outcome of this investigation at this time. Should the EPA
determine to take action, the resulting additional costs to comply could be material. We would expect to seek recovery through rates of any settlement amounts.
 

The EPA has initiated civil enforcement actions against other unaffiliated utilities as part of its initiative. Settlement agreements entered into in connection
with some of these actions have provided for expenditures to be made over extended time periods.
 
Solid Waste Landfills
 We have operating solid waste landfills at Jeffrey Energy Center, Tecumseh Energy Center and Lawrence Energy Center (LEC) for the single purpose of
disposing of coal combustion waste material. Additionally, there is one retired landfill at both LEC and Neosho Energy Center. All landfills are permitted by the
KDHE and meet all applicable requirements. The operating landfill at LEC is projected to be full by 2007 requiring us to permit and
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construct a new landfill at this site. It is anticipated that the lead time for permitting a new landfill may be significant, which will require this activity to begin in
2003.
 
Superfund Sites
 In December 1999, we were identified as one of more than 1,000 potentially responsible parties at an EPA Superfund site in Kansas City, Kansas (Kansas
City site). Based upon previous experience and the limited nature of our business transactions with the previous owners of the site, our obligation, if any, at the
Kansas City site is not expected to have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.
 
Nuclear Decommissioning
 Decommissioning is a nuclear industry term for the permanent shutdown of a nuclear power plant and the removal of radioactive components in
accordance with Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) requirements. The NRC will terminate a plant’s license and release the property for unrestricted use
when a company has reduced the residual radioactivity of a nuclear plant to a level mandated by the NRC. The NRC requires companies with nuclear plants to
prepare formal financial plans to fund decommissioning. These plans are designed so that funds required for decommissioning will be accumulated prior to the
termination of the license of the related nuclear power plant.
 

We accrue decommissioning costs over the expected life of the Wolf Creek generating facility. The accrual is based on estimated unrecovered
decommissioning costs, which consider inflation over the remaining estimated life of the generating facility and are net of expected earnings on amounts
recovered from customers and deposited in an external trust fund.
 

The KCC reviews our decommissioning fund financial plans in two phases. Phase one is the approval of the decommissioning study, the current year dollar
amount and the future year dollar amount. Phase two is the filing of a “funding schedule” by the owner of the nuclear facility detailing its plans of how to fund
the future year dollar amount for the pro rata share of the plant.
 

On February 25, 2002, we filed an application with the KCC to modify the funding schedule to reflect an assumed life of Wolf Creek through 2045 (see
Note 3). This modification was granted on March 8, 2002. The filing reflects the current estimate in 1999 dollars of $221 million, but a future estimate in 2045
through 2054 of $1.28 billion. An updated decommissioning and dismantlement cost estimate was filed with the KCC on August 30, 2002. Costs outlined by this
study were developed to decommission Wolf Creek following a shutdown. The analyses relied upon the site-specific, technical information developed in 1999,
updated to reflect current plant conditions and operating assumptions. Based on this study, our share of Wolf Creek’s decommissioning costs, under the immediate
dismantlement method, is estimated to be approximately $220 million in 2002 dollars. These costs include decontamination, dismantling and site restoration and
are not inflated, escalated, or discounted over the period of expenditure. We anticipate a KCC order on the August 2002 decommissioning study in the second
quarter of 2003. The actual decommissioning costs may vary from the estimates because of changes in technology and changes in costs for labor, materials and
equipment.
 

We will file a funding schedule to reflect the KCC’s order on the August 2002 decommissioning study by the end of the second quarter of 2003 and
anticipate a KCC order on the funding schedule in the third quarter of 2003.
 

Decommissioning costs are currently being charged to operating expense in accordance with the July 25, 2001 KCC rate order as modified by the KCC’s
approval of the March 8, 2002 funding schedule. Electric rates charged to customers provide for recovery of these decommissioning costs over the life of Wolf
Creek as determined by the KCC through 2045. The Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) requires that funds to meet its decommissioning funding assurance
requirement be in our decommissioning fund by the time our license expires in 2025. We believe that the KCC approved funding level will be sufficient to meet
the NRC minimum financial assurance requirement.
 

Amounts expensed approximated $3.85 million in 2002 and will remain unchanged through 2044, subject to the August 2002 decommissioning cost review
and revised funding schedule to be filed in the second quarter of 2003. These amounts are deposited in an external trust fund. The average after-tax expected
return on trust assets is 5.56%.
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Our investment in the decommissioning fund is recorded at fair value, including reinvested earnings. It approximated $63.5 million at December 31, 2002

and $66.6 million at December 31, 2001. The balance in the trust fund decreased from 2001 to 2002 due to the decline in the market value of equity securities
held in the trust. Trust fund earnings accumulate in the fund balance and increase the recorded decommissioning liability.
 
Asset Retirement Obligations
 In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” SFAS No. 143 provides accounting requirements for the
recognition and measurement of liabilities associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets. Under the standard, these liabilities will be recognized at
fair value as incurred and capitalized and depreciated over the appropriate period as part of the cost of the related tangible long-lived assets. The adoption of
SFAS No. 143 will not impact income. Any income effects are offset by a regulatory asset created pursuant to SFAS No. 71. Retirement obligations associated
with long-lived assets included within the scope of SFAS No. 143 are those for which a legal obligation exists under enacted laws, statutes, written or oral
contracts, including obligations arising under the doctrine of promissory estoppel.
 

We adopted SFAS No. 143 on January 1, 2003, which required us to recognize and estimate the liability for our 47% share of the estimated cost to
decommission Wolf Creek. SFAS No. 143 requires the recognition of the present value of the asset retirement obligation we incurred at the time Wolf Creek was
placed into service in 1985. On January 1, 2003, we recorded an asset retirement obligation of $74.7 million. In addition, we increased our property and
equipment balance, net of accumulated depreciation, by $10.7 million. These amounts were estimated based on the calculation guidelines of SFAS No. 143. We
also established a regulatory asset for $64.0 million, which represents the accretion of the liability since 1985 and the increased depreciation expense associated
with the increase in plant.
 
Storage of Spent Nuclear Fuel
 Under the Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982, the Department of Energy (DOE) is responsible for the permanent disposal of spent nuclear fuel. Wolf Creek
pays the DOE a quarterly fee of one-tenth of a cent for each kilowatt-hour of net nuclear generation produced for the future disposal of spent nuclear fuel. These
disposal costs are charged to cost of sales.
 

A permanent disposal site will not be available for the nuclear industry until 2010 or later. Under current DOE policy, once a permanent site is available,
the DOE will accept spent nuclear fuel on a priority basis. The owners of the oldest spent fuel will be given the highest priority. As a result, disposal services for
Wolf Creek will not be available prior to 2016. Wolf Creek has on-site temporary storage for spent nuclear fuel. In early 2000, Wolf Creek completed replacement
of spent fuel storage racks to increase its on-site storage capacity for all spent fuel expected to be generated by Wolf Creek through the end of its licensed life in
2025.
 

On February 14, 2002, the Secretary of Energy submitted to the President a recommendation for approval of the Yucca Mountain site in Nevada for the
development of a nuclear waste repository for the disposal of spent nuclear fuel and high level nuclear waste from the nation’s defense activities. In July 2002, the
President signed a resolution approving the Yucca Mountain site after receiving the approval of this site from the U.S. Senate and House of Representatives. This
action allows the DOE to apply to the NRC to license the project. The DOE expects that this facility will open in 2010. However, the opening of the Yucca
Mountain site could be delayed due to litigation and other issues related to the site as a permanent repository for spent nuclear fuel.
 
Nuclear Insurance
 We maintain nuclear insurance for Wolf Creek in four areas: liability, worker radiation, property and accidental outage. These policies contain certain
industry standard exclusions, including, but not limited to, ordinary wear and tear, and war. Terrorist acts are not excluded from the property and accidental
outage policies, but are covered as a common occurrence under the Non-Terrorism Risk Insurance Act. The term common occurrence means that if terrorist acts
occur against one or more commercial nuclear power plants insured by our insurance company within a 12-month period, all of these terrorist acts will be treated
as one event and the owners of the plants will share one full limit of each type of policy, which is currently $3.24 billion plus any reinsurance recoverable by
Nuclear Electric Insurance Limited (NEIL), our insurance provider. Currently there is $1 billion of reinsurance
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purchased by NEIL. Claims that arise from terrorist acts are also covered by our nuclear liability and worker radiation policies. These policies are subject to one
industry aggregate limit for such acts, currently $300 million for the risk of terrorism. Unlike the property and accidental outage policies, an industry-wide
retrospective assessment program (discussed below) applies once the nuclear liability and worker radiation policies have been exhausted.
 

Nuclear Liability Insurance
 Pursuant to the Price-Anderson Act, we are required to insure against public liability claims resulting from nuclear incidents to the full limit of public
liability, which is currently approximately $9.5 billion. This limit of liability consists of the maximum available commercial insurance of $300 million, and the
remaining $9.2 billion is provided through mandatory participation in an industry-wide retrospective assessment program. Under this retrospective assessment
program, we can be assessed up to $88.1 million per incident at any commercial reactor in the country, payable at no more than $10 million per incident per year.
This assessment is subject to an inflation adjustment based on the Consumer Price Index and applicable premium taxes. This assessment also applies in excess of
our worker radiation claims insurance. In addition, the U.S. Congress could impose additional revenue-raising measures to pay claims. If the $9.5 billion liability
limitation is insufficient, the U.S. Congress will consider taking whatever action is necessary to compensate the public for valid claims.
 

The Price-Anderson Act expired in August 2002. In late 2002, a renewal act was approved by Congress to be part of an energy bill to extend the Act for 15
years from August 1, 2002. The renewal act would have increased the annual retrospective premium limit from $10 million to $15 million per reactor per incident
and increased the maximum potential assessment from $88.1 million to $98.7 million per reactor per incident. Although the renewal act was approved by
Congress, the energy bill was never signed by the President. However, in February 2003, the Act was extended to December 31, 2003 with no changes except for
its expiration date. We expect that the Act will be renewed, but we are unable to predict whether the Act will be modified as proposed in 2002.
 

Nuclear Property Insurance
 The owners carry decontamination liability, premature decommissioning liability and property damage insurance for Wolf Creek totaling approximately
$2.75 billion ($1.3 billion our share). This insurance is provided by NEIL. In the event of an accident, insurance proceeds must first be used for reactor
stabilization and site decontamination in accordance with a plan mandated by the NRC. Our share of any remaining proceeds can be used to pay for property
damage or decontamination expenses or, if certain requirements are met including decommissioning the plant, toward a shortfall in the decommissioning trust
fund.
 

Accidental Nuclear Outage Insurance
 The owners also carry additional insurance with NEIL to cover costs of replacement power and other extra expenses incurred during a prolonged outage
resulting from accidental property damage at Wolf Creek. If significant losses were incurred at any of the nuclear plants insured under the NEIL policies, we may
be subject to retrospective assessments under the current policies of approximately $24.5 million ($11.5 million our share).
 

Although we maintain various insurance policies to provide coverage for potential losses and liabilities resulting from an accident or an extended outage,
our insurance coverage may not be adequate to cover the costs that could result from a catastrophic accident or extended outage at Wolf Creek. Any substantial
losses not covered by insurance, to the extent not recoverable through rates, would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of
operations.
 
Fuel Commitments
 To supply a portion of the fuel requirements for our generating plants, we have entered into various commitments to obtain nuclear fuel and coal. Some of
these contracts contain provisions for price escalation and minimum purchase commitments. At December 31, 2002, our share of WCNOC’s nuclear fuel
commitments were approximately $5.0 million for uranium concentrates expiring in 2003, $0.6 million for conversion expiring in 2003, $21.5 million for
enrichment expiring at various times through 2006 and $57.5 million for fabrication through 2025.
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At December 31, 2002, our coal and coal transportation contract commitments in 2002 dollars under the remaining terms of the contracts were

approximately $2.0 billion. The largest contract expires in 2020, with the remaining contracts expiring at various times through 2013.
 

At December 31, 2002, our natural gas transportation commitments in 2002 dollars under the remaining terms of the contracts were approximately $56.2
million. The natural gas transportation contracts provide firm service to several of our gas burning facilities and expire at various times through 2010, except for
one contract that expires in 2016.
 
Energy Act
 As part of the 1992 Energy Policy Act, a special assessment is being collected from utilities for a uranium enrichment decontamination and
decommissioning fund. Our portion of the assessment for Wolf Creek is approximately $8.1 million. To date, we have paid approximately $6.8 million, with the
remainder payable over the next four years. Such costs are recovered through the ratemaking process.
 
18. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 We, Westar Industries, Protection One, its subsidiary Protection One Alarm Monitoring, Inc. (Monitoring) and certain present and former officers and
directors of Protection One were defendants in a purported class action litigation in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California, “Alec Garbini, et
al v. Protection One, Inc., et al,” No. CV 99-3755 DT (RCx). On August 20, 2002, the parties filed a Stipulation of Settlement which provided for, among other
things, no finding of wrongdoing on the part of any of the defendants, or any other finding that the claims alleged had merit, and a $7.5 million payment to the
plaintiffs, which has been fully funded by Protection One’s existing insurance. On November 4, 2002, the district court approved the settlement and entered an
Order and Final Judgment. The court certified a class for settlement purposes consisting of all persons and entities who purchased or otherwise acquired the
common stock of Protection One during the time period beginning and including February 10, 1998 through February 2, 2001. The Order and Final Judgment
provides for, among other things, dismissal with prejudice and release of all Class members’ claims against us, Westar Industries, Protection One, Monitoring,
and the present and former officers and directors of Protection One.
 

We and the Public Service Company of New Mexico settled the litigation between us on September 24, 2002. Each side agreed to release all of its claims
and potential claims in connection with the transaction.
 

We and certain of our present and former officers are defendants in five purported class action lawsuits filed during January and February 2003 in U.S.
District Court in Topeka, Kansas. All of the lawsuits allege securities law violations resulting from power marketing transactions with Cleco Corporation (Cleco)
and the first and second quarter 2002 restatements related to the revised goodwill impairment charge and the mark to market charge on our putable/callable notes.
We intend to vigorously defend against these actions. We are unable to predict the ultimate impact of this matter on our financial position, results of operations
and cash flows.
 

We and certain of our present and former officers are defendants in purported class action lawsuits filed during March 2003 in U.S. District Court in
Topeka, Kansas on behalf of participants in and beneficiaries of our Employees’ 401(k) Savings Plan. All of the lawsuits allege violations of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act arising from the conduct of certain present and former officers who served or are serving as fiduciaries for the plan. The conduct
is related to the matters alleged as a basis for securities law violations in the class action lawsuits disclosed in the preceding paragraph. We intend to vigorously
defend against these actions. We are unable to predict the ultimate impact of this matter on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
 

We and our subsidiaries are involved in various other legal, environmental and regulatory proceedings. We believe that adequate provisions have been
made and accordingly believe that the ultimate disposition of such matters will not have a material adverse effect upon our overall financial position or results of
operations.
 

See also Notes 3, 19 and 35 for discussion of KCC regulatory proceedings and a FERC proceeding, an investigation by the United States Attorney’s Office,
an inquiry by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), an investigation by FERC of certain of our power transactions and potential liabilities to David C.
Wittig and Douglas T. Lake.
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19. ONGOING INVESTIGATIONS
 Grand Jury Subpoena
 On September 17, 2002, we were served with a federal grand jury subpoena by the United States Attorney’s Office in Topeka, Kansas, requesting
information concerning the use of aircraft and our annual shareholder meetings. Since that date, the United States Attorney’s Office has served additional
subpoenas on us and certain of our employees requesting further information concerning the use of aircraft; executive compensation arrangements with Mr.
Wittig, Mr. Lake and other former and present officers; the proposed rights offering of Westar Industries stock; and the company in general. We are providing
information in response to these requests and are fully cooperating in the investigation. We have not been informed that we are a target of the investigation. We
are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of the investigation or its impact on us.
 

Securities and Exchange Commission Inquiry
 On November 1, 2002, the SEC notified us that it would be conducting an inquiry into the matters involved in the restatement of our first and second
quarter 2002 financial statements. Our counsel has communicated with the SEC about these matters and other matters within the scope of the grand jury
investigation. We are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of the inquiry or its impact on us.
 

Special Committee Investigation
 Our board of directors appointed a Special Committee of directors to investigate management matters and matters that are the subject of the grand jury
investigation and SEC inquiry. The Special Committee retained counsel and other advisors. The Special Committee investigation has been completed and has not
resulted in adjustments to our consolidated financial statements.
 

FERC Subpoena
 On December 16, 2002, we received a subpoena from FERC seeking details on power trades with Cleco and its affiliates, documents concerning power
transactions between our system and our marketing operations and information on power trades in which we or other trading companies acted as intermediaries.
 

Cleco publicly disclosed in November 2002 that Cleco and its affiliates had engaged in certain trades that may have violated FERC affiliate transaction
rules applicable to Cleco. The affiliate transactions involved power sales from one Cleco affiliate to Westar Energy and then back to another or the same Cleco
affiliate. The transactions totaled approximately $3.8 million in 2002, $12.6 million in 2001 and $3.4 million in 2000. The total amount of these transactions
represented less than 1% of our total revenues in 2002, 2001 and 2000.
 

Among the issues being reviewed by FERC are transactions we conducted with third parties to facilitate power transfers between our system and our
marketing operations. These transactions and other power marketing and trading activities were recently reviewed in a KCC ordered audit of our power marketing
operations. This review was conducted by an independent third party with industry experience who was approved by the KCC. The review found no irregularities
in the structure or pricing of the transactions.
 

We have provided information to FERC in response to the subpoena. We believe that our participation in these transactions did not violate FERC rules and
regulations. However, we are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of the investigation.
 
20. COMMON STOCK, PREFERRED STOCK AND OTHER MANDATORILY REDEEMABLE SECURITIES
 Our Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended, provide for 150,000,000 authorized shares of common stock. At December 31, 2002, 72,840,217
shares were issued and 71,506,953 shares were outstanding.
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We have a Direct Stock Purchase Plan (DSPP). Shares issued under the DSPP may be either original issue shares or shares purchased in the open market.

During 2002, a total of 7,087,125 shares were purchased from the company through the issuance of 6,936,289 original issue shares and 150,836 through the
reissuance of treasury shares. Of the total shares purchased from us in 2002, 5,253,502 were acquired by Westar Industries and the balance of the shares were for
the DSPP, ESPP, 401(k) match and other stock based plans operated under the 1996 Long-Term Incentive and Share Award Plan. At December 31, 2002,
1,855,808 shares were available under the DSPP registration statement.
 

The November 8, 2002 KCC order directed us to reverse all transactions in 2002 recorded as equity investments by us in Westar Industries. In compliance
with that order, on December 9, 2002, Westar Industries transferred to us 20,301,489 shares of our common stock that had been previously issued to Westar
Industries.
 
Treasury Stock
 At December 31, 2002, we had a treasury stock balance of 1,333,264 shares. Westar Industries did not own any of our common stock and Protection One
owned 850,000 shares of our common stock. At December 31, 2001, all of our treasury stock was owned by Westar Industries, except for 50,000 shares owned by
Protection One.
 

See Note 34 for information regarding our purchase during the first quarter of 2003 of shares of our common stock held by Protection One.
 
Preferred Stock Not Subject to Mandatory Redemption
 Westar Energy’s cumulative preferred stock is redeemable in whole or in part on 30 to 60 days notice at our option.
 

Rate

  

Principal
Outstanding

 

Call
Price

 

Premium

 

Total
Amount

to Redeem

(Dollars in Thousands)
4.500%   $ 13,354 108.00% $ 1,068 $ 14,422
4.250%    4,304 101.50%  65  4,369
5.000%    3,778 102.00%  76  3,854

       
   $ 21,436   $ 1,209 $ 22,645
       

 
The provisions of Westar Energy’s Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended, contain restrictions on the payment of dividends or the making of other

distributions on our common stock while any preferred shares remain outstanding unless certain capitalization ratios and other conditions are met. If the ratio of
the capital represented by our preferred stock and common stock (together, Subordinated Stock) (including premiums on capital stock) and its surplus accounts, to
its total capital and its surplus accounts at the end of the second month immediately preceding the date of the proposed payment, adjusted to reflect the proposed
payment (Capitalization Ratio), will be less than 20%, then the payment of the dividends on Subordinated Stock shall not exceed 50% of net income available for
dividends for the 12-month period ending with and including the date of the proposed payment. If the Capitalization Ratio is 20% or more but less than 25%, then
the payment of dividends on the Subordinated Stock, including the proposed payment, then the payments shall not exceed 75% of its net income available for
dividends for such 12-month period. Except to the extent permitted above, no payment or other distribution may be made that would reduce the Capitalization
Ratio to less than 25%. At December 31, 2002, the capitalization ratio was greater than 25%.
 

So long as there are any outstanding shares of Westar Energy preferred stock, Westar Energy shall not without the consent of a majority of the shares of
preferred stock or if more than one-third of the outstanding shares of preferred stock vote negatively and without the consent of a percentage of any and all
classes required by law and Westar Energy’s Articles of Incorporation, declare or pay any dividends (other than stock dividends or dividends applied by the
recipient to the purchase of additional shares) or make any other distribution upon Subordinated Stock unless, immediately after such distribution or payment the
sum of Westar Energy’s capital represented by the outstanding Subordinated Stock and our earned and any capital surplus shall not be less than $10.5 million plus
an amount equal to twice the annual dividend requirement on all the then outstanding shares of preferred stock.
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Other Mandatorily Redeemable Securities
 On December 14, 1995, Western Resources Capital I, a wholly owned trust, issued $100 million of 7 7/8% Cumulative Quarterly Income Preferred
Securities, Series A, of which $98.8 million were outstanding at December 31, 2002. The securities are redeemable at the option of Western Resources Capital I
on or after December 11, 2000, at $25 per security plus accrued interest and unpaid dividends. Holders of the securities are entitled to receive distributions at an
annual rate of 7 7/8% of the liquidation value of $25. Distributions are payable quarterly and are tax deductible by us. These distributions are recorded as interest
expense. The sole asset of the trust is $103 million principal amount of Westar Energy 7 7/8% Deferrable Interest Subordinated Debentures, Series A due
December 11, 2025.
 

On July 31, 1996, Western Resources Capital II, a wholly owned trust, issued $120 million of 8 1/2% Cumulative Quarterly Income Preferred Securities,
Series B, of which $115.7 million were outstanding at December 31, 2002. The securities are redeemable at the option of Western Resources Capital II, on or after
July 31, 2001, at $25 per preferred security plus accumulated and unpaid distributions. Holders of the securities are entitled to receive distributions at an annual
rate of 8 1/2% of the liquidation value of $25. Distributions are payable quarterly and are tax deductible by us. These distributions are recorded as interest
expense. The sole asset of the trust is $124 million principal amount of Westar Energy 8 1/2% Deferrable Interest Subordinated Debentures, Series B due July 31,
2036.
 

In addition to Westar Energy’s obligations under the Subordinated Debentures discussed above, Westar Energy has guaranteed, on a subordinated basis,
payment of distributions on the preferred securities. These undertakings constitute a full and unconditional guarantee by Westar Energy of the trust’s obligations
under the preferred securities.
 
21. MARKETABLE SECURITIES
 During the last three years, we sold substantially all of our investments in marketable securities. These securities were classified as available-for-sale.
Realized gains and losses are included in earnings and were derived using the specific identification method. The following table summarizes our marketable
security sales for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000:
 

 
 

 
  

Marketable Security Sales

 
 

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

     (In Thousands)
Sales proceeds   $ —    $ 2,829  $ 218,609
Realized gains(a)    —     —     115,987
Realized losses    —     1,861   1,039

            

(a)  
 

During  2000, we sold our equity investment in a gas compression
company and realized a pre-tax gain on $91.1 million.

 
In February 2000, one of the paging companies we held an interest in made an announcement that significantly increased the market value of paging

company securities in general. During the first quarter of 2000, we sold the remainder of these securities for a gain of $24.9 million.
 

During 2001, we wrote down the cost basis of certain securities to their estimated fair value. The fair value of these equity securities had declined below
our cost basis, and we determined that the decline was other than temporary. The amount of the write down totaled $11.1 million, of which $9.6 million related to
an investment. The write down is included in other income (expense).
 

See Note 4 for information regarding the classification of our ONEOK investment.
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22. MONITORED SERVICES DISPOSITIONS
 In 2001, Protection One and Protection One Europe disposed of certain monitored security operations for approximately $48.0 million and we recorded a
pre-tax loss of $13.1 million.
 
23. IMPAIRMENT CHARGES
 Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142 and SFAS No. 144. SFAS No. 142 establishes new standards for accounting for goodwill. SFAS No.
142 continues to require the recognition of goodwill as an asset, but discontinues amortization of goodwill. In addition, annual impairment tests must be
performed using a fair-value based approach as opposed to an undiscounted cash flow approach required under prior standards. The completion of the impairment
tests, based upon a valuation performed by an independent appraisal firm, as of January 1, 2002, indicated that the carrying values of goodwill at Protection One
and Protection One Europe had been impaired and impairment charges were recorded as discussed below.
 

Another impairment test of Protection One’s goodwill and customer accounts was completed as of July 1, 2002 (the date selected for Protection One’s
annual impairment test), with the independent appraisal firm providing the valuation of the estimated fair value of Protection One’s reporting units, and no
impairment was indicated. Protection One’s stock price declined after regulatory orders were issued (see Note 3), including the KCC’s December 23, 2002, order.
As a result, Protection One retained the independent appraisal firm to perform an additional valuation of Protection One’s reporting units so it could perform an
impairment test as of December 31, 2002, which resulted in the additional impairment charge discussed below.
 

SFAS No. 144 established a new approach to determining whether our customer account asset is impaired. The approach no longer permits us to evaluate
our customer account asset for impairment based on the net undiscounted cash flow stream obtained over the remaining life of goodwill associated with the
customer accounts being evaluated. Rather, the cash flow stream used under SFAS No. 144 is limited to future estimated undiscounted cash flows from assets in
the asset group, which include customer accounts, the primary asset of the reporting unit, plus an estimated amount for the sale of the remaining assets within the
asset group (including goodwill). If the undiscounted cash flow stream from the asset group is less than the combined book value of the asset group, then we are
required to mark the customer account asset down to fair value, by recording an impairment, to the extent fair value is less than our book value. To the extent net
book value is less than fair value, no impairment would be recorded.
 

The new rule substantially reduces the net undiscounted cash flows for customer account impairment evaluation purposes as compared to the previous
accounting rules. The undiscounted cash flow stream has been reduced from the 16 year remaining life of the goodwill to the nine year remaining life of customer
accounts for impairment evaluation purposes. Using these new guidelines, we determined that there was an indication of impairment of the carrying value of the
customer accounts and an impairment charge was recorded as discussed below.
 

To implement the new standards, an independent appraisal firm was engaged to help management estimate the fair values of Protection One’s and
Protection One Europe’s goodwill and customer accounts. Based on this analysis, we recorded a charge in the first quarter of 2002 of approximately $749.3
million (net of tax benefit and minority interests), of which $555.4 million was related to goodwill and $193.9 million was related to customer accounts.
 

The impairment charge for goodwill recorded in the first quarter of 2002 is reflected in our consolidated statement of income as a cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle. The impairment charge for customer accounts is reflected in our consolidated statement of income as an operating expense. These
impairment charges reduce the recorded value of these assets to their estimated fair values at January 1, 2002.
 

Protection One completed an additional impairment test of goodwill as of December 31, 2002. We recorded an impairment charge of $79.7 million, net of
tax benefit and minority interests, in the fourth quarter of 2002 to reflect the impairment of all remaining goodwill of Protection One’s North America segment,
which is reflected in our consolidated statement of income as an operating expense.
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We solicited and received indications of value for Protection One Europe from potential buyers. These indications of value are within a range we would be

willing to accept. They indicated the recorded goodwill of Protection One Europe had no value. Accordingly, we recorded a $36 million impairment charge in the
fourth quarter of 2002 to reflect the impairment of all remaining goodwill at Protection One Europe, which is reflected in our consolidated statement of income as
an operating expense. We are willing to accept offers in the indicated range due to our ability to use the tax loss on this sale to offset the taxes that would
otherwise be due from our sale of other investments. We will recognize a $58 million tax benefit in the first quarter of 2003 when Protection One Europe is
classified as a discontinued operation.
 

These charges for the year ended December 31, 2002, are detailed as follows:
 

 
  

Impairment of
Goodwill

    

Impairment of
Customer Accounts

  

Total

 
   (In Thousands)  
Protection One   $ 719,885    $ 339,974  $ 1,059,859 
Protection One Europe    116,154     —     116,154 
         
Total pre-tax impairment   $ 836,039    $ 339,974   1,176,013 
            

Income tax benefit              (203,958)
Minority interest              (107,172)
             
Net charge             $ 864,883 
             

 
We no longer amortize goodwill to expense because of the adoption of SFAS No. 142. The following table shows our results for the year ended December

31, 2002, compared to our results for the year ended December 31, 2001, calculated using the new accounting standard for goodwill, adjusted for minority
interest.
 

 
  

Year Ended December 31,

 
  

2002

   

2001

   

2000

   (In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)
Reported earnings (loss) available for common stock   $ (793,400)   $ (21,771)   $ 135,352
Add back: Goodwill amortization    —      50,437    51,394

       
Adjusted earnings available for common stock   $ (793,400)   $ 28,666   $ 186,746

       
Basic earnings per share:               

Reported earnings (loss) available for common stock   $ (11.06)   $ (0.31)   $ 1.96
Add back: Goodwill amortization    —      0.72    0.75

       
Adjusted earnings available for common stock   $ (11.06)   $ 0.41   $ 2.71

       
Diluted earnings per share:               

Reported earnings (loss) available for common stock   $ (11.06)   $ (0.31)   $ 1.95
Add back: Goodwill amortization    —      0.72    0.73

       
Adjusted earnings available for common stock   $ (11.06)   $ 0.41   $ 2.68

       
 

The investment at cost in customer accounts at December 31, 2002 was $1.1 billion and at December 31, 2001 was approximately $1.4 billion.
Accumulated amortization of the investment in customer accounts at December 31, 2002 was $678.9 million and at December 31, 2001 was $614.5 million. We
recorded approximately $83.3 million of customer account amortization expense during the year ended December 31, 2002, $148.0 million during the same
period of 2001 and $158.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2000. Customer account amortization expense is reduced primarily as a result of the
impairment charge that reduced our customer account balance. The table below reflects the estimated aggregate customer account amortization expense for 2003
and each of the four succeeding fiscal years.
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2003

  

2004

  

2005

  

2006

  

2007

   (In Thousands)
Estimated amortization expense   $ 83,389  $ 83,282  $ 66,998  $ 66,641  $ 60,320

 
We are required to perform impairment tests for long-lived assets prospectively for our monitored services segment as long as it continues to incur

recurring losses or for other matters that may negatively impact its businesses. Goodwill will be required to be tested upon certain triggering events, which
include recurring operating losses, adverse business conditions, adverse regulatory rulings, declines in market values and other matters that negatively impact
value. Given the potentially negative implications from the KCC’s December 23, 2002 order, and the subsequent decline in Protection One’s stock price,
Protection One tested its goodwill for impairment at December 31, 2002, which resulted in the additional impairment charge discussed above. If future
impairment tests for either goodwill or customer accounts indicate fair value is less than book value, we will be required to recognize additional impairment
charges on these assets in the future. Any such impairment charges could be material.
 
24. CHANGE IN ESTIMATE OF CUSTOMER LIFE
 During the first quarter of 2002, Protection One evaluated the estimated life and amortization rates for customer accounts, based on the results of a lifing
study performed by a third party appraisal firm in the first quarter of 2002. The report showed Protection One’s North America customer pool can expect a
declining revenue stream over the next 30 years with an estimated average remaining life of 9 years. Protection One’s Multifamily pool can expect a declining
revenue stream over the next 30 years with an estimated average remaining life of 10 years. Taking into account the results of the lifing study and the inherent
expected declining revenue streams for its North America and Multifamily customer pools, in particular the first five years, Protection One adjusted the rate of
amortization on customer accounts for its North America and Multifamily customer pools to better match the rate and period of amortization expense with the
expected decline in revenues. In the first quarter of 2002, Protection One changed its amortization rate for its North America pool to a 10-year 135% declining
balance method from a 10-year 130% declining balance method. For the Multifamily pool, Protection One will continue to amortize on a straight-line basis
utilizing a shorter nine year life. Protection One accounted for these amortization changes prospectively beginning January 1, 2002, as a change in estimate.
These changes in estimates increased amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2002 by approximately $0.8 million, net of $0.5 million tax.
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25. LEASES
 Operating Leases
 The company leases office buildings, computer equipment, vehicles, railcars and other property and equipment with various terms and expiration dates
from 1 to 16 years. Rental payments for operating leases and estimated rental commitments are as follows:
 

 

  

LaCygne 2
Lease(a)

  

Total
Operating

Leases

Year Ended December 31,

  (In Thousands)
Rental payments:         

2000   $ 34,598  $ 72,904
2001    34,598   74,564
2002    34,598   62,500

Future commitments:         

2003   $ 39,420  $ 61,484
2004    34,598   51,082
2005    38,013   51,970
2006    42,287   53,253
2007    78,268   87,669
Thereafter    344,049   387,147

     
Total future commitments   $ 576,635  $ 692,605

     

(a)    LaCygne 2 lease amounts are included in total operating leases.  
  

  
  

 
In 1987, KGE sold and leased back its 50% undivided interest in the LaCygne 2 generating unit. The LaCygne 2 lease has an initial term of 29 years, with

various options to renew the lease or repurchase the 50% undivided interest. KGE remains responsible for its share of operation and maintenance costs and other
related operating costs of LaCygne 2. The lease is an operating lease for financial reporting purposes. We recognized a gain on the sale, which was deferred and is
being amortized over the lease term.
 

Capital Leases
 Assets recorded under capital leases are listed below:
 

 
  

December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

   (In Thousands)
Vehicles   $ 41,930  $ 44,098
Computer systems and software    7,264   6,145
Less: Accumulated amortization    21,771   20,855
     
   $ 27,423  $ 29,388
     

 
Minimum annual rental payments, excluding administrative costs such as property taxes, insurance and maintenance, under capital leases as of December

31, 2002 are listed below. Some capital leases are subject to covenants, which require us to maintain certain credit ratings.
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Total
Capital
Leases

Year Ended December 31,

  (In Thousands)
2003   $ 5,581
2004    5,513
2005    5,336
2006    5,093
2007    5,093
Thereafter    4,017
   
    30,633
Less amounts representing imputed interest    3,210
   

Present value of net minimum lease payments under capital leases   $ 27,423
   

 
26. GAIN ON DEBT RETIREMENTS
 Protection One’s and our debt securities were repurchased in the open market and gains were recognized on the retirement of these debt securities. Prior to
July 1, 2002, these were recognized as extraordinary gains.
 

Effective July 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 145. This standard limits the income statement classification of gains and losses from extinguishment of debt
as extraordinary to those transactions meeting the criteria of APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a
Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions.” SFAS No. 145 prohibits treating gains and losses
associated with extinguishments resulting from a company’s risk management strategy as extraordinary. Under SFAS No. 145, current gains and losses from the
extinguishment of debt are reported as other income. Gains or losses in prior periods that were previously classified as extraordinary that do not meet the APB
Opinion No. 30 criteria have been reclassified to other income. The adoption of this standard did not impact our net income or financial condition.
 
27. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
 During the second quarter of 2002, Protection One entered into negotiations for the sale of its Canadian business, which was included in our monitored
services segment. The sale was consummated on July 9, 2002. Protection One recorded an impairment loss of approximately $1.3 million, net of $0.7 million tax
benefit, in the second quarter of 2002 as a result of the sale.
 

The net operating losses of these operations are included in the consolidated statements of income under discontinued operations. The net operating loss for
the year ended December 31, 2002, of $1.6 million, includes an impairment loss on customer accounts of approximately $1.9 million. An impairment charge of
$2.3 million relating to the Canadian operations’ goodwill is reflected in the consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2002, as a
cumulative effect of accounting change from discontinued operations. Revenues from these operations were $4.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002,
compared to $8.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2001.
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Protection One sold all assets and liabilities of the Canadian operations. The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Canadian operations at December

31, 2001 were as follows:
 

 
    

December 31, 2001

     (In Thousands)
Assets:       

Current assets     $ 478
Property, plant and equipment, net      571
Customer accounts, net      16,992
Goodwill      4,842
Other      55

     
Total assets     $ 22,938

     
Liabilities:       

Current liabilities     $ 1,364
     

 
28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
 Below, we describe significant transactions between us and Westar Industries and some of our other subsidiaries and related parties. We have disclosed
these significant transactions even if they have been eliminated in the preparation of our consolidated results and financial position.
 

ONEOK Shared Services Agreement
 We and ONEOK have shared services agreements in which we provide and bill one another for facilities, utility field work, information technology,
customer support, meter reading and bill processing. Payments for these services are based on various hourly charges, negotiated fees and out-of-pocket expenses.
 

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

   (In Thousands)
Charges to ONEOK   $ 8,357  $ 8,202  $ 8,463
Charges from ONEOK    3,324   3,279   3,420

Net receivable from ONEOK, outstanding at December 31    1,457   1,424   1,205
 

ONEOK gave us notice of termination effective December 2003 of this shared services agreement. We expect termination of this agreement will increase
our annual costs to provide these services by approximately $11 million to $13 million.
 

Protection One Shared Services Agreement
 We provide administrative services to Protection One pursuant to services agreements, including accounting, tax, audit, human resources, legal, purchasing,
facilities and technology services. Fees for these services are based upon various hourly charges, negotiated fees and out-of-pocket expenses. Protection One
incurred charges of $3.9 million in 2002, $8.1 million in 2001 and $7.3 million in 2000. These intercompany charges have been eliminated in consolidation.
 

Westar Energy and Protection One have entered into an amended service agreement that stipulates that if Westar Energy sells its interest in Protection One,
Westar Energy and Protection One will negotiate, in good faith, the terms and conditions for continuation of the services during an agreed-upon transition period.
This agreement is subject to KCC approval, which has not yet been received.
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Transactions Between Westar Industries and Subsidiaries

 Protection One Credit Facility
 Westar Industries is the lender under Protection One’s senior credit facility. The senior credit facility was amended to increase the capacity from $155
million to $280 million during the year ended December 31, 2002. On August 26, 2002, the senior credit facility was further amended to extend the maturity date
to January 5, 2004. On March 11, 2003, the KCC limited the amount of the credit facility to $228.4 million, authorized us to fund the facility and extend the term
of the facility to January 5, 2005 and required the facility to be paid in full and terminated upon the disposition of all or part of our investment in Protection One.
We are in discussions with Protection One about the extension of the facility and we intend to renew the facility through January 5, 2005, should such renewal be
necessary to provide Protection One with continued liquidity. For further information, see Note 34.
 

As of December 31, 2002, $215.5 million was drawn under the facility. The remaining availability under this facility as of December 31, 2002 was $64.5
million. At March 14, 2003, Protection One had outstanding borrowings of $215.5 million and $12.9 million of remaining capacity. Amounts outstanding,
accrued interest and facility fees have been eliminated in our consolidated financial statements.
 

Purchases of Securities
 Westar Industries, Protection One and we have purchased our and Protection One’s debt securities and preferred stock in the open market. These
repurchases have been accounted for as retirements on a consolidated basis. The table below summarizes these transactions for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000.
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December 31,

 
  

2002

   

2001

  

2000

   (In Thousands)
Westar Energy              

Bonds:              

Face value   $ 333,082   $ 30,140  $ —  
       

Gain on purchase    13,514    1,395   —  
Loss on mark to market at retirement(a)    16,835    —     —  
Tax (benefit) expense    (1,321)    555   —  

       
Total (loss) gain, net of tax   $ (2,000)   $ 840  $ —  

       
Mandatorily redeemable preferred securities:              

Face value   $ 5,495   $ —    $ —  
       

Gain on purchase    1,780    —     —  
Tax expense    708    —     —  

       
Total gain, net of tax   $ 1,072   $ —    $ —  

       
Preferred stock:              

Face value   $ 2,500   $ 921  $ —  
       

Gain on purchase    991    389   —  
Tax expense    394    155   —  

       
Total gain, net of tax   $ 597   $ 234  $ —  

       
Protection One              

Bonds:              

Face value(b), (c)   $ 119,510   $ 90,204  $ 200,489
       

Gain on purchase    19,832    34,332   75,755
Tax expense    6,941    12,016   26,514

       
Total gain, net of tax   $ 12,891   $ 22,316  $ 49,241

       

(a)  Represents the fair value of a call option associated with our putable/callable notes (see Note 14).
(b)  In 2001, $37.9 million of these bonds were purchased by Westar Industries and $27.6 million of these were transferred

to Protection One in exchange for cash.
(c)  In 2000, $170.0 million of these bonds were purchased by Westar Industries and $103.9 million of these were

transferred to Protection One in exchange for cash and the settlement of certain intercompany payables and
receivables.

 
See Note 26 for information about a change in accounting treatment that requires that gains and losses arising from the purchases and sales of these

securities be recorded as other income rather than as an extraordinary item. See Note 34 for information regarding purchases of securities that have occurred
during 2003.
 

Tax Sharing Agreement
 We have a tax sharing agreement with Protection One. This pro rata tax sharing agreement allows Protection One to be reimbursed for current tax benefits
utilized in our consolidated tax return. We and Protection One are eligible to file on a consolidated basis for tax purposes so long as we maintain an 80%
ownership interest in Protection One. We reimbursed Protection One $13.5 million for tax year 2001 and $7.4 million for tax year 2000. On March 11, 2003, the
KCC issued an order that allows us to make a cash payment to Protection One of approximately $20 million for tax year 2002.
 

Financial Advisory Services
 Protection One entered into an agreement pursuant to which it paid a quarterly fee to Westar Industries for financial advisory services equal to 0.125% of
its consolidated total assets at the end of each quarter. This agreement was approved by the independent members of Protection One’s board of directors.
Protection One
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incurred approximately $3.6 million of such fees during the year ended December 31, 2002. These amounts have been eliminated in our consolidated financial
statements. This agreement was terminated effective September 30, 2002.
 

Loans to Officers
 During 2001 and 2002, we extended loans to our officers for the purpose of purchasing shares of our common stock. The officers are personally liable for
the repayment of the loans, which are unsecured and bear interest, payable quarterly, at a variable rate equal to our short-term borrowing rate. The loans mature
on December 4, 2004. The aggregate balance outstanding at December 31, 2002 was approximately $1.8 million, which is classified as a reduction to
shareholders’ equity in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. For the year ended December 31, 2002, we recorded approximately $97,000 in interest
income on these loans. No additional loans will be made as a result of federal legislation that became effective July 30, 2002.
 

Transactions Between Westar Energy and KGE
 We perform KGE’s cash management function, including cash receipts and disbursements. An intercompany account is used to record net receipts and
disbursements between us and KGE. KGE’s net amount payable from affiliates approximated $24.1 million at December 31, 2002, and the net amount receivable
from affiliates approximated $17.3 million at December 31, 2001. These intercompany charges have been eliminated in consolidation.
 

We provide all employees utilized by KGE. We allocate certain operating expenses to KGE. These expenses are allocated, depending on the nature of the
expense, based on allocation studies, net investment, number of customers, and/or other appropriate factors. We believe such allocation procedures are
reasonable.
 

Transactions with Protection One
 During the fourth quarter of 2001, KGE entered into an option agreement to sell an office building located in downtown Wichita, Kansas, to Protection One
for approximately $0.5 million. The sales price was determined by management based on three independent appraisers’ findings. This transaction was completed
during June 2002. We recognized a loss of $2.6 million on this transaction, and we expected to realize annual operating cost savings of approximately $0.9
million. The cost savings will be treated as a regulatory liability in accordance with a March 26, 2002, KCC order. For the year ended December 31, 2002, we
recorded $0.5 million in cost savings as a regulatory liability.
 

Protection One Europe
 On February 29, 2000, Westar Industries purchased the European operations of Protection One, and certain investments held by a subsidiary of Protection
One, for an aggregate purchase price of $244 million. Westar Industries paid approximately $183 million in cash and transferred Protection One debt securities
with a market value of approximately $61 million to Protection One. Cash proceeds from the transaction were used to reduce the outstanding balance owed to
Westar Industries on Protection One’s revolving credit facility. No gain or loss was recorded on this intercompany transaction, and the net book value of the assets
was unaffected.
 
29. WORK FORCE REDUCTIONS
 In late 2001, we reduced our utility work force by approximately 200 employees through involuntary separations and recorded a severance-related net
charge of approximately $14.3 million. In 2001, Protection One also reduced its work force by approximately 500 employees in connection with facility
consolidations and recorded a severance-related net charge of approximately $3.1 million.
 

During 2002, we further reduced our utility work force by approximately 400 employees through a voluntary separation program. We recorded a net charge
of approximately $21.7 million in 2002 related to this program. We have replaced and may continue to replace some of these employees.
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30. ICE STORM
 In late January 2002, a severe ice storm swept through our utility service area causing extensive damage and loss of power to numerous customers.
Through December 31, 2002, we incurred $19.3 million for restoration costs, a portion of which was capitalized. We have deferred and recorded as a regulatory
asset on our December 31, 2002 consolidated balance sheet restoration costs of approximately $15.0 million. We have received an accounting authority order
from the KCC that allows us to accumulate and defer for potential future recovery all operating and carrying costs related to storm restoration.
 
31. POTENTIAL SALE OF UTILITY ASSETS
 On October 14, 2002, we announced an agreement with Midwest Energy, Inc. (Midwest Energy) for the sale to Midwest Energy of a portion of our
transmission and distribution assets and rights to provide service to customers in an area of central Kansas. The sale will affect about 10,000 customers, or about
1.5% of our total customers, over 895 square miles. The area, which includes 42 towns, is on the west edge of our service territory and is largely surrounded by
Midwest Energy’s existing territory. The proposed sale is contingent upon approval by the KCC and FERC. KCC hearings have been scheduled to begin on May
20, 2003. We can give no assurance as to when or if this transaction will occur.
 
32. SEGMENTS OF BUSINESS
 Our business is segmented based on differences in products and services, production processes and management responsibility. We have identified three
reportable segments: Electric Utility, Monitored Services and Other.
 
 

•  Electric Utility consists of our integrated electric utility operations, including the generation, transmission and distribution of power to our retail
customers in Kansas and to wholesale customers, and our power marketing activities.

 
 

•  Monitored Services, including the net effect of minority interests, is comprosed of our security alarm monitoring businesses in the United States and
Europe.

 
 

•  Other includes our approximate 45% ownership interest in ONEOK at December 31, 2002, and other investments in the aggregate not material to our
business or results of operations.

 
We manage our business segments’ performance based on their earnings (losses) before interest and taxes (EBIT) because EBIT is the primary

measurement used by our management to evaluate segment performance. Our business managers have direct control over the items that affect the EBIT of their
segments and we therefore believe EBIT is an appropriate measure of segment performance. EBIT does not represent cash flow from operations as defined by
GAAP, should not be construed as an alternative to operating income and is indicative neither of operating performance nor cash flows available to fund our cash
needs. Items excluded from EBIT are significant components in understanding and assessing our financial performance. Interest expense, income taxes,
discontinued operations, cumulative effects of accounting changes and preferred dividends are items that are excluded from the calculation of EBIT. Our
computation of EBIT may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies. We have no single external customer from which we receive
10% or more of our revenues.
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Year Ended December 31, 2002   

Electric
Utility(a)

  

Monitored
Services(b)

   

Other
(c)(d)

  

Total

 
   (In Thousands)  
Sales   $1,422,899  $ 347,967   $ 252  $1,771,118 
Depreciation and amortization    171,749   98,111    58   269,918 
Earnings (loss) before interest and taxes    246,993   (369,848)   68,491   (54,364)
Interest expense                 269,283 
Earnings (loss) before income taxes                 (323,647)

Additions to property, plant and equipment    126,763   8,607    —     135,370 
Customer account acquisitions    —     43,391    —     43,391 

As of December 31, 2002                   

Goodwill    —     41,847    —     41,847 
Identifiable assets    5,033,329   638,936    770,834   6,443,099 

 
 

Year Ended December 31, 2001   

Electric
Utility

  

Monitored
Services

   

Other
(d)(e)

  

Total

 
   (In Thousands)  
Sales   $1,307,177  $ 408,330   $ 1,359  $1,716,866 
Depreciation and amortization    185,156   225,133    364   410,653 
Earnings (loss) before interest and taxes    207,057   (77,074)   23,936   153,919 
Interest expense                 260,795 
Earnings (loss) before income taxes                 (106,876)

Additions to property, plant and equipment    226,996   8,051    —     235,047 
Customer account acquisitions    —     23,084    —     23,084 

As of December 31, 2001                   

Goodwill    —     879,602    324   879,926 
Identifiable assets    4,932,447   1,883,786    816,919   7,633,152 
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Year Ended December 31, 2000   

Electric
Utility

  

Monitored
Services

   

Other
(d)(f)

  

Total

   (In Thousands)
Sales   $1,359,522  $ 529,584   $ 1,484  $ 1,890,590
Depreciation and amortization    175,839   245,297    2,116   423,252
Earnings (loss) before interest and taxes    331,330   (5,678)   169,211   494,863
Interest expense                 281,487
Earnings (loss) before income taxes                 213,376

Additions to property, plant and equipment    285,431   21,998    —     307,429
Customer account acquisitions    —     45,708    —     45,708

As of December 31, 2000                  

Goodwill    —     970,274    347   970,621
Identifiable assets    4,961,240   2,175,706    664,774   7,801,720

(a)  EBIT includes a $22.9 million reserve for potential liabilities to Mr. Wittig and Mr. Lake and a $22.6 million charge recorded for marking to market
changes in the fair value of the call option of the putable/callable notes.

(b)  EBIT includes $338.1 million impairment of customer accounts and $140.0 million impairment of goodwill.
(c)  EBIT includes investment earnings of $65.6 million.
(d)  Sales and goodwill are from a wholly owned subsidiary of Westar Industries providing paging services, which was sold during the first quarter of 2002.
(e)  EBIT includes earnings on investments of $38.4 million and loss on extinguishment of debt of $17.3 million.
(f)  EBIT includes the gain on the sale of our investment in a gas compression company of $91.1 million and the gain on the sale of other marketable securities

of $24.9 million.
 
Geographic Information
 Our sales and property, plant and equipment by geographic area are as follows:
 

 
  

For the Year Ended December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

   (In Thousands)
Sales:             

United States operations   $ 1,714,702  $ 1,641,382  $ 1,756,591
International operations    56,416   75,484   133,999

       
Total   $ 1,771,118  $ 1,716,866  $ 1,890,590

       

 
  

As of December 31,

 
  

2002

  

2001

  

2000

   (In Thousands)
Property, plant and equipment, net:             

United States operations   $ 3,991,875  $ 4,067,355  $ 4,002,623
International operations    3,496   3,633   8,107

       
Total   $ 3,995,371  $ 4,070,988  $ 4,010,730
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33. QUARTERLY RESULTS (UNAUDITED)
 The amounts in the table are unaudited but, in the opinion of management, contain all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments)
necessary for a fair presentation of the results of such periods. Our electric business is seasonal in nature and, in our opinion, comparisons between the quarters of
a year do not give a true indication of overall trends and changes in operations.
 

 
  

First

   

Second

   

Third

  

Fourth

 
   (In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)  
2002                    

Sales   $ 404,901   $419,945   $ 529,115  $417,157 
Gross profit    287,544    299,892    386,248   290,612 
Net income (loss) from continuing operations before accounting change    (121,141)   10,618    43,775   (99,294)
Net income (loss)    (746,526)   9,275    43,567   (99,317)

Earnings (loss) per share available from continuing operations for common stock before
accounting change:   

   
  

   
  

  
  

   

Basic   $ (1.69)  $ 0.15   $ 0.61  $ (1.39)
Diluted   $ (1.69)  $ 0.15   $ 0.61  $ (1.39)

Cash dividend per common share   $ 0.30   $ 0.30   $ 0.30  $ 0.30 

Market price per common share:                    

High   $ 18.000   $ 17.800   $ 16.000  $ 12.020 
Low   $ 15.790   $ 14.250   $ 9.440  $ 8.500 

2001                    

Sales   $ 422,515   $410,802   $513,490  $370,059 
Gross profit    289,819    284,162    355,802   252,700 
Net income (loss) from continuing operations before accounting change    (14,061)   (30,134)   36,144   (30,481)
Net income (loss)    4,450    (30,188)   35,976   (31,114)

Earnings (loss) per share available from continuing operations for common stock before
accounting change:   

   
  

   
  

  
  

   

Basic   $ (0.20)  $ (0.43)  $ 0.51  $ (0.44)
Diluted   $ (0.20)  $ (0.43)  $ 0.51  $ (0.44)

Cash dividend per common share   $ 0.30   $ 0.30   $ 0.30  $ 0.30 

Market price per common share:                    

High   $ 25.875   $ 25.820   $ 22.900  $ 17.801 
Low   $ 21.800   $ 20.000   $ 15.620  $ 16.000 

 
34. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
 Proposed Dispositions
 The Debt Reduction Plan contemplates the sale of our interests in Protection One Europe with a targeted closing of mid-2003 and the sale of our interest in
Protection One with a targeted closing by late 2003 or early 2004. Consistent with the Debt Reduction Plan, on January 13, 2003, we announced that our board of
directors authorized management to explore alternatives for disposing of our investments in Protection One and Protection One Europe, and we have retained
financial advisors to assist with the possible sales. A special committee comprised of independent directors of Protection One’s board of directors has been
formed, and the committee has also retained a financial advisor. As a result of these decisions, these operations were classified as discontinued operations during
the first quarter of 2003 pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 144.
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As discontinued operations, we will be required to determine the fair value of our investment, which will be the net amount we expect to realize from the

sale of the investment. The investment must be reported at the lesser of our recorded basis or the estimated fair value. If the fair value is less than our recorded
basis, we will be required to record an expense equal to the amount by which our basis exceeds the estimated fair value, which could be material.
 

We solicited and received indications of value for Protection One Europe from potential buyers. These indications of value are within a range we would be
willing to accept. They indicated the recorded goodwill for Protection One Europe had no value. Accordingly, we recorded a $36 million impairment charge in
the fourth quarter of 2002 to reflect the impairment of all remaining goodwill at Protection One Europe. We are willing to accept offers in the indicated range due
to our ability to use the tax loss on this sale to offset the taxes that would otherwise be due from our sale of other investments. We will recognize a $58 million tax
benefit in the first quarter of 2003 when Protection One Europe is classified as a discontinued operation.
 

Payments to Protection One
 On March 21, 2003, we paid approximately $1.0 million to Protection One as reimbursement for information technology services provided to us, and
related costs incurred, by a subsidiary of Protection One. On March 21, 2003, we also paid approximately $3.6 million to Protection One as reimbursement for
aviation services provided by a subsidiary of Protection One and for the repurchase of the stock of the subsidiary. These payments were authorized by the KCC in
an order issued March 11, 2003, which is described in Note 3.
 

Purchase of Stock from Protection One
 On February 14, 2003, we purchased 850,000 shares of our common stock and approximately 34,000 shares of our preferred stock from Protection One for
approximately $11.6 million. This transaction was approved by the KCC. The shares of common stock are being held as treasury stock and the shares of preferred
stock have been retired. This transaction had no effect on the consolidated financial statements.
 

Purchases of Debt Securities
 From January 1, 2003 through March 14, 2003 we purchased $35.3 million face value of our putable/callable notes and $43.0 million face value of our
6.875% senior unsecured notes in the open market.
 

Termination of Plane Lease
 During March 2003, we terminated the lease of an airplane and incurred an expense of $5.9 million related to this termination.
 
35. POTENTIAL LIABILITIES TO DAVID C. WITTIG AND DOUGLAS T. LAKE
 David C. Wittig, our former chairman of the board, president and chief executive officer, resigned from all of his positions with us and our affiliates on
November 22, 2002. Douglas T. Lake, our executive vice president and chief strategic officer, was placed on administrative leave from all of his positions with us
and our affiliates on December 6, 2002. In connection with these actions, we reserved all rights and claims we may have against Mr. Wittig and Mr. Lake arising
under their employment agreements, any other agreements with us, or any plan, program or policy in which they participated. In their respective resignation and
leave letters, Mr. Wittig and Mr. Lake stated that they reserved all rights and claims they may have against us.
 

During their active employment with us, we accrued liabilities totaling approximately $27.4 million for compensation not yet paid to Mr. Wittig and Mr.
Lake under various plans. The compensation includes restricted share unit awards, deferred vested shares, deferred restricted share unit awards, deferred vested
stock for compensation, executive salary continuation plan benefits and, in the case of Mr. Wittig, benefits arising from a split dollar life insurance agreement.
 

Additionally, as required by GAAP, we have made provisions in our financial statements for an additional amount of approximately $22.9 million should it
later be determined that we are obligated to pay Mr. Wittig and Mr. Lake any amounts under their employment agreements. We do not concede, however, that any
amounts are owed to
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Mr. Wittig or Mr. Lake, and we believe that we may have potential claims and defenses against Mr. Wittig and Mr. Lake. The compensation could include a pro
rata portion of their unpaid bonuses for the year in which termination occurred, unused vacation, accumulated sick leave, severance, restricted share unit awards
and related dividend equivalents, and increased executive salary continuation plan benefits. We believe the amount reserved adequately provides for potential
obligations to Mr. Wittig and Mr. Lake.
 

In addition to these amounts, we could also be obligated to record additional expense each year in which payments are made to Mr. Wittig and Mr. Lake
pursuant to the executive salary continuation plan. Assuming an expected payout period of 35 years, the aggregate nominal amount of these expenses would be
approximately $17.9 million for Mr. Wittig and $9.0 million for Mr. Lake. Also, if stock performance requirements for some restricted share unit awards were to
be satisfied, we would be required to record additional compensation expense of approximately $4.4 million to Mr. Wittig and Mr. Lake.
 

As of March 31, 2003, neither Mr. Wittig nor Mr. Lake has asserted any rights or claims against us for any of the amounts described above. We are unable
to predict whether they will assert any rights or claims in the future. If they did so, we will vigorously defend against such claims and potentially assert
counterclaims; however, the ultimate resolution of these matters is outside our control.
 
 
ITEM 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
 Effective May 30, 2002, the Audit and Finance Committee of our board of directors decided not to engage Arthur Andersen LLP (Andersen) as our public
accountants and engaged Deloitte & Touche LLP (Deloitte & Touche) to serve as our principal accountants for fiscal year 2002. This matter was previously
reported by us on our Form 8-K dated May 30, 2002 filed with the SEC.
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PART III

 
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
 The information relating to our directors required by Item 10 is set forth in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC for our 2003 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be held on June 16, 2003. Such information is incorporated herein by reference to the material appearing under the caption “Election
of Directors” in the proxy statement to be filed by us with the SEC.
 
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY
 

Name

  

Age

  

Present Office

  

Other Offices or Positions
Held During the Past Five Years

James S. Haines, Jr.

  

56

  

Director, Chief Executive Officer and President (since
December 2002)

  

The University of Texas at El Paso -
Adjunct Professor and Skov Professor of
Business Ethics (January 2002 to Present)

El Paso Electric Company -
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer
(May 1996 to November 2001)

William B. Moore

  

50

  

Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
(since December 2002)

  

Saber Partners, LLC -
Senior Managing Director and Senior Advisor
(October 2000 to December 2002)

Westar Energy -
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer, Treasurer (May 1999 to August 2000)

Acting Executive Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer, Treasurer (October 1998 to
May 1999)

Chairman of the Board, KGE, and President
(June 1995 to October 1998)

Mark A. Ruelle

  

41

  

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(since January 2003)

  

Sierra Pacific Resources, Inc. -
President, Nevada Power Company (June 2001
to May 2002)

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(March 1997 to May 2001)

Richard A. Dixon

  

59

  

Senior Vice President, Operations Strategy
(since March 2003)

  

Westar Energy, Inc. -
Senior Vice President, Customer Operations
(October 2001 to March 2003)

Vice President, Transmission Services (May
2000 to October 2001)

Executive Director, System Operations (January
1999 to April 2000)

Executive Director, Transmission Services
(September 1996 to December 1998)

Douglas R. Sterbenz

  

39

  

Senior Vice President, Generation and Marketing (since
October 2001)

  

Westar Energy, Inc. -
Senior Director, Bulk Power Marketing
(January 1999 to October 2001)

Manager, Bulk Power Marketing (August 1998
to December 1998)

Energy Trader (May 1997 to July 1998)
 
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
 The information required by Item 11 will be set forth in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC for our 2003 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held on June 16, 2003. Such information is incorporated herein by reference to the material appearing under the captions “Information
Concerning the Board of Directors,” “Executive Compensation,” “Compensation Plans” and “Human Resources Committee Report” in the proxy statement to be
filed by us with the SEC.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
 The information required by Item 12 will be set forth in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC for our 2003 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held on June 16, 2003. Such information is incorporated herein by reference to the material appearing under the captions “Beneficial
Ownership of Voting Securities” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the proxy statement to be filed by us with the SEC.
 
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
 The information required by Item 13 will be set forth in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC for our 2003 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held on June 16, 2003. Such information is incorporated herein by reference to the material appearing under the caption “Certain Relationships
and Related Transactions” in the proxy statement to be filed by us with the SEC.
 
ITEM 14. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 Within the 90-day period prior to the filing date of this report, an evaluation was carried out, under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Based upon that evaluation, our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective, in all material respects, with respect to the recording, processing, summarizing and
reporting, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, of information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under
the Exchange Act.
 

There have been no significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of
the evaluation described above.
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PART IV

 
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INCLUDED HEREIN
 Report of Independent Public Accountants

Consolidated Balance Sheets, December 31, 2002 and 2001
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 
SCHEDULES
 Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
 

Schedules omitted as not applicable or not required under the Rules of Regulation S-X: I, III, IV, and V
 
REPORTS ON FORM 8-K FILED DURING THE QUARTER ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002:
 

Form 8-K filed October 1, 2002

  

-        

  

Clarification of the amount of a charge expected to be included in third
quarter 2002 results resulting from marking to market the amount of a
liability arising from a call option related to our 6.25% senior unsecured notes
issued in August 1998.

Form 8-K filed October 4, 2002

  

-        

  

Announcement that our board of directors modified the Special Committee
membership appointed to investigate certain matters relating to a grand jury
investigation and subpoenas served by the United States Attorney’s Office in
Topeka, Kansas.

Form 8-K filed November 1, 2002

  

-        

  

Announcement that we will restate our first and second quarter 2002 financial
statements to reflect an additional impairment at Protection One, Inc.
pursuant to the application of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
Nos. 142 and 144, and to reflect a previously reported non-cash charge related
to marking to market the amount of a potential liability arising from a call
option related to our 6.25% senior unsecured notes issued in August 1998.

Form 8-K filed November 8, 2002

  

-        

  

Announcement of the indictment of David C. Wittig, our former chairman of
the board, president and chief executive officer, by a federal grand jury in
Topeka, Kansas, making allegations relating to Mr. Wittig’s personal dealings
and that Mr. Wittig had been placed on administrative leave.

Form 8-K filed November 15, 2002   -          Announcement that John C. Dicus retired from our board of directors.

Form 8-K filed November 25, 2002

  

-        

  

Announcement that we accepted the resignation of David C. Wittig on
November 22, 2002 from all of his positions with us and our subsidiaries or
affiliates.

 

  

-        

  

Announcement that James S. Haines, Jr. was appointed to our board of
directors and as our chief executive officer and president, effective December
9, 2002.
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Form 8-K filed December 9, 2002

  

-

  

Announcement that on December 6, 2002, Douglas T. Lake resigned as our
director, as chairman of the board of Protection One, and as a director of all of
our other subsidiaries and affiliates for which he serves as director. In addition,
we accepted Mr. Lake’s request to be placed on leave from his position as our
executive vice president and chief strategic officer, without pay.

Form 8-K filed December 27, 2002
  

-
  

Announcement that on December 23, 2002, the KCC issued an order modifying
an order issued on November 8, 2002 addressing our financial plan.

 

  

-

  

Announcement that on December 16, 2002, we received a subpoena from
FERC seeking details on power trades with Cleco and its affiliates, documents
concerning power transactions between our system and our marketing
operations and information on power trades in which we or other trading
companies acted as intermediaries.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
 

All exhibits marked “I” are incorporated herein by reference. All exhibits marked by an asterisk are management contracts or compensatory plans or
arrangements required to be identified by Item 14(a)(3) of Form 10-K.
 
 

   

Description

  
 

2(a)
  

  -Agreement and Plan of Restructuring and Merger, dated as of November 8, 2000 among the company, Public Service Company of New Mexico,
HVOLT Enterprises, Inc., HVK, Inc., and HVNM, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the November 17, 2000 Form 8-K)   

I

3(a)     -By-laws of the company, as amended March 16, 2000 (filed as Exhibit 3(a) to December 31, 1999 Form 10-K)   I

3(b)
  

  -Restated Articles of Incorporation of the company, as amended through May 25, 1988 (filed as Exhibit 4 to Registration Statement, SEC File
No. 33-23022)   

I

3(c)     -Certificate of Amendment to Restated Articles of Incorporation of the company dated March 29, 1991    

3(d)
  

  -Certificate of Designations for Preference Stock, 8.5% Series, without par value, dated March 31, 1991 (filed as Exhibit 3(d) to December 1993
Form 10-K)   

I

3(e)
  

  -Certificate of Correction to Restated Articles of Incorporation of the company dated December 20, 1991 (filed as Exhibit 3(b) to December 1991
Form 10-K)   

I

3(f)
  

  -Certificate of Designations for Preference Stock, 7.58% Series, without par value, dated April 8, 1992, (filed as Exhibit 3(e) to December 1993
Form 10-K)   

I

3(g)
  

  -Certificate of Amendment to Restated Articles of Incorporation of the company dated May 8, 1992 (filed as Exhibit 3(c) to December 31, 1994
Form 10-K)   

I

3(h)     -Certificate of Amendment to Restated Articles of Incorporation of the company dated May 26, 1994 (filed as Exhibit 3 to June 1994 Form 10-Q)  I

3(i)
  

  -Certificate of Amendment to Restated Articles of Incorporation of the company dated May 14, 1996 (filed as Exhibit 3(a) to June 1996 Form
10-Q)   

I

3(j)
  

  -Certificate of Amendment to Restated Articles of Incorporation of the company dated May 12, 1998 (filed as Exhibit 3 to March 1998 Form 10-
Q)   

I

3(k)     -Form of Certificate of Designations for 7.5% Convertible Preference Stock (filed as Exhibit 99.4 to November 17, 2000 Form 8-K)   I

3(l)     -Certificate of Amendment to Restated Articles of Incorporation of the company dated July 21, 1999    

3(m)    -Certificate of Amendment to Restated Articles of Incorporation of the company dated June 19, 2002    

4(a)
  

  -Deferrable Interest Subordinated Debentures dated November 29, 1995, between the company and Wilmington Trust Delaware, Trustee (filed as
Exhibit 4(c) to Registration Statement No. 33-63505)   

I

4(b)
  

  -Mortgage and Deed of Trust dated July 1, 1939 between the company and Harris Trust and Savings Bank, Trustee (filed as Exhibit 4(a) to
Registration Statement No. 33-21739)   

I

4(c)

  

  -First through Fifteenth Supplemental Indentures dated July 1, 1939, April 1, 1949, July 20, 1949, October 1, 1949, December 1, 1949, October
4, 1951, December 1, 1951, May 1, 1952, October 1, 1954, September 1, 1961, April 1, 1969, September 1, 1970, February 1, 1975, May 1,
1976 and April 1, 1977, respectively (filed as Exhibit 4(b) to Registration Statement No. 33-21739)   

I

4(d)     -Sixteenth Supplemental Indenture dated June 1, 1977 (filed as Exhibit 2-D to Registration Statement No. 2-60207)   I

4(e)     -Seventeenth Supplemental Indenture dated February 1, 1978 (filed as Exhibit 2-E to Registration Statement No. 2-61310)   I

4(f)     -Eighteenth Supplemental Indenture dated January 1, 1979 (filed as Exhibit (b) (1)-9 to Registration Statement No. 2-64231)   I

4(g)     -Nineteenth Supplemental Indenture dated May 1, 1980 (filed as Exhibit 4(f) to Registration Statement No. 33-21739)   I

4(h)     -Twentieth Supplemental Indenture dated November 1, 1981 (filed as Exhibit 4(g) to Registration Statement No. 33-21739)   I

4(i)     -Twenty-First Supplemental Indenture dated April 1, 1982 (filed as Exhibit 4(h) to Registration Statement No. 33-21739)   I

4(j)     -Twenty-Second Supplemental Indenture dated February 1, 1983 (filed as Exhibit 4(i) to Registration Statement No. 33-21739)   I

4(k)     -Twenty-Third Supplemental Indenture dated July 2, 1986 (filed as Exhibit 4(j) to Registration Statement No. 33-12054)   I
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4(l)     -Twenty-Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated March 1, 1987 (filed as Exhibit 4(k) to Registration Statement No. 33-21739)   I

4(m)    -Twenty-Fifth Supplemental Indenture dated October 15, 1988 (filed as Exhibit 4 to the September 1988 Form 10-Q)   I

4(n)
  

  -Twenty-Sixth Supplemental Indenture dated February 15, 1990 (filed as Exhibit 4(m) to the December 1989
Form 10-K)   

I

4(o)
  

  -Twenty-Seventh Supplemental Indenture dated March 12, 1992 (filed as Exhibit 4(n) to the December 1991
Form 10-K)   

I

4(p)     -Twenty-Eighth Supplemental Indenture dated July 1, 1992 (filed as Exhibit 4(o) to the December 1992 Form 10-K)   I

4(q)
  

  -Twenty-Ninth Supplemental Indenture dated August 20, 1992 (filed as Exhibit 4(p) to the December 1992
Form 10-K)   

I

4(r)     -Thirtieth Supplemental Indenture dated February 1, 1993 (filed as Exhibit 4(q) to the December 1992 Form 10-K)   I

4(s)
  

  -Thirty-First Supplemental Indenture dated April 15, 1993 (filed as Exhibit 4(r) to Registration
Statement No. 33-50069)   

I

4(t)
  

  -Thirty-Second Supplemental Indenture dated April 15, 1994 (filed as Exhibit 4(s) to the December 31, 1994
Form 10-K)   

I

4(u)
  

  -Thirty-Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated June 28, 2000 (filed as Exhibit 4(v) to the December 31, 2000
Form 10-K)   

I

4(v)
  

  -Thirty-Fifth Supplemental Indenture dated May 10, 2002 between the company and BNY Midwest Trust Company, as Trustee (filed as Exhibit
4.1 to the March 31, 2002 Form 10-Q)   

I

4(w)
  

  -Forty-First Supplemental Indenture dated June 6, 2002 between Kansas Gas and Electric Company and BNY Midwest Trust Company, as
Trustee (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the June 30, 2002 Form 10-Q)   

I

4(x)     -Debt Securities Indenture dated August 1, 1998 (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the June 30, 1998 Form 10-Q)   I

4(y)
  

  -Form of Note for $400 million 6.25% Putable/Callable Notes due August 15, 2018, Putable/Callable August 15, 2003 (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to
the June 30, 1998 Form 10-Q)   

I

4(z)
  

  -Securities Resolution No. 2 dated as of May 10, 2002 under Indenture dated as of August 1, 1998 between Western Resources, Inc. and
Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the March 31, 2002 Form 10-Q)   

I

  
  

Instruments defining the rights of holders of other long-term debt not required to be filed as Exhibits will be furnished to the Commission upon
request.   

 

10(a)     -Long-Term Incentive and Share Award Plan (filed as Exhibit 10(a) to the June 1996 Form 10-Q)*   I

10(b)
  

  -Form of Employment Agreements with Messers. Lake and Wittig (filed as Exhibit 10(b) to the December 31, 2000
Form 10-K)*   

I

10(c)
  

  -A Rail Transportation Agreement among Burlington Northern Railroad Company, the Union Pacific Railroad Company and the Company
(filed as Exhibit 10 to the June 1994 Form 10-Q)   

I

10(d)
  

  -Agreement between the company and AMAX Coal West Inc. effective March 31, 1993 (filed as Exhibit 10(a) to the December 31, 1993 Form
10-K)   

I

10(e)
  

  -Agreement between the company and Williams Natural Gas Company dated October 1, 1993 (filed as Exhibit 10(b) to the December 31, 1993
Form 10-K)   

I

10(f)     -Deferred Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10(i) to the December 31, 1993 Form 10-K)*   I

10(g)     -Short-term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10(k) to the December 31, 1993 Form 10-K)*   I

10(h)     -Outside Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10(l) to the December 31, 1993 Form 10-K)*   I

10(i)
  

  -Executive Salary Continuation Plan of Western Resources, Inc., as revised, effective September 22, 1995 (filed as Exhibit 10(j) to the
December 31, 1995 Form 10-K)*   

I

10(j)
  

  -Letter Agreement between the company and David C. Wittig, dated April 27, 1995 (filed as Exhibit 10(m) to the December 31, 1995 Form 10-
K)*   

I

10(k)
  

  -Form of Shareholder Agreement between New ONEOK and the company (filed as Exhibit 99.3 to the
December 12, 1997 Form 8-K)   

I

10(l)     -Form of Split Dollar Insurance Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the June 30, 1998 Form 10-Q)*   I

10(m)
  

  -Amendment to Letter Agreement between the company and David C. Wittig, dated April 27, 1995 (filed as Exhibit 10 to the June 30, 1998
Form 10-Q/A)*   

I

10(n)
  

  -Letter Agreement between the company and Douglas T. Lake, dated August 17, 1998 (filed as Exhibit 10(n) to the December 31, 1999 Form
10-K)*   

I
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10(o)
  

  -Form of Change of Control Agreement with officers of the company (filed as Exhibit 10(o) to the December 31, 2000
Form 10-K)*   

I

10(p)
  

  -Amendment to Outside Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan dated May 17, 2001 (filed as Exhibit 10(p) to the December 31, 2000 Form
10-K)*   

I

10(q)     -Form of loan agreement with officers of the company (filed as Exhibit 10(r) to the December 31, 2001 Form 10-K)*   I

10(r)
  

  -Amendment to Employment Agreement dated April 1, 2002 between the company and David C. Wittig (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the June 30, 2002 Form 10-Q)*   

I

10(s)
  

  -Amendment to Employment Agreement dated April 1, 2002 between the company and Douglas T. Lake (filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the June 30, 2002 Form 10-Q)*   

I

10(t)

  

  -Credit Agreement dated as of June 6, 2002 among the company, the lenders from time to time party there to,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Administrative Agent, Citibank, N.A., as Syndication Agent, and Bank of America, N.A., as Documentation Agent
(filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the June 30, 2002 Form 10-Q)   

I

10(u)
  

  -Employment Agreement dated September 23, 2002 between the company and David C. Wittig (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the September 30,
2002 Form 10-Q)*   

I

10(v)
  

  -Employment Agreement dated September 23, 2002 between the company and Douglas T. Lake (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the November 25,
2002 Form 8-K)*   

I

10(w)
  

  -Transaction Agreement between ONEOK and the company dated as of January 9, 2003 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the January 10, 2003 Form 8-
K)   

I

10(x)
  

  -Shareholder Agreement between ONEOK and the company dated as of January 9, 2003 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the January 10, 2003 Form 8-
K)   

I

10(y)
  

  -Registration Rights Agreement between ONEOK and the company dated as of January 9, 2003 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the January 10, 2003
Form 8-K)   

I

10(z)     -Employment Agreement dated April 10, 2003 between the company and James S. Haines, Jr.*    

12     -Computations of Ratio of Consolidated Earnings to Fixed Charges    

16     -Letter from Arthur Andersen LLP to the SEC dated May 30, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 16 to the May 30, 2002 Form 8-K)   I

21     -Subsidiaries of the Registrant    

23     -Consent of Independent Public Accountants, Deloitte & Touche LLP    

99(a)
  

  -Kansas Corporation Commission Order dated November 8, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the September 30, 2002
Form 10-Q)   

I

99(b)
  

  -Kansas Corporation Commission Order dated December 23, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the December 27, 2002
Form 8-K)   

I

99(c)
  

  -Form of Certificate of the Designations of $0.925 Series D Non-Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of ONEOK (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to
the January 10, 2003 Form 8-K)   

I

99(d)
  

  -Debt Reduction and Restructuring Plan filed with the Kansas Corporation Commission on February 6, 2003 (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the
February 6, 2003 Form 8-K)   

I

99(e)
  

  -Kansas Corporation Commission Order dated February 10, 2003 (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the February 11, 2003
Form 8-K)   

I

99(f)     -Kansas Corporation Commission Order dated March 11, 2003    

99(g)
  

  -Certifications pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 certifying the annual report provided for the year ended December
31, 2002 (furnished and not to be considered filed as part of the Form 10-K)   
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WESTAR ENERGY, INC.
 SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
 

Description

  

Balance at
Beginning
of Period

  

Charged to
Costs and
Expenses

  

Deductions

   

Balance
at End

of Period

   (In Thousands)
Year ended December 31, 2000                  

Allowances deducted from assets for doubtful accounts(a)   $ 35,765  $ 23,690  $ (13,639)  $ 45,816
Accrued exit fees, shut-down and severance costs    380   —     —      380

Year ended December 31, 2001                  

Allowances deducted from assets for doubtful accounts(a)   $ 45,816  $ 7,075  $ (33,770)  $ 19,121
Accrued exit fees, shut-down and severance costs(b)    380   —     (337)   43

Year ended December 31, 2002                  

Allowances deducted from assets for doubtful accounts(a)   $ 19,121  $ 5,426  $ (5,319)  $ 19,228
Accrued exit fees, shut-down and severance costs(b)    43   —     (43)   —  

(a)  Deductions are primarily the result of write-offs of accounts receivable.
(b)  Deductions are the result of payment of accrued severance costs.
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SIGNATURE
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Sections 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
    WESTAR ENERGY, INC.

Date:  April 11, 2003
 

 
 

By:
 

/s/    MARK A. RUELLE        

 
 

 
 

 
 

Mark A. Ruelle,
Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer
 

SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:
 

Signature

  

Title

 

Date

/s/    JAMES S. HAINES, JR.    

(James S. Haines, Jr.)   

Director, Chief Executive Officer and President
    (Principal Executive Officer)

 

April 11, 2003

/s/    MARK A. RUELLE        

(Mark A. Ruelle)   

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
    (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

 

April 11, 2003

/s/    CHARLES Q. CHANDLER IV    

(Charles Q. Chandler IV)   

Chairman of the Board

 

April 11, 2003

/s/    FRANK J. BECKER        

(Frank J. Becker)   

Director

 

April 11, 2003

/s/    GENE A. BUDIG        

(Gene A. Budig)   

Director

 

April 11, 2003

/s/    R. A. EDWARDS III        

(R. A. Edwards III)   

Director

 

April 11, 2003

/s/    LARRY D. IRICK        

(Larry D. Irick)   

Director

 

April 11, 2003

/s/    JOHN C. NETTELS, JR.        

(John C. Nettels, Jr.)   

Director

 

April 11, 2003
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14 UNDER THE

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
 
I, James S. Haines, as chief executive officer and president of the company, certify that:
 1.  I have reviewed this annual report for the period ended December 31, 2002 on Form 10-K of Westar Energy, Inc.;
 2.  Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual
report;

 3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

 4.  The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

 
 

a.  designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

 
 

b.  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this
annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

 
 

c.  presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of
the Evaluation Date;

 5.  The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
 

a.  all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls that could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

 
 

b.  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
controls; and

 6.  The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes in internal controls or in other
factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to
significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

 
     

Date:  April 11, 2003
 

 
 

By:
 

/s/    JAMES S. HAINES, JR.        

        
James S. Haines, Jr.

Director, President and Chief Executive Officer
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14 UNDER THE

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
 
I, Mark A. Ruelle, as chief financial officer and executive vice president of the company, certify that:
 1.  I have reviewed this annual report for the period ended December 31, 2002 on Form 10-K of Westar Energy, Inc.;
 2.  Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual
report;

 3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

 4.  The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

 
 

a.  designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

 
 

b.  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this
annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

 
 

c.  presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of
the Evaluation Date;

 5.  The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
 

a.  all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls that could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

 
 

b.  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
controls; and

 6.  The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes in internal controls or in other
factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to
significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

 
     

Date:  April 11, 2003
 

 
 

By:
 

/s/    MARK A. RUELLE        

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Mark A. Ruelle
Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 3(c)

 
CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT TO RESTATED ARTICLES

OF INCORPORATION, AS AMENDED, OF
THE KANSAS POWER AND LIGHT COMPANY

 
We, John E. Hayes, Jr., Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer and John K. Rosenberg, Secretary of the above named corporation, a

corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Kansas, do hereby certify that at a meeting of the Board of Directors of said corporation, the
board adopted a resolution setting forth the following amendment to the Restated Articles of Incorporation and declaring their advisability:
 

FURTHER RESOLVED, That the following amendment of Article IV of the Company’s Restated Articles of Incorporation be, and it hereby is
proposed and declared advisable:

 
The first paragraph of said Article IV to be amended and read as follows:

 
The amount of capital stock of this Corporation shall be 95,600,000 shares of which 85,000,000 shares is Common Stock of the par value of Five

Dollars ($5.00) each, 4,000,000 shares is Preference Stock without par value, 500,000 shares is preferred stock of the par value of One Hundred Dollars
($100) each and 6,000,000 shares is preferred stock without par value, all such preferred stock being termed “Preferred Stock”; and

 
*         *         *         *         *         *         *

 
FURTHER RESOLVED, That the following amendment of Article XI of the Company’s Restated Articles of Incorporation be, and it hereby is

proposed and declared advisable:
 

Article XI be amended and read as follows:
 

The number of directors shall not be less than seven nor more than fifteen and the precise number shall be determined from time to time by the Board
of Directors (at any annual or special meeting) within such minimum and maximum number, provided, that unless approved by a majority of the
stockholders entitled to vote, the number of directors shall not be reduced to terminate the office of a director during the term for which he was elected.

 
We further certify that thereafter, pursuant to said resolution, and in accordance with the by-laws of the corporation and the laws of the State of Kansas, the

Board of Directors called a special meeting of shareholders for consideration of the proposed amendments, and thereafter, pursuant to notice and in accordance
with the statutes of the State of Kansas, the shareholders convened and considered the proposed amendments.



 
We further certify that at the meeting a majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote and a majority of common and preferred shares together

entitled to vote, voted in favor of the proposed amendments.
 

We further certify that the amendments were duly adopted in accordance with the provisions of K.S.A. 17-6602, as amended.
 

We further certify that the capital of said corporation will not be reduced under or by reason of said amendments.
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have hereunto set our hands and affixed the seal of said corporation the 29th day of March, 1991.
 
     

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

/S/    JOHN E. HAYES, JR.        

        
John E. Hayes, Jr.

Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
 
     

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

/S/    JOHN K. ROSENBERG        

        
John K. Rosenberg

Secretary
 
 
State of Kansas   |    
   |   SS.
County of Shawnee   |    
 

Be it remembered that before me, a Notary Public in and for the aforesaid county and state, personally appeared John E. Hayes, Jr., Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Executive Officer, and John K. Rosenberg, Secretary of the corporation named in this document, who are know to me to be the same persons
who executed the foregoing certificate and duly acknowledge that execution of the same this 29th day of March, 1991.
 
     

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

/S/    REGINA I. DEGARMO

        Notary Public

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
REGINA I. DeGARMO
NOTARY PUBLIC
STATE OF KANSAS
MY APPOINTMENT EXPIRES: 8-4-93
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CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT TO RESTATED ARTICLES

OF INCORPORATION, AS AMENDED, OF
WESTERN RESOURCES, INC.

 
We, David C. Wittig, Chairman of the Board, President, and Chief Executive Officer, and Richard D. Terrill, Executive Vice President, General Counsel

and Corporate Secretary of Western Resources, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Kansas, do hereby certify that at a
meeting of the Board of Directors of said corporation, the board adopted resolutions setting forth the following amendment to the Restated Articles of
Incorporation and declaring its advisability.
 

The first paragraph of Article VI to be amended and read as follows:
 

The amount of capital stock of this Corporation shall be 160,600,000 shares of which 150,000,000 shares is Common Stock of the par value of Five Dollars
($5.00) each, 4,000,000 shares is Preference Stock without par value, 600,000 shares is preferred stock of the par value of One Hundred Dollars ($100)
each and 6,000,000 shares is preferred stock without par value, all such preferred stock being termed “Preferred Stock.’

 
We further certify that thereafter, pursuant to said resolution, and in accordance with the by-laws of the corporation and the laws of the State of Kansas,

pursuant to notice and in accordance with the statutes of the State of Kansas, the shareholders at a meeting duly convened considered the proposed amendment.
 

We further certify that at the annual meeting of shareholders held on June 30, 1999, a majority of common and preferred shares together entitled to vote,
voted in favor of the proposed amendment.
 

We further certify that the amendment was duly adopted in accordance with the provision of K.S.A. 17-6602, as amended.
 

We further certify that the capital of said corporation will not be reduced under or by reason of said amendment.
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have hereunto set our hands and affixed the seal of said corporation the 21st day of July, 1999.
 
     

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

/S/    DAVID C. WITTIG

        
David C. Wittig

Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer



 
     

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

/S/    RICHARD D. TERRILL

        
Richard D. Terrill

Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary
State of Kansas   |    
   |   SS.
County of Shawnee  |    
 

Be it remembered that before me, a Notary Public in and for the aforesaid county and state, personally appeared David C. Wittig, Chairman of the Board,
President, and Chief Executive Officer, and Richard D. Terrill, Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary, of the corporation named in
this document, who are know to me to be the same persons who executed the foregoing certificate and duly acknowledge that execution of the same this 21st day
of July, 1999.
 
     

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

/S/    MERILEE K. MARTIN

        
Notary Public

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Merilee K. Martin
NOTARY PUBLIC—STATE OF KANSAS
MY APPT EXP: 7-8-2003
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CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT TO RESTATED ARTICLES

OF INCORPORATION, AS AMENDED, OF
WESTERN RESOURCES, INC.

 
We, David C. Wittig, Chairman of the Board, President, and Chief Executive Officer, and Larry D. Irick, Vice President and Corporate Secretary of

Western Resources, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Kansas, do hereby certify that at a meeting of the Board of Directors
of said corporation, the board adopted resolutions setting forth the following amendment to the Restated Articles of Incorporation and declaring its advisability:
 

WHEREAS, Article II of the Company’s Restated Articles of Incorporation sets forth the legal name of the Company;
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors and management deem the change of the Company’s name appropriate and advisable;
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that Article II of the Company’s Restated Articles of Incorporation be amended by deleting Article II in
its entirety and substituting in place thereof the following Article II, and such action is hereby declared advisable:

 
“Article II

 
The name of the Surviving Corporation is and shall be Westar Energy, Inc.”

 
FURTHER RESOLVED, that the foregoing amendment to Article II of the Company’s Restated Articles of Incorporation be submitted to the

Company’s stockholders for approval and, conditioned upon such approval, the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Company is hereby authorized and
directed to certify the resolution and to file the same with the Secretary of State of the State of Kansas;

 
FURTHER RESOLVED, that the officers of the Company are hereby authorized to take such action as they may deem necessary or appropriate to

carry out the foregoing resolutions.
 

We further certify that thereafter, pursuant to said resolution, and in accordance with the by-laws of the corporation and the laws of the State of Kansas,
pursuant to notice and in accordance with the statutes of the State of Kansas, the shareholders at a meeting duly convened considered the proposed amendment.
 

We further certify that at the annual meeting of shareholders held on June 11, 2002, a majority of common and preferred shares together entitled to vote,
voted in favor of the proposed amendment.
 



 
We further certify that the amendment was duly adopted in accordance with the provision of K.S.A. 17-6602, as amended.

 
We further certify that the capital of said corporation will not be reduced under or by reason of said amendment.

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have hereunto set our hands and affixed the seal of said corporation the 19th day of June, 2002.

 
 

/S/    DAVID C. WITTIG

David C. Wittig
Chairman of the Board, President

and Chief Executive Officer

/S/    LARRY D. IRICK

Larry D. Irick
Vice President and Corporate Secretary

 
 
State of Kansas   |   
   |  SS.
County of Shawnee   |   
 

Be it remembered that before me, a Notary Public in and for the aforesaid county and state, personally appeared David C. Wittig, Chairman of the Board,
President, and Chief Executive Officer, and Larry D. Irick, Vice President and Corporate Secretary, of the corporation named in this document, who are know to
me to be the same persons who executed the foregoing certificate and duly acknowledge that execution of the same this 19th day of June, 2002.
 
 

/S/    PATTI BEASLEY

Notary Public

NOTARY PUBLIC—State of Kansas
Patti Beasley
My Appt. Exp. 11-18-04

 
 
I hereby certify this to be a true and
correct copy of the original on file.
Certified on this date: June 19, 2002
Ron Thornburgh, Secretary of State
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April 10, 2003

 
Mr. James S. Haines, Jr.
Westar Energy, Inc.
818 S. Kansas Avenue, 11th Floor
Topeka, KS 66612
 
Dear Jim:
 

This letter sets forth the terms of the employment agreement between you and Westar Energy, Inc. (the “Company”).
 

1.    Terms of Employment and Duties.    The Company agrees to employ you as its Chief Executive Officer for a period (the “Term”) of four years from
December 6, 2002 (the “Start Date”), unless your employment is sooner terminated by you or the Company. You will devote your full business time and attention
to your duties as Chief Executive Officer, provided you may devote up to two weeks each year to teaching at the University of Texas at El Paso. You will report
directly to the Chairman of the Board of Directors and will comply with all reasonable instructions of the Board of Directors.
 

2.    Base Salary and Benefits.    The Company will provide you the following salary and benefits: (a) an annual base salary of $750,000; (b) a signing
bonus in the amount of $50,000; (c) an award of 250,000 restricted share units and associated dividend equivalents which will vest in one-fourth annual
increments if you are employed by the Company on each applicable anniversary date; (d) participation in all of the Company’s employee benefit plans and
programs from time to time in effect for the benefit of senior executives, provided you will not be eligible to receive bonuses or awards under the Company’s
short term or long term incentive plans (except as provided in subsection (c) above) or to receive an officer allowance; (e) within 60 days after the Start Date, the
Company will make charitable contributions up to $200,000 to qualified charitable organizations designated by you, provided the Company will have the right to
approve the designated organizations, you will represent to the Company that you will not personally benefit from such contributions, and such contributions will
be paid directly to the designated organizations; (f) six weeks of vacation which shall not include up to two weeks each year devoted to teaching at the University
of Texas at El Paso; (g) 180 days of sick leave as of the Start Date; (h) reimbursement of all reasonable expenses incurred in the conduct of the Company’s
business (including costs associated with a membership in a country club if such membership is determined by the Board of Directors to be necessary to the
conduct of the Company’s business and affairs), provided you properly account for expenses in accordance with the Company’s policies; (i) for up to eight
months following the Start Date, reimbursement for the costs of temporary housing, including rent and utilities, for you and your spouse in Topeka, Kansas, and
for the costs of travel for you and your spouse to and from Topeka, Kansas and El Paso, Texas; (j) the Company will purchase your two residences located in El
Paso, Texas at your request at any time prior to the end of the Term for a price equal to your purchase price plus the cost of all improvements and all other costs
and expenses incurred by you in connection with such sale, provided the aggregate price paid by the Company will not exceed $500,000; and (k) reimbursement
of moving expenses related to the relocation of you and your spouse from your residences and offices to Kansas.
 

3.    Payments Upon Termination.    (a) If your employment terminates pursuant to a Qualifying Termination (as defined below), then the Company shall
provide to you: (1) within 30 days following the date of termination, a lump-sum cash amount equal to the sum of your base salary through the date of
termination, your base salary for the remainder of the Term and any accrued vacation pay, in each case to the extent not theretofore paid; (2) each restricted share
unit (and related dividend equivalent) which has not vested prior to the Qualifying Termination will become fully vested; and (3) continuation for you (and your
dependents, if applicable) of the same level of medical and dental benefits for the life of you and your eligible dependents upon substantially the same terms and
conditions (including contributions required by you for such benefits) provided at the beginning of the Term; provided, that, if you cannot continue to participate
in the Company plans providing such benefits or the
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Company shall modify or terminate any such plans, the Company will otherwise provide such benefits on the same after-tax basis as if continued participation
had been permitted.
 

(b) If your employment terminates under any circumstances not qualifying as a Qualifying Termination, then the Company will provide to you: (1) within
ten days following the date of termination, a lump-sum cash amount equal to the sum of your base salary through the date of termination and any accrued
vacation pay, in each case to the extent not theretofore paid; and (2) the benefits described above in Section 3(a)(3).
 

(c) The term “Qualifying Termination” means a termination of your employment prior to the end of the Term (1) by the Company other than for Cause (as
defined below), (2) by you for Good Reason (as defined below), (3) or by you during the 90 day period after a Change in Control (as defined in the Company’s
1996 Long Term Incentive and Share Award Plan). Termination of your employment on account of death, disability or retirement will not be treated as a
Qualifying Termination. The term “Cause” means your conviction of a felony or crime involving moral turpitude, your commission of a willful act of fraud or
dishonesty with respect to the Company, your willful and repeated failure to perform substantially your material duties with the Company, your engaging in
significant activity that is materially harmful to the reputation of the Company, or your breach of your fiduciary responsibilities to the Company or its
shareholders. The term “Good Reason” means any change in your duties or responsibilities (including reporting responsibilities) that is inconsistent in any
material and adverse respect with your current position(s), duties, responsibilities or status with the Company (including any adverse diminution of such duties or
responsibilities), the failure to reappoint or reelect you to the Board of Directors or as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer without your consent, a reduction
by the Company in your base salary, any requirement of the Company that you be required to relocate outside the Company’s retail electric service area in
Kansas, or the taking of any action by the Company which would materially and adversely affect your participation in or reduce your benefits under any
employee benefit plan or welfare benefit plan.
 

4.    Indemnity.    The Company will indemnify you against any and all expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in
settlement actually and reasonably incurred by you in connection with any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding whether civil, criminal,
administrative or investigative (including an action by or in the right of the corporation) to which you are, were or at any time become a party, or are threatened to
be made a party, by reason of the fact that you are, were or at any time become a director, officer, employee or agent of Company, or are, or were serving, or at
any time serve at the request of Company as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise; or
otherwise to the fullest extent as may be provided to you by the Company under the nonexclusivity provisions of Article XVIII of the Restated Articles of
Incorporation and Kansas law.
 

5.    Executive Stock Sales.    During the period of your employment under this letter, except to pay taxes due under applicable federal, state, local or other
law as a result of the vesting of restricted share units granted by the Company to you, you will not sell any shares of the Company’s common stock or preferred
stock owned by you without the prior approval of a majority of the entire Board of Directors (excluding you and any member of the Board of Directors who is an
employee of the Company), which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.
 

6.    Continuing Covenants.    (a)(1) During the Term and for three years following your date of termination, you will not, directly or indirectly, disclose or
use any of the Company’s confidential information, other than in the proper performance of the duties contemplated herein or as required by law or by a court of
competent jurisdiction or other administrative or legislative body; (2) you agree to return all confidential information to the Company at any time upon request of
the Chairman of the Board of Directors and upon the termination of your employment for any reason; (3) should you leave the Company for any reason prior to
December 6, 2006, you will not, directly or indirectly, solicit, interfere with, hire, offer to hire or induce any person who is an employee of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries or affiliates and whose salary is in excess of $100,000 to discontinue his or her relationship with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
affiliates and accept employment by, or enter into a business relationship with, you or any other person or entity; and (4) you agree that you will not make any
oral or written statements or reveal any information to any person, company or agency concerning the business of the Company which is untrue. The Company
agrees that neither it nor any of its subsidiaries and affiliates will make
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any oral or written statements or reveal any information to any person, company or agency concerning you which is untrue.
 

(b) Each of the Company and you acknowledges that a breach of the applicable undertakings in subsection (a) would cause irreparable damage to the other
party, the exact amount of which will be difficult to ascertain, and that remedies at law for any such breach would be inadequate. Each of the Company and you
agrees that, if the other party breaches or attempts or threatens to breach any of the applicable undertakings in subsection (a), then the other party will be entitled
to injunctive relief without posting bond or other security, in addition to any other remedy or remedies available to the other party at law or in equity.
 

7.    Resolution of Disputes.    Any dispute or controversy arising under or in connection with this letter will be settled exclusively by arbitration in Topeka,
Kansas by three arbitrators in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association then in effect. Judgment may be entered on the arbitrators’ award
in any court having jurisdiction. The arbitrators shall determine the allocation of the costs and expenses arising in connection with any arbitration proceeding
pursuant to this Section based on the arbitrators’ assessment of the merits of the positions of the parties. If any dispute shall arise involving your right to benefits
hereunder following a Change in Control, the Company will reimburse you on a current basis for all legal fees and expenses incurred in connection with such
dispute regardless of the result thereof.
 

8.    General.    This letter will inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by your personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors,
heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees. The respective obligations and benefits afforded to the Company and you as provided in Sections 3, 4, 6, 7 and 8 will
survive the termination of this letter. THE INTERPRETATION, CONSTRUCTION AND PERFORMANCE OF THIS LETTER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY
AND CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS WITHOUT REGARD TO THE
PRINCIPLE OF CONFLICTS OF LAWS. THE INVALIDITY OR UNENFORCEABILITY OF ANY PROVISION OF THIS LETTER SHALL NOT AFFECT
THE VALIDITY OR ENFORCEABILITY OF ANY OTHER PROVISION OF THIS LETTER, WHICH OTHER PROVISIONS SHALL REMAIN IN FULL
FORCE AND EFFECT. No provision of this letter may be modified or waived unless such modification or waiver is agreed to in writing and signed by you and
by a duly authorized officer of the Company. No waiver by either party hereto at any time of any breach by the other party hereto of, or compliance with, any
condition or provision of this letter to be performed by such other party shall be deemed a waiver of similar or dissimilar provisions or conditions at the same or
at any prior or subsequent time. Failure by you or the Company to insist upon strict compliance with any provision of this letter or to assert any right you or the
Company may have hereunder shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such provision or right or any other provision or right of this letter. You will not be obligated
to seek other employment or take other action by way of mitigation of the amounts payable to you under any of the provisions of this letter and such amounts
shall not be reduced whether or not you obtain other employment.
 

Please confirm the agreements contained in this letter by signing this letter in the space provided below.
 
 

WESTAR ENERGY, INC.

By:
 

/S/    CHARLES Q. CHANDLER, IV

Name:  Charles Q. Chandler, IV
Title:  Chairman of the Board

 
/S/    JAMES S. HAINES, JR.

James S. Haines, Jr.
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WESTAR ENERGY, INC.
Computations of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and

Computations of Ratio of Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges
and Preferred and Preference Dividend Requirements

(Dollars in Thousands)
 
 

 
  

Year Ended December 31,

 
  

2002

   

2001

   

2000

  

1999

   

1998

Earnings (losses) from continuing operations (a)   $(443,551)  $(123,218)  $196,538  $ (48,798)  $ 58,088
           
Fixed Charges:                        

Interest expense    271,529    269,545    290,879   294,104    226,120
Interest on Corporate-owned Life Insurance Borrowings    52,768    50,408    45,634   36,908    38,236
Interest Applicable to Rentals    26,394    28,908    28,898   34,252    32,796

           
Total Fixed Charges    350,691    348,861    365,411   365,264    297,152

           
Distributed income of equity investees    2,916    2,769    2,686   3,728    3,812
           

Preferred and Preference Dividend Requirements:                        

Preferred and Preference Dividends (e)    399    895    1,129   1,129    3,591
Income Tax Required    264    591    746   746    1,095

           
Total Preferred and Preference Dividend Requirements    663    1,486    1,875   1,875    4,686

           

Total Fixed Charges and Preferred and Preference Dividend Requirements    351,354    350,347    367,286   367,139    301,838
           
Earnings (losses) (b)   $ (89,944)  $ 228,412   $564,635  $320,194   $359,052
           
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges    (c)     (c)     1.55   (c)     1.21
Ratio of Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred and Preference Dividend

Requirements    (d)     (d)     1.54   (d)     1.19
 
(a)  Earnings (losses) from continuing operations consists of earnings (losses) before income taxes adjusted for minority interest and undistributed earnings

from equity investees.
 (b)  Earnings (losses) are deemed to consist of earnings (losses) from continuing operations, fixed charges and distributed income of equity investees. Fixed

charges consist of all interest on indebtedness, amortization of debt discount and expense, and the portion of rental expense which represents an interest
factor.

 (c)  The company’s earnings (losses) were deficient to cover fixed charges by $440.6 million, $120.4 million and $45.1 million at December 31, 2002, 2001
and 1999, respectively.

 (d)  The company’s earnings (losses) were deficient to cover fixed charges and preferred and preference dividend requirements by $441.3 million, $121.9
million and $46.9 million at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 1999, respectively.

 (e)  Preferred and preference dividend requirements consist of an amount equal to the pre-tax earnings which would be required to meet dividend requirements
on preferred and preference stock.



 
Exhibit 21

 
 

WESTAR ENERGY, INC.
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

 
 
Subsidiary  

  

State of Incorporation      

  

Date Incorporated      

1)     Kansas Gas and Electric Company   Kansas   October 9, 1990
2)     Westar Industries, Inc.   Kansas   October 8, 1990
3)     Protection One, Inc.   Delaware   June 21, 1991
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ CONSENT
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-44256, 333-35872, 333-59673, 33-49467, 33-49553, 333-02023,33-50069, 333-
26115, and 33-62375 of Westar Energy, Inc. on Form S-3; Nos. 333-02711, 333-56369, and 333-91720 of Westar Energy, Inc. on Form S-4; Nos. 333-93355,
333-70891, 33-57435, 333-13229, 333-06887, 333-20393, 333-20413 and
333-75395 of Westar Energy, Inc. on Form S-8; and No. 33-50075 of Kansas Gas and Electric Company on Form S-3 of our report dated April XX, 2003, which
report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph relating to the following changes in accounting principle: the adoption of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Accounting for Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, and Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
No. 144, Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets in 2002; the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133,
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, in 2001; and the adoption of Staff Accounting Bulletin 101, Revenue Recognition, in 2000,
appearing in this annual report on Form 10-K of Westar Energy, Inc.
 
 
DELOITTE & TOUCHE, LLP
 
 
Kansas City, Missouri
April 11, 2003
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THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

 

Before Commissioners:   John Wine, Chair
   Cynthia L. Claus
   Brian J. Moline
 
   

}
   

In the Matter of the Investigation of Actions of Western      

Resources, Inc. to Separate its Jurisdictional Electric     Docket No. 01-WSRE-949-GIE
Public Utility Business from its Unregulated Businesses.      
 
 No. 65

ORDER CONDITIONALLY APPROVING
PARTIAL STIPULATION

 
For the reasons discussed below, the Commission finds that it has jurisdiction over the Partial Stipulation and Agreement (Partial Stipulation) filed

February 25, 2003, and that conditional approval of the Partial Stipulation, as provided below, is reasonable and in the public interest.
 
 

Overview
 

1. On February 25, 2003, Commission Staff (Staff), Westar Energy and its affiliates Protection One, Inc. (Protection One) and Westar Industries, Inc.
(Westar Industries), and MBIA Insurance Corporation (MBIA) (collectively referred to as the Movants) filed a Joint Motion for Expedited Approval of Partial
Stipulation. The Movants seek permission to make or engage in certain cash payments, transactions, and agreements that would otherwise conflict with the terms
and conditions of the Interim Standstill Protections ordered in Orders 51 and 55. By Order 64 dated March 5, 2003, the Commission set the Partial Stipulation for
hearing on the date requested by the Parties in order to take evidence on whether waiver of the Interim Standstill Protections with respect to the proposed cash
transfers is reasonable and in the public interest.
 

2. On March 6, 2003, an evidentiary hearing on the Partial Stipulation submitted by Movants was held. The following appearances were entered: Ms. Susan
B. Cunningham, General Counsel, on behalf of Staff and the public generally; Messrs. Martin J. Bregman, Executive Director,



 
Law, and Larry M. Cowger, Director, Law, on behalf of Westar Energy; Ms. Teresa James, Messrs. Eric Griffin and Mitchell Hertz on behalf of Protection One,
Inc.; Mr. David Springe, Consumer Counsel, on behalf of Citizens’ Utility Ratepayer Board (CURB); Mr. James P. Zakoura on behalf of Kansas Industrial
Consumers (KIC); Ms. Sarah Loquist on behalf of Unified School District No. 259; and Ms. Glenda Cafer on behalf of MBIA.
 

3. According to the Partial Stipulation, Westar Energy desires to make cash payments to Protection One as follows:
 

 
a.)  Cash payment of approximately $20 million, representing the allocation of income tax savings under the Tax Sharing Agreement attributable

to Protection One’s deferred income tax assets and current taxable losses;
 

 
b.)  Cash payment of approximately $1.0 million, representing the reimbursement due Protection One for information technology services

provided by Protection One Data Services, Inc. (PODS), pursuant to a management contract terminated as a result of a Commission
investigation into whether the contract met the public interest standard required under Kansas law; and

 

 
c.)  Cash payment of approximately $3.4 million from Westar Energy to Protection One, representing the reimbursement due Protection One for

aviation services charged to Westar Energy and the cost to repurchase AV One, Inc., formerly known as Westar Aviation, Inc., from Protection
One.

 
4. In addition, Westar Energy desires to make additional working capital available to Protection One through the Senior Credit Facility between Westar

Industries and Protection One that, under its present terms, expires on January 5, 2004. Westar Energy and Protection One agree to revise the Senior Credit
Facility to reduce the maximum borrowing authority from $280 million to $228.4 million while extending the maturity of the Credit Facility from January 5,
2004, to January 5, 2005. Westar Energy seeks permission to refund Protection One an amount to reflect the pro rata fees paid to Westar Industries by Protection
One for increase in maximum borrowing authority under the Credit Facility, offset by the normal fees charged for extending the maturity date of a credit facility.
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Discussion

 
5. Westar Energy, and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Kansas Gas and Electric Company (KG&E), doing business as Westar Energy, are certificated electric

public utilities that provide retail electric service in the state of Kansas. As public utilities, the Commission has comprehensive regulatory authority to establish
rules governing affiliate relations and accounting practices between and among a public utility and its nonutility businesses. K.S.A. 66-101 et seq. The
Commission finds that these statutory provisions empower the Commission to inquire into the terms, conditions, and operation of the Partial Stipulation in order
to determine whether approval is in the public interest and to attach conditions necessary to ensure that the public interest is protected from the harmful affiliate
relations and the accounting practices, previously discussed and found in the Commission’s prior orders.
 

6. Having discussed and found in Orders 51 and 55, that Westar Energy’s customers, who had no stake in the profits of Westar Energy’s nonutility
businesses, should not bear the losses or risk of losses from, or debt associated with, those nonutility businesses, the Commission imposed Interim Standstill
Protections. These orders and protections are necessary to protect the public from the past conduct of Westar Energy and its corporate predecessors. The Interim
Standstill Protections prohibit the unjust enrichment of Westar Energy’s unregulated businesses at the expense of Westar Energy’s utility operations and
ratepayers and the inappropriate shifting of risks and losses associated with the unregulated businesses to the utility operations and ratepayers. The Interim
Standstill Protections prevent affiliate accounting practices and relations that are harmful to Westar Energy’s public utility operations, as Westar Energy executes
the Commission’s order to reduce its excessive level of debt for the utility operations.
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7. According to Staff’s analysis of the Partial Stipulation, the cash transfers through the Tax Sharing Agreement and Senior Credit Facility will maintain the

market value of Protection One, and a sale of Protection One stock, under such circumstances, will increase the potential proceeds that can be used to reduce
Westar Energy debt. Furthermore, according to Staff’s analysis, the incremental increase in sale proceeds is likely to be greater than the incremental cost to
Westar Energy of the cash transfers proposed under the Partial Stipulation. In addition, Staff’s analysis shows that the Partial Stipulation unwinds, in part, the
harmful affiliate relations with Protection One that have transferred value from Westar Energy to that affiliate.
 

8. Under these specific circumstances, the Commission finds that the requested waiver, as conditioned below, meets the standard for granting such waivers
or exemptions. The conditions imposed by this order are necessary to minimize the risk associated with Westar Energy’s decision to assist its nonutility businesses
in the manner described in the Partial Stipulation and to assure to the extent feasible that such risk falls not on the utility customer but on the owners, since the
owners approved the investments in the nonutility businesses, and/or hired the management and elected the Board who approved the investments. The risk here is
that the proposed cash transfers from Westar Energy to Protection One will fail to achieve the stated goal of making Protection One more attractive to purchasers.
In that instance, Westar Energy would have reduced the cash it had available for debt reduction, but would not have achieved an increase in Protection One’s
market value. The Commission’s approval herein assumes that Westar Energy’s ability to carry out its debt-reduction obligation under Orders 51 and 55 will not
be diminished by the proposed cash transfers. If the cash transfers are not successful in their goal of facilitating the sale of Protection One, the Commission will
have to consider other measures, including dividend reduction, to assure that the necessary debt reduction takes place.
 

4



 
9. Accordingly, the Commission hereby approves the Partial Stipulation, subject to the following conditions:

 
A. Senior Credit Facility and Tax Sharing Agreement

 
10. With respect to paragraph 16 of the Partial Stipulation, Westar Energy shall not, nor shall Westar Energy cause or permit any affiliate to, exceed the

maximum borrowing authority under the Credit Facility of $228.4 million. Westar Energy shall not, nor shall Westar Energy cause or permit any affiliate to,
extend or provide capital through the Credit Facility after Protection One is sold. Any provision of capital above the $228.4 million cap provided in the revised
Senior Credit Facility will violate this order and be subject to sanction and enforcement by the Commission.
 

11. With respect to paragraph 17 of the Partial Stipulation, the Credit Facility between Westar Industries and Protection One must be paid off upon the sale
of all or a majority of Protection One common stock held by Westar Energy and Westar Industries. Westar Energy must be repaid in full for the capital provided
Protection One through the Senior Credit Facility with Westar Industries. Thus, Westar Energy must commit that in any sale of Protection One, a condition of the
sale will be the purchaser’s full discharge of Protection One’s obligations under the Senior Credit Facility. Further, Westar Energy must commit that it will direct
Westar Industries to transfer to Westar Energy all funds received from Protection One as a result of the repayment of the Senior Credit Facility. Westar Energy
shall make these commitments in paragraphs 10 and 11 above in a letter to be filed with the Commission within 10 days of this order.
 

12. With respect to paragraph 18 of the Partial Stipulation, any cash transfers from Westar Energy to Westar Industries shall be recorded as a loan payable
to Westar Energy. As
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explained in Order 55 at paragraph 79, Westar Energy must implement an accounting practice in which Westar Industries makes monthly interest payments to
Westar Energy in cash. The Commission directed these requirements to correct the misallocation of debt and assets within the Westar Energy corporate family
and protect the public from further accounting abuses previously discussed and found in the Commission’s prior orders.
 

13. With respect to paragraph 14 of the Partial Stipulation, at the March 6, 2003 hearing, Westar Energy’s witness Michael Stadler testified that if the
alternative minimum tax applied to Westar Energy, the amount due from Westar Energy to Protection One under the Tax Sharing Agreement would be
approximately $20 million; and that if the alternative minimum tax did not apply, the amount due would be approximately $35 million. With the instant order, the
Commission authorizes Westar Energy to make the lower payment. Should the higher payment be possible due to the inapplicability of the alternative minimum
tax, Westar Energy shall notify the Commission before making such payment.
 

B. Protection One Data Services, Inc. and AV One, Inc.
 14. With respect to paragraph 19 of the Partial Stipulation, Protection One must release any and all claims under the PODS management agreement with
Westar Energy related to information technology services. Further, Protection One must state in a letter to Westar Energy, which Westar Energy shall file with the
Commission within 10 days of this order, that the reimbursement specified in the Partial Stipulation shall extinguish and satisfy all current balances outstanding
regarding this management agreement. Notice and explanation of the payments related to Protection One Data Services, Inc., must be filed with the Commission
and served on all parties of record.
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15. With respect to paragraph 20 of the Partial Stipulation, Protection One must release any and all claims under its aviation services agreement with

Westar Energy. Further, Protection One must state in a letter to Westar Energy, which Westar Energy shall file with the Commission within 10 days of this order,
that the payment specified in the Partial Stipulation extinguishes and satisfies all current balances outstanding regarding aviation services charged to Westar
Energy. Notice and explanation of the payments regarding AV One, Inc., must be filed with the Commission and served on all parties of record.
 

16. With respect to paragraph 21 of the Partial Stipulation, Protection One must release in a letter to Westar Energy, which Westar Energy shall file with the
Commission within 10 days of this order, any and all claims under the Management Services Agreement with Westar Energy.
 

C. Sale of Protection One Stock or Assets
 

17. Westar Energy and Protection One must seek approval before any asset sale having a value of $100,000 or more is consummated. Further, the
provisions provided in paragraphs 25 through 27 of the Partial Stipulation that are applicable to the sale of Protection One stock shall be equally applicable if
Protection One sells assets. Moreover, with respect specifically to paragraph 25, the “format” shall be the format required by the Commission after receiving
comments from the company, Staff and the intervening parties, not the format “to be agreed upon with the Commission Staff,…” Once the format is approved,
these status reports shall be filed with the Commission and served on the parties of record.
 

18. Westar Energy and Westar Industries shall provide the Commission with monthly reports on the efforts made to sell Protection One and will seek
Commission approval before selling Protection One. All reports must be served upon the parties of record.
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D. Conditions Relating to Rate Treatment

 
19. The Westar Energy-PODS transaction, referenced in paragraphs 3 and 14 above, was originally advocated to the Commission on the grounds that it

would reduce costs for Westar Energy. Consequently, in the August 16, 2002 Order, entered in Docket No. 03-KG&E-103-ACT, the Commission required Westar
Energy to accrue savings for evaluation in a future rate case. Concern about the potential harm from affiliate transactions has been at the heart of this long
proceeding. The Commission therefore conditions its approval of the Partial Stipulation on a commitment by Westar Energy not to request retail rate recovery of
any payment it has made to its affiliate PODS except to the extent such payment is offset by the demonstrated incremental cost reductions or savings due
exclusively because of its relationship with PODS.
 

20. For similar reasons, the Commission conditions its approval here on Westar Energy’s commitment not to request retail rate recovery of any costs
associated with the proposed cash transfer to Protection One for the acquisition of AV One, Inc. and for related aviation charges except to the extent such
payments is offset by demonstrated incremental cost reductions or savings due exclusively because of its relationship with AV One, Inc.
 

21. The authorization of any payment or transfer pursuant to the Partial Stipulation and this Order shall not be construed as a determination regarding the
reasonableness or prudency of any such payment or transfer, including the reasonableness or prudency of any service underlying such payment or transfer.
 

E. Deadlines
 

22. The Commission rejects paragraph 29 of the Partial Stipulation seeking to eliminate the deadline for the sale of Protection One. In Order 60, the
Commission stayed its August 1, 2003 deadline; however, that deadline was applicable to Westar Energy’s corporate restructuring, not, in
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particular, for the sale of Protection One. The Commission will be reviewing Westar Energy’s financial planning report submitted on February 6, 2003, and
alternatives thereto as well as any proposed deadlines. That review process will culminate in new orders relating to deadlines. The Commission will not address
deadlines piecemeal.
 

23. The issue is not Westar Energy’s “good faith,” as suggested by the Partial Stipulation; the issue is having assurance that the utility will give priority to
its public service obligations over its desire to maximize the value of nonutility businesses for the benefit of its shareholders. These interests overlap, but they are
not necessarily consistent. As the Commission has explained before in Order 55 at paragraphs 11-20, deadlines are necessary to assure that the public interest has
priority.
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, BY THE COMMISSION CONSIDERED AND ORDERED THAT:
 

A. Westar Energy is authorized to make, or cause to be made, the cash payments and cash transfers as provided in the Partial Stipulation and as
conditionally approved herein.
 

B. Westar Energy, Westar Industries and Protection One shall file a letter no later than 10 days following this order, indicating acceptance of these
conditions. Upon the filing of that letter, Protection One’s request for reconsideration will be deemed withdrawn.
 

C. This Order is effective upon service by facsimile transmission.
 

D. Any party may file a petition for reconsideration of this Order within fifteen days of the date this order is served. If this Order is served by mail, service
is complete upon mailing, and three days may be added to the above time frame.
 

E. The Commission retains jurisdiction over the subject matter of this investigation and the parties for the purpose of entering such further order or orders
as it may deem necessary and proper.
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BY THE COMMISSION IT IS SO ORDERED.
 
 
Wine, Chr.; Claus, Comm.; Moline, Comm.
 
   

 
  

 

Dated:          

         

         

 
  

 
  

 
  

Susan K. Duffy
Executive Director
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Exhibit 99(g)

 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Annual Report of Westar Energy, Inc. (the Company) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 (the Report), which this

certification accompanies, James S. Haines, Jr., in my capacity as Director, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Mark A. Ruelle, in my
capacity as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify that the Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or
Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d)) and that information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 
Date:

 

April 11, 2003
 

 
 

By:
 

/S/    JAMES S. HAINES, JR.

        
James S. Haines, Jr.,

Director, President and Chief Executive Officer

Date:
 

April 11, 2003
 

 
 

By:
 

/S/    MARK A. RUELLE

        
Mark A. Ruelle,

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
 

The forgoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed filed by the
Company as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document for purposes of Section 18 or any other provision of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.


